
Chester County Council Meeting 

1 | P a g e  
 

R. Carlisle Roddey Government Building 
1476 J A Cochran Bypass | Chester, SC 29706 

Monday, September 15, 2025 | 6:00 PM 

AGENDA 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a) September 2, 2025 Council Meeting Minutes 

 

4. CITIZEN’S COMMENTS 

 
5. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

a) Ordinance 2025-17 Authorizing the execution and delivery of a first amendment to fee-in-lieu 

of tax and incentive agreement, by and among Chester County, South Carolina (“county”), IKO 

Glass Fiber Inc. (“IKO Glass”), and IKO Mat Tech Inc. (“IKO Tech”), previously identified as 
Project Phoenix22, acting for themselves, one or more affiliates and/or other project sponsors 

(collectively, “company”), pursuant to which the company and the county agree to certain 

amended incentives and amended performance measures; and providing for other related 
matters. 
 

b) Ordinance 2025-18 To repeal the county’s land development regulations, enacted December 

11, 2002, as subsequently amended, and replace the same by enacting Chapter 2: Subdivision 

and Land Development Regulations, of the County’s Unified Development Ordinance; and to 
provide for other related matters. 

 

c) Ordinance 2025-19 Amending Ordinance No. 2018-11, as amended and clarified by Ordinance 
No. 2022-13, as further amended by Ordinance No. 2023-15, to provide for the allocation of fee 

in lieu of tax revenues for some property located in the county; and providing for other related 

matters. 

 
6. ORDINANCES | RESOLUTIONS | PROCLAMATIONS 

 

a) 1st Reading of Ordinance 2025-21 – Providing for an amendment to Ordinance No. 2025-08, 
which amended Ordinance No. 2021-18, which provided for the use of excess funding for 

“projects” and/or “capital projects” as provided for under Ordinance No. 2019-5; and 

providing for other related matters. 
 



 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
 

b) 3rd Reading of Ordinance 2025-16  

Authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax and special source revenue credit 
agreement by and between Chester County and Chester Asphalt Terminal LLC; providing for a 

fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes incentive; providing for a special source revenue credit; creating 

or modifying a joint county industrial and business park agreement between Chester County 
and York County so as to establish or enlarge the park; and other related matters. 

 

c) 3rd Reading of Ordinance 2025-17 

Authorizing the execution and delivery of a first amendment to fee-in-lieu of tax and incentive 
agreement, by and among Chester County, South Carolina (“county”), IKO Glass Fiber Inc. 

(“IKO Glass”), and IKO Mat Tech Inc. (“IKO Tech”), previously identified as Project Phoenix22, 

acting for themselves, one or more affiliates and/or other project sponsors (collectively, 
“company”), pursuant to which the company and the county agree to certain amended 

incentives and amended performance measures; and providing for other related matters. 

 
d) 3rd Reading of Ordinance 2025-18 

To repeal the county’s land development regulations, enacted December 11, 2002, as 

subsequently amended, and replace the same by enacting Chapter 2: Subdivision and Land 

Development Regulations, of the County’s Unified Development Ordinance; and to provide for 
other related matters. 

 

e) 3rd Reading of Ordinance 2025-19 
Amending Ordinance No. 2018-11, as amended and clarified by Ordinance No. 2022-13, as 

further amended by Ordinance No. 2023-15, to provide for the allocation of fee in lieu of tax 

revenues for some property located in the county; and providing for other related matters. 
 

f) Resolution 2025-25 – Authorizing the transfer of certain personal property; and providing for 

other related matters. 

 
7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

 

8. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

a) 2nd Reading of Ordinance 2025-20 

Authorizing the conveyance of easement rights to Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC, for the purpose of 
utility infrastructure construction and maintenance at property located at or about the Chester 

County Courthouse, designated as TMS #201-11-01-007-000; and providing for other related 

matters. 
  



 

3 | P a g e  
 

 
 

b) 3rd Reading of CCTA25-07 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-111 RG-1 – Multi-Family Residential Uses 
Add Text: 

RG-1   PERMITTED USES NAICS 

CODE 

NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

PARKING SPACES 

REQUIRED 

1. Urban Conservation Subdivision   

 

814 

111 

112 

Private households 

(except mobile or 

manufactured homes) 

in the setting of an 

urban conservation 

subdivision, along 

with associated 

permitted uses 

As required in 

subdivision code 

 

 

c) 3rd Reading of CCTA25-08 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 
Chapter 4 § 4-112 RG-1 – Multi-Family Residential District Regulations 

Add Text: 

The following regulations apply to all uses in RG-1 districts: 
 
Minimum residential lot area:  

 
Single family: With public water and sewer: 10,000 square feet. 

With public water; individual sewer: ½ acre as directed by DHEC. 

With individual water and sewer: 1 acre as directed by DHEC. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

6,500 square feet. 

Multi-family: 12,000 square feet for first dwelling unit; 

3,000 square feet for second dwelling unit; thereafter 2,500 square 

feet for each additional dwelling unit. 

 

Minimum lot width at building 

line: 

 

With public water and sewer: 70 feet. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

60 feet. 

Other: 130 feet. 
 
Minimum side yard: 

 
Principal structure - 15 feet from interior side lot line 

                                 10 feet from interior side lot line in an Urban   

                                 Conservation Subdivision. 

Accessory structure - 6 feet from interior side lot line. 

 

  



 

4 | P a g e  
 

 

d) 3rd Reading of CCTA25-09 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendment 

Chapter 4 § 4-113 RG-2 - General Residential District Uses. 

Add Text: 
 

RG-2   PERMITTED USES 

 

NAICS 

CODE 

 

NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

 

PARKING SPACES 

REQUIRED 

 
1. Urban Conservation Subdivision   

 

 
814 

111 

112 

 
Private households 

(except mobile or 

manufactured homes) 

in the setting of an 

urban conservation 

subdivision, along with 

associated permitted 

uses 

 
As required in 

subdivision code 

 

e) 3rd Reading of CCTA25-10 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-114 RG-2 - General Residential District Uses. 
Add Text: 
 
Minimum residential lot area:  

 
Single family: With public water and sewer: 10,000 square feet. 

With public water; individual sewer: ½ acre as directed by DHEC. 

With individual water and sewer: 1 acre as directed by DHEC. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

6,500 square feet. 

Multi-family: 12,000 square feet for first dwelling unit; 

3,000 square feet for second dwelling unit; thereafter 2,500 square 

feet for each additional dwelling unit. 

Manufactured home parks: eight (8) acres. 
 

Minimum lot width at building 

line: 

 

With public water and sewer: 70 feet. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

60 feet. 

Other: 130 feet. 
 

Minimum side yard: 

 

Principal structure - 15 feet from interior side lot line 

                                 10 feet from interior side lot line in an Urban   

                                 Conservation Subdivision. 

Accessory structure - 6 feet from interior side lot line. 

 

  



 

5 | P a g e  
 

 

f) 3rd Reading of CCTA25-11 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-115 LC – Limited Commercial District Uses. 
Add Text: 
 

LC - PERMITTED USES 
 
NAICS 

CODE 

 
NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

 
PARKING 

SPACES 

REQUIRED 
 
2. Urban Conservation Subdivision   

 

 
814 

111 

112 

 
Private households (except 

mobile or manufactured 

homes) in the setting of an 

urban conservation 

subdivision, along with 

associated permitted uses 

 

As required in 

subdivision 

code 

 

g) 3rd Reading of CCTA25-12 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-116 LC – Limited Commercial District Uses. 

Add Text: 
The following regulations apply to all uses in LC districts: 

 

h) 3rd Reading of CCTA25-13 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-103 R-2 – Rural Two District Uses. 
Add Text: 

 

Minimum residential lot 

area: 

Single family: With public water and sewer: 10,000 square feet. 

With public water; individual sewer: ½ acre or as directed by DHEC. 

With individual water and sewer: 1 acre or as directed by DHEC. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

6,500 square feet. 

Multi-family: 1 acre. 

Minimum lot width at 

building line: 

With public water and sewer: 70 feet. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision:  

60 feet. 

Other: 130 feet. 

 
   R-2 CONDITIONAL USES 
[approved by Zoning Administrator if all conditions are met] 

 

NAICS 

CODE 

 
NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

 
PARKING 

SPACES 

REQUIRED 
 
1. Rural Conservation Subdivision, 

     provided all following conditions are met: 

a. The total site plan has at least twenty (20) 

gross acres and classifies as a medium, 

major, or mega subdivision. 

b. The site plan is less than one hundred 

(100) homes. 

c. The entrance to the subdivision is half 

(0.5) a mile or less, in a direct line, from a 

state or federal highway. 

 
814 

111 

112 

113 

Private households in 

the setting of a rural 

conservation 

subdivision, along 

with associated 

permitted uses 

 

As required in 

subdivision 

code 



 

6 | P a g e  
 

 
i) 3rd Reading of CCTA25-14 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-103 R-2 – Rural Two District Uses. 

Add Text: 
 
 

 

j) 3rd Reading of CCTA25-15 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 
Chapter 4 § 4-104 R-2 – Rural Two District Regulations. 

Add Text: 

The following regulations apply to all uses in R-2 districts. 
 
Minimum lot area: 

  

 
Residential: 2 acres 

Rural Conservation Subdivision: 1 acre. 

Other uses: None, or as specified in conditions 

 

k) 2nd Reading of CCMA25-18 CDP Great Falls LLC requests a portion of Tax Map # 161-01-00-059-
000 (1.3 acres) located off Ridgeway Road, Great Falls, SC 29055 from Multi-family Residential 

District (RG-1) to General Commercial District (GC). The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to 

approve. 

 
l) 2nd Reading of CCMA25-19 ICB America, LP, a Georgia Limited Partnership requests Tax Map # 

080-04-05-026-000 (1.4 acres) located at 527 Great Falls Highway, Chester, SC 29706 from 

General Commercial District (GC) to Restricted Industrial District (ID-1). The Planning 
Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 

 

m) 2nd Reading of CCMA25-20 ICB America, LP, a Georgia Limited Partnership requests Tax Map # 
080-04-05-027-000 (0.102 +/- acres) located next to 527 Great Falls Highway, Chester, SC 29706 

from General Commercial District (GC) to Restricted Industrial District (ID-1). The Planning 

Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 

 

 
   R-2   SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS 
   [approved by Board of Zoning Appeals after hearing] 

 
NAICS 

CODE 

 
NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

 
PARKING 

SPACES 

REQUIRED 
 
1. Rural Conservation Subdivision, 

     provided all following conditions are met: 

a. The total site plan has at least twenty (20) gross 

acres and classifies as a medium, major, or mega 

subdivision. 

b. The site plan consists of less than one hundred 

(100) homes or is within one (1) mile of a state or 

federal highway, unless an exceptional plan is 

presented for agricultural or environmental 

conservation. 

c. Any necessary conditions are imposed for safety, 

traffic, and impact on the district. 

d. The use is compatible with the district. 

 
814 

111 

112 

113 

Private households 

in the setting of a 

rural conservation 

subdivision, along 

with associated 

permitted uses 

 

As required 

in 

subdivision 

code 



 

7 | P a g e  
 

    
 
Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. Housing Institute of SC, 
WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board at the Chester County Government Building 
twenty-four hours prior to the meeting.  

9. OLD BUSINESS 
 

a) From Chester County Transportation Meeting: 

1. Reimbursement approval for Road and Sign Materials to the Chester County Roads 
Department in the amount of $24,960.15 

2. Grant match funding approval in the amount of $50,000 for TAP Grant 

3. Abandonment of Coldstream Circle repairs 
4. Recommendation of roads to be paved for 2026 using annual C-Funds 

 

10. NEW BUSINESS 

 

a) Animal Control Department Update 

Jessica Roof, Director 

 
b) Consideration of approval of multi-year contract with Flock Safety (Flock Group, Inc.)  

 

c) Discussion concerning County Council created Fire Districts 
Vice Chair Erin Mosley, Council Member At-Large 

 

11. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

 
12. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

a) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 
services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Project P2565 

 
b) Legal advice/employment matters related to county council created fire districts 

 

13. ACTIONS FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
a) Action taken regarding Project P2565 

 

b) Action taken regarding county council created fire districts 
 

14.  COUNCIL COMMENTS  
 

15. ADJOURN 
  

Guidelines for Addressing Council 
Citizens Comments: 
Each citizen will be limited to three minutes.  

Public Hearings:  
Each speaker will be limited to three minutes.  

When introduced:  
Approach the podium, state your name and address.  
Speak loudly and clearly, making sure that the microphone is not obstructed.  
Do not address the audience – direct all comments to Council.  
Do not approach the Council table unless directed.  

 Anyone addressing Council will be called out of order if you:  
Use profanity.  
Stray from the subject.  
Make comments personally attacking an individual member of Council.  



Chester County Council Meeting 

1 | P a g e  
 

R. Carlisle Roddey Government Building 
1476 J A Cochran Bypass | Chester, SC 29706 

Tuesday, September 2, 2025 | 6:00 PM 

MINUTES 
Present: Chairman Pete Wilson, Vice Chair Erin Mosley (7:00pm arrival), Councilman Corey Guy, Councilman 
Bobby Raines, Councilman John Agee, County Administrator Brian Hester, Attorney Michael Kozlarek, Clerk to 
Council Kristie Donaldson 
Absent: Councilman William Killian 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Wilson called the meeting to order at 6:02pm and declared a quorum of council present. 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 
The allegiance was recited and invocation given by Councilman Guy. 
Chairman Wilson stated that item 8b would need to be stricken from the agenda. Councilman Guy motioned to 

strike item 8b-3rd reading of Ordinance 2025-16, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 4-0 to strike item 8b. 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a) August 18, 2025 Council Meeting Minutes 
Councilman Guy motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 4-0 to approve. 

4. CITIZEN’S COMMENTS 
None 

5. PUBLIC HEARING 

Chairman Wilson opened the public hearing and stated no speakers signed in to speak. The public hearing was 

closed. 

a) Ordinance 2025-14 The addition of definitions to Chapter 22 – Article I- In General, Section 22-
1; amending language of Article II- Nuisance Abatement, Section 22-19 to provide for 

additional conditions that result in a Public Nuisance; and to provide for other related 

matters. 
 

b) Ordinance 2025-15 An ordinance approving and ratifying an amended and restated fee in lieu 

of tax and incentive agreement by and between Chester County, South Carolina, and BR 

Diversified Industrial Portfolio 6, DST, a Delaware Statutory Trust; and providing for other 
related matters. 

 

c) Ordinance 2025-16 Authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax and special 
source revenue credit agreement by and between Chester County and Chester Asphalt 

Terminal LLC; providing for a fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes incentive; providing for a special 

source revenue credit; creating or modifying a joint county industrial and business park 
agreement between Chester County and York County so as to establish or enlarge the park; 

and other related matters. 
 

6. ORDINANCES | RESOLUTIONS | PROCLAMATIONS 

 



 

2 | P a g e  
 

a) 1st Reading of Ordinance 2025-20 
Authorizing the conveyance of easement rights to Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC, for the purpose 

of utility infrastructure construction and maintenance at property located at or about the 

Chester County Courthouse, designated as TMS #201-11-01-007-000; and providing for other 
related matters. 
Planning and Development Director Jeremy Ward explained to council that Duke Energy is pursuing an 

easement to lay underground power to the courthouse area coming from McAliley Street. He stated they 

have also secured an easement through SC Department of Transportation for the portion of the project 
along McAliley Street and that the portion in the courthouse property would include underground power 
lines, a transformer, and a light pole. Senior Land Representative Felix Lopez with Duke Energy also 

addressed council stating that the aerial powerlines are close to the courthouse building and their goal is 
to replace all conductors, transformers, and bury the section of line that is right along the courthouse for 

aesthetics and safety. 
Councilman Guy motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 4-0 to approve. 

b) 2nd Reading of Ordinance 2025-19 

Amending Ordinance No. 2018-11, as amended and clarified by Ordinance No. 2022-13, as 

further amended by Ordinance No. 2023-15, to provide for the allocation of fee in lieu of tax 
revenues for some property located in the county; and providing for other related matters. 
Councilman John Agee expressed concerns about the fee in lieu of taxes (FILOT) agreements, particularly 
their impact on fire departments and school districts. He noted that the language in the agreements is 

ambiguous ("may give you money" rather than "will give you money") and raised concerns about the 
rush to approve the ordinance. He cited a report indicating that South Carolina has lost significant 
revenue for schools due to FILOT agreements and mentioned that Chester County is among the top in the 

state for such losses. He has retained legal counsel to further review the matter and intends to share 

findings with the public. 

Administrator Hester responded by explaining the rationale for FILOT agreements, emphasizing that such 

incentives are necessary to attract industry to the county. He stated that without these incentives, 

industries would not come, and the county, schools, and fire departments would receive no additional 
revenue. He clarified that the schools continue to receive 15% of the operating fund from these 

agreements, and that the county relies on these industries to keep property tax rates stable. 
Councilman Guy and others sought clarification on whether FILOT agreements actually take money away 

from the school district. Administrator Hester reiterated that the 15% allocation to schools has not 

changed and that the only adjustment was to fund full-time firefighters, which came from the school 

district's debt millage due to unused capacity. Councilman Raines clarified that the ordinance is about 
how the county allocates FILOT revenues, not about the structure of FILOT itself, and that the process is 
already in place. There was also discussion about the source of a report cited by Councilman Agee, with 
Chairman Wilson questioning its credibility but encouraging others to read it for themselves. 

Councilman Raines motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 3-1 to approve. Councilman 

Agee opposed. 

c) Resolution 2025-20  
Providing approval for a $100,300 local match for a $750,000 Community Development Block 

Grant for firefighting equipment to be used as part of the Great Falls Fire Department; and 

providing for other related matters. 
Emergency Services Director Kell Benson explained that the CDBG (Community Development Block 
Grant) for the Great Falls Fire Department is specifically for purchasing a fire truck. The grant requires 
that the area served must be low to moderate income (LMI), with at least 51% of residents qualifying. To 
meet this requirement, the county had to survey a large number of addresses—116 in total, though only 

66 were initially provided—to gather the necessary information. The grant provides two years to spend 



 

3 | P a g e  
 

the funds, and the county is requesting a 10% local match, which amounts to $100,300. This includes 
$25,000 for the COG (Council of Governments) and a $300 environmental fee. Director Benson emphasized 

that Great Falls was chosen for the fire truck because it met the LMI requirements and, importantly, 

because acquiring the new service truck would help improve the area’s ISO (Insurance Services Office) 
score. He stated that the last ISO inspection for Great Falls was 67.86, and reaching 70 points would move 
them to an ISO 3 rating and that the new truck is worth four points, making it a key factor in achieving 
this goal. 
Councilman Raines motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 4-0 to approve. 

d) Resolution 2025-21 

Providing approval for a $208,786 local match for a $300,000 Community Development Block 

Grant for an ambulance and related equipment to be used as part of the West Chester EMS 
service area; and providing for other related matters. 
Director Benson explained that the CDBG (Community Development Block Grant) for the West Chester 

ambulance is part of a program called the "locals priority program," which is designed to support new 

and expanded public services that address health and safety needs. The grant is for $300,000, with a 

required local match of $208,786. The county has two years to spend the funds. He stated that this grant 

will help fund a new ambulance and related equipment for the West Chester EMS service area, 

specifically supporting the addition of EMS 5 to West Chester, which is a new service. Director Benson 

noted that while the grant covers a significant portion of the costs, the county will still be $78,000 short 

for the ambulance, and additional funds will be needed for equipment such as the Stryker system. 

However, providing this local match and additional capital will strengthen the county’s application and 

chances of receiving the grant. Director Benson also mentioned that the county worked closely with the 

public works director, the COG, and a representative from the Department of Commerce to review all 

available grants, and these were the only two (the fire truck and the ambulance) that Chester County 

qualified for. 

Councilman Guy motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 4-0 to approve. 

e) Resolution 2025-22 

Authorizing the transfer of a service weapon to Deputy Al Crawford upon retirement in 
recognition of distinguished service.  
Councilman Guy motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 4-0 to approve. 

f) Resolution 2025-23 

Providing preliminary approval for certain incentives to induce investors identified for the 

time being as Project Blank Page, acting for itself, one or more current or future affiliates, and 
other project sponsors (collectively, “company”) to establish or expand certain facilities in 

Chester County, South Carolina (“county”), including (1) a negotiated fee in lieu of ad valorem 

tax arrangement; (2) inclusion of the project site in a multi-county industrial or business park; 

(3) special source credits to be applied against fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes; and (4) other 

related matters. 
Councilman Raines motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 3-1 to approve. Councilman 

Agee opposed. 

g) Resolution 2025-24  
Adopting the Self-Evaluation Plan, the Transition Plan, and other related policies and 

procedures, all according to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990; and providing for 

other related matters. 
Public Works Director Devon Bagley addressed the council regarding the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA) compliance. She explained that the ADA was passed in 1973, and as part of compliance, local 



 

4 | P a g e  
 

governments are required to complete a self-evaluation and transition plan. The last time Chester 
County completed this process was in 2009, so an update was necessary. Director Bagley reported that 

the county had met with a committee on July 22 to update the plan, and the next step was to bring it to 

the council for approval. She emphasized that having an updated plan is required for eligibility for CDBG 
grants and funding, which is particularly important for projects like the recently discussed ambulance 
and fire truck grants. 
Councilman Raines motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 4-0 to approve. 

7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
Administrator Hester began with the introduction of several new and returning staff members, including Erin 

Reavis as the new Recycling Coordinator, Jamie Deason as the new EMS Training Officer, and Martin Lane as the 

new Parks and Recreation Supervisor. He also welcomed Adelma Gregory, a participant in the Citizens Academy, 
as the new Public Works administrative assistant. Administrator Hester acknowledged the presence of the 
Citizens Academy class at the meeting, explaining that attending a council meeting is part of their curriculum 
and expressing appreciation for their engagement in learning about county government. He reported on a 

successful town hall meeting held the previous week, which addressed topics such as ISO ratings, fire services, 
ongoing projects, and property reassessment, noting that the meeting was well-attended and received positive 

feedback from the community. Administrator Hester provided updates on several projects, including the 

groundbreaking of Winchester Phase One, with construction expected to go vertical before the end of the year, 
and the beginning of plat and bond submittal for Woodhaven Phase Three, which will be the last residential 

phase of that development. He also announced that the county had received a TAP grant for sidewalks to connect 
the Woodhaven subdivision to the school and other areas. Additionally, Administrator Hester mentioned that the 

roads package had been sent out and reminded the council of an upcoming CTC meeting. He clarified that the 
new hires were filling existing positions due to attrition or retirement, not newly created roles. Finally, Hester 

shared that the county would soon begin a project to remove invasive Bradford Pear trees around the Roddey 

Building and replace them with oak trees, as previously discussed, emphasizing that these efforts reflect ongoing 
improvements in county operations. 

8. CONSENT AGENDA 
Councilman Raines motioned to approve items in the consent agenda with the removal of items B (Ordinance 

2025-16), C (Ordinance 2025-18, and D (Ordinance 2025-17). Seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 4-0 to approve. 

a) 3rd Reading of Ordinance 2025-14  

The addition of definitions to Chapter 22 – Article I- In General, Section 22-1; amending 

language of Article II- Nuisance Abatement, Section 22-19 to provide for additional conditions 
that result in a Public Nuisance; and to provide for other related matters. 

 

b) 3rd Reading of Ordinance 2025 16  
Authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax and special source revenue credit 

agreement by and between Chester County and Chester Asphalt Terminal LLC; providing for a 

fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes incentive; providing for a special source revenue credit; creating 

or modifying a joint county industrial and business park agreement between Chester County 
and York County so as to establish or enlarge the park; and other related matters. 

 

c) 2nd Reading of Ordinance 2025-18 
To repeal the county’s land development regulations, enacted December 11, 2002, as 

subsequently amended, and replace the same by enacting Chapter 2: Subdivision and Land 

Development Regulations, of the County’s Unified Development Ordinance; and to provide for 
other related matters. 



 

5 | P a g e  
 

Chairman Wilson motioned to approve Ordinance 2025-18 with the amendment to include crawl spaces 

with either stucco or brick veneer as an additional option as discussed. Seconded by Councilman Guy. 

Vote 4-0 to approve. 

d) 2nd Reading of Ordinance 2025-17 
Authorizing the execution and delivery of a first amendment to fee-in-lieu of tax and incentive 

agreement, by and among Chester County, South Carolina (“county”), IKO Glass Fiber Inc. 

(“IKO Glass”), and IKO Mat Tech Inc. (“IKO Tech”), previously identified as Project Phoenix22, 
acting for themselves, one or more affiliates and/or other project sponsors (collectively, 

“company”), pursuant to which the company and the county agree to certain amended 

incentives and amended performance measures; and providing for other related matters. 
Councilman Raines motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 3-1 to approve. Councilman 
Agee opposed. 

e) 2nd Reading of CCTA25-07 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-111 RG-1 – Multi-Family Residential Uses 
Add Text: 

RG-1   PERMITTED USES NAICS 

CODE 

NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

PARKING SPACES 

REQUIRED 

1. Urban Conservation Subdivision   

 

814 

111 

112 

Private households 

(except mobile or 

manufactured homes) 

in the setting of an 

urban conservation 

subdivision, along 

with associated 

permitted uses 

As required in 

subdivision code 

 

 

f) 2nd Reading of CCTA25-08 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 
Chapter 4 § 4-112 RG-1 – Multi-Family Residential District Regulations 

Add Text: 

The following regulations apply to all uses in RG-1 districts: 
 
Minimum residential lot area:  

 
Single family: With public water and sewer: 10,000 square feet. 

With public water; individual sewer: ½ acre as directed by DHEC. 

With individual water and sewer: 1 acre as directed by DHEC. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

6,500 square feet. 

Multi-family: 12,000 square feet for first dwelling unit; 

3,000 square feet for second dwelling unit; thereafter 2,500 square 

feet for each additional dwelling unit. 

 

Minimum lot width at building 

line: 

 

With public water and sewer: 70 feet. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

60 feet. 

Other: 130 feet. 
 
Minimum side yard: 

 
Principal structure - 15 feet from interior side lot line 

                                 10 feet from interior side lot line in an Urban   

                                 Conservation Subdivision. 

Accessory structure - 6 feet from interior side lot line. 



 

6 | P a g e  
 

 

g) 2nd Reading of CCTA25-09 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendment 

Chapter 4 § 4-113 RG-2 - General Residential District Uses. 

Add Text: 
 

RG-2   PERMITTED USES 

 

NAICS 

CODE 

 

NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

 

PARKING SPACES 

REQUIRED 

 
1. Urban Conservation Subdivision   

 

 
814 

111 

112 

 
Private households 

(except mobile or 

manufactured homes) 

in the setting of an 

urban conservation 

subdivision, along with 

associated permitted 

uses 

 
As required in 

subdivision code 

h) 2nd Reading of CCTA25-10 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-114 RG-2 - General Residential District Uses. 

Add Text: 
 
Minimum residential lot area:  

 
Single family: With public water and sewer: 10,000 square feet. 

With public water; individual sewer: ½ acre as directed by DHEC. 

With individual water and sewer: 1 acre as directed by DHEC. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

6,500 square feet. 

Multi-family: 12,000 square feet for first dwelling unit; 

3,000 square feet for second dwelling unit; thereafter 2,500 square 

feet for each additional dwelling unit. 

Manufactured home parks: eight (8) acres. 
 

Minimum lot width at building 

line: 

 

With public water and sewer: 70 feet. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

60 feet. 

Other: 130 feet. 
 

Minimum side yard: 

 

Principal structure - 15 feet from interior side lot line 

                                 10 feet from interior side lot line in an Urban   

                                 Conservation Subdivision. 

Accessory structure - 6 feet from interior side lot line. 

 

a)  2nd Reading of CCTA25-11 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-115 LC – Limited Commercial District Uses. 
Add Text: 
 

LC - PERMITTED USES 
 
NAICS 

CODE 

 
NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

 
PARKING 

SPACES 



 

7 | P a g e  
 

REQUIRED 
 
2. Urban Conservation Subdivision   

 

 
814 

111 

112 

 
Private households (except 

mobile or manufactured 

homes) in the setting of an 

urban conservation 

subdivision, along with 

associated permitted uses 

 

As required in 

subdivision 

code 

 

b) 2nd Reading of CCTA25-12 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-116 LC – Limited Commercial District Uses. 
Add Text: 

The following regulations apply to all uses in LC districts: 

 

c) 2nd Reading of CCTA25-13 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-103 R-2 – Rural Two District Uses. 
Add Text: 

 

 

d) 2nd Reading of CCTA25-14 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 
Chapter 4 § 4-103 R-2 – Rural Two District Uses. 

Add Text: 

 

Minimum residential lot 

area: 

Single family: With public water and sewer: 10,000 square feet. 

With public water; individual sewer: ½ acre or as directed by DHEC. 

With individual water and sewer: 1 acre or as directed by DHEC. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision: 

6,500 square feet. 

Multi-family: 1 acre. 

Minimum lot width at 

building line: 

 

With public water and sewer: 70 feet. 

With public water and sewer in an Urban Conservation Subdivision:  

60 feet. 

Other: 130 feet. 

 
   R-2 CONDITIONAL USES 
[approved by Zoning Administrator if all conditions are met] 

 

NAICS 

CODE 

 
NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

 
PARKING 

SPACES 

REQUIRED 
 
1. Rural Conservation Subdivision, 

     provided all following conditions are met: 

a. The total site plan has at least twenty (20) 

gross acres and classifies as a medium, 

major, or mega subdivision. 

b. The site plan is less than one hundred 

(100) homes. 

c. The entrance to the subdivision is half 

(0.5) a mile or less, in a direct line, from a 

state or federal highway. 

 
814 

111 

112 

113 

Private households in 

the setting of a rural 

conservation 

subdivision, along 

with associated 

permitted uses 

 

As required in 

subdivision 

code 



 

8 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

e) 2nd Reading of CCTA25-15 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments 

Chapter 4 § 4-104 R-2 – Rural Two District Regulations. 
Add Text: 

The following regulations apply to all uses in R-2 districts. 
 
Minimum lot area: 

  

 
Residential: 2 acres 

Rural Conservation Subdivision: 1 acre. 

Other uses: None, or as specified in conditions 

 

9. OLD BUSINESS 

 
10. NEW BUSINESS 

 

a) Setting of the 2025 Millage Rates 

Donnie Wade, Auditor 

Donnie Wade, Chester County Auditor, presented the annual report on millage rates and property tax 

assessments to the council. He explained that 2025 is a reassessment year, which means property 

values have increased and, as a result, the millage rates are proposed to decrease across various 

categories, including county operations, county debt, library, York Tech, and several fire districts. 

Auditor Wade emphasized that the proposed rollback in millage rates is a positive development for 

taxpayers, as it helps offset the increase in property values and ensures the county remains in 

compliance with state law. He noted that this is the first time in his 19 years as auditor that he has been 

able to recommend such a significant rollback. Auditor Wade also clarified that fee in lieu of taxes 

(FILOT) revenues are considered a separate revenue source and are not included in the total assessed 

value for ad valorem taxes or the calculation of the 1% fireman’s money, which is distributed to 

volunteer fire fighters based on assessed property values. He assured the council that Chester County 

calculates this correctly to maximize the benefit for local fire departments. Auditor Wade concluded by 

expressing appreciation for the collaborative efforts of the council, administration, and assessor’s 

office, and highlighted that the rollback in millage rates would benefit all taxpayers in the county. 

 
   R-2   SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS 
   [approved by Board of Zoning Appeals after hearing] 

 
NAICS 

CODE 

 
NAICS 

DESCRIPTION 

 
PARKING 

SPACES 

REQUIRED 
 
1. Rural Conservation Subdivision, 

     provided all following conditions are met: 

a. The total site plan has at least twenty (20) gross 

acres and classifies as a medium, major, or mega 

subdivision. 

b. The site plan consists of less than one hundred 

(100) homes or is within one (1) mile of a state or 

federal highway, unless an exceptional plan is 

presented for agricultural or environmental 

conservation. 

c. Any necessary conditions are imposed for safety, 

traffic, and impact on the district. 

d. The use is compatible with the district. 

 
814 

111 

112 

113 

Private households 

in the setting of a 

rural conservation 

subdivision, along 

with associated 

permitted uses 

 

As required 

in 

subdivision 

code 



 

9 | P a g e  
 

Councilman Guy motioned to approve the 2025 millage rates, seconded by Vice Chair Mosley. Vote 5-0 to 
approve. 

b) Republic Services Landfill Presentation 

Shane Walker, Charlotte Area President 

Shane Walker, President of Republic Services for the Charlotte area, addressed the council to discuss 

the current state and future strategy of Chester County’s solid waste operations. He explained that 

Republic Services currently partners with the county for waste transfer and disposal, with local waste 

being transported to a landfill in Union County. Mr. Walker highlighted a growing concern about 

diminishing landfill capacity in the region, noting that no new landfills have been permitted in South 

Carolina since the late 1990s and that the Piedmont area, including Chester County, faces a potential 

future shortage. To address this, he proposed that the county consider closing its transfer station and, 

in partnership with Republic, convert the existing construction and demolition landfill into a modern, 

lined municipal solid waste landfill on county-owned property, supplemented by 800 acres owned by 

Republic. This project would eliminate transfer and disposal costs, provide free or reduced disposal for 

residents, mitigate environmental risks, and serve as an economic development tool. Mr. Walker 

emphasized that this was an initial discussion and that any project would require a lengthy permitting 

process, public input, and careful planning, with the potential landfill footprint being about 175–200 

acres and a projected lifespan of around 40 years. He assured the council that the intent was not to 

create a massive landfill covering all 800 acres and that the project would be designed with significant 

buffers and environmental safeguards. 

 

c) 1st Reading of CCMA25-18 CDP Great Falls LLC requests a portion of Tax Map # 161-01-00-059-

000 (1.3 acres) located off Ridgeway Road, Great Falls, SC 29055 from Multi-family Residential 

District (RG-1) to General Commercial District (GC). The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to 
approve. 
Councilman Agee motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 5-0 to approve. 

d) 1st Reading of CCMA25-19 ICB America, LP, a Georgia Limited Partnership requests Tax Map # 

080-04-05-026-000 (1.4 acres) located at 527 Great Falls Highway, Chester, SC 29706 from 

General Commercial District (GC) to Restricted Industrial District (ID-1). The Planning 
Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 
Councilman Raines motioned to approve, seconded by Vice Chair Mosley. Vote 5-0 to approve. 

e) 1st Reading of CCMA25-20 ICB America, LP, a Georgia Limited Partnership requests Tax Map # 

080-04-05-027-000 (0.102 +/- acres) located next to 527 Great Falls Highway, Chester, SC 29706 

from General Commercial District (GC) to Restricted Industrial District (ID-1). The Planning 
Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 
Vice Chair Mosley motioned to approve, seconded by Councilman Raines. Vote 5-0 to approve. 

11. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
 

12. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Councilman Raines motioned to enter into executive session, seconded by Vice Chair Mosley. Vote 5-0 to enter into 

executive session. 
a) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 

services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Chester R+D Park 

 



 

10 | P a g e  
 

b) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision of 
services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in the area 

served by the public body – Project P2038 

 
c) Discussion of personnel matter regarding Clerk to Council 

 

13. ACTIONS FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Councilman Guy motioned to return to regular session, seconded by Vice Chair Mosley. Vote 5-0 to return to 
regular session. 

Chairman Wilson stated that all items were taken as information only. 

a) Action taken regarding Chester R+D Park 
 

b) Action taken regarding Project P2038 

 
c) Action taken regarding Clerk to Council personnel matter 

 

14.  COUNCIL COMMENTS  
 

15. ADJOURN 

Councilman Raines motioned to adjourn, seconded by Councilman Guy. Vote 5-0 to adjourn. 

 
Time of adjournment: 8:19pm 

 

 
Kristie Donaldson 

Clerk to Council  



CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-21 

PROVIDING FOR AN AMENDMENT TO ORDINANCE NO. 
2025-08, WHICH AMENDED ORDINANCE NO. 2021-18, WHICH 
PROVIDED FOR THE USE OF EXCESS FUNDING FOR 
“PROJECTS” AND/OR “CAPITAL PROJECTS” AS PROVIDED 
FOR UNDER ORDINANCE NO. 2019-5; AND PROVIDING FOR 
OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, the Chester County Council (“County Council”) enacted Ordinance No. 2019-5, on June 15, 
2020 (“2019 Ordinance”), authorizing, among other things, the imposition of and expenditure from a capital 
project sales and use tax, if and as approved by a referendum, to fund “projects” and/or “capital projects,” 
each as described in the 2019 Ordinance and in the Capital Project Sales Tax Act, located in South Carolina 
Code Annotated section 4-10-300, et seq. (collectively, “Act”); 

WHEREAS, the County Council enacted Ordinance No. 2021-18, on November 15, 2021 (“2021 
Ordinance”), providing for excess funding to be used for certain “projects” and/or “capital projects” as 
provided in the 2019 Ordinance; 

WHEREAS, the County Council enacted Ordinance No. 2025-8, on April 7, 2025 (“2025 Ordinance”), 
providing for excess funding to be used for certain additional “projects” and/or “capital projects” as provided 
in the 2019 Ordinance; 

WHEREAS, the Act provides the County Council with the authority to expend amounts collected in excess 
of amounts necessary to complete (as described in the Act, the approving referendum, and/or the 2019 
Ordinance) funding for projects listed in the approving referendum to be used to complete projects for which 
the tax is imposed; and 

WHEREAS, by this Ordinance, the County Council intends to continue to authorize such funding and 
amend the nature of “projects” and/or “capital projects” (as described in the 2019 Ordinance) for which such 
excess funding may be used. 

NOW, THEREFORE Chester County, South Carolina, ordains as follows: 

Section 1. Amendments. “Section 1. Amendments.” of the 2025 Ordinance, as a is amended by striking 
the paragraph, in its entirety, after the word “Amendments” and inserting therein the following: 

The County Council authorizes amounts collected in excess of amounts necessary to 
complete (as described in the approving referendum) funding for each of the projects 
referenced in the approving referendum to be used to provide funding for each of the 
following projects 

a. Project 1: Lewis Fire Department South Fork Substation, 

b. Project 2: North Chester Fire Department Substation, 

c. Projects 3/6 Rodman Sports Complex Improvements, 

d. Project 16: Countywide Emergency Communications Project, 

e. Project 26: Great Falls Whitewater, Trails and State Park Visitors Center, and 

f. Project 36/48: County Courthouse Improvements, 

provided, however, that, to the extent funding to complete a project listed above is 



sourced from other monies, then (a) no funding shall come from the tax imposed by 
the approving referendum and/or (b) funding from the tax previously expended shall 
be reimbursed to the tax fund from the alternate source. 

Section 2. Authorization for County Officials to Execute Documents. The Council authorizes the 
County Administrator, the County Treasurer, and Clerk to County Council to execute and consent to 
documents and instruments as may be necessary to effect this Ordinance’s intent. 

Section 3. Reservation to County. None of this Ordinance, the 2025 Ordinance, the 2021 Ordinance, or 
the 2019 Ordinance is a contract with any entity. The County reserves the right to amend this Ordinance, the 
2025 Ordinance, the 2021 Ordinance, and/or the 2019 Ordinance, at any time, from time to time, as often as 
the County, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. 

Section 4. General Repealer. Each ordinance, resolution, order, policy, or similar directive, or any part 
of the same, in conflict with this Ordinance is, to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

Section 5. Savings Clause. Any action taken or authorized to be taken under the 2025 Ordinance, the 2021 

Ordinance, and/or the 2019 Ordinance is treated as remaining in full force and effect for the purpose of 
sustaining any pending or vested right, as of the effective date of this Ordinance, and for the enforcement of 
rights, duties, and liabilities as they stood under the repealed or amended portion of the 2025 Ordinance, the 
2021 Ordinance, and/or the 2019 Ordinance. 

Section 6. Effective Date. This Ordinance is effective after its public hearing and third reading. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 

  



CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:        
 Chairman, County Council 

[SEAL] 

Attest: 

        
Clerk to County Council 

First Reading:  September 15, 2025 
Second Reading:  October 6, 2025 
Public Hearing:  October 20, 2025 
Third Reading:  October 20, 2025 



 

PAGE 1 OF 5 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-16 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FEE IN 
LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT 
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN CHESTER COUNTY AND 
CHESTER ASPHALT TERMINAL LLC; PROVIDING FOR A FEE IN 
LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES INCENTIVE; PROVIDING FOR A 
SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT; CREATING OR 
MODIFYING A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS 
PARK AGREEMENT BETWEEN CHESTER COUNTY AND YORK 
COUNTY SO AS TO ESTABLISH OR ENLARGE THE PARK; AND 
OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, Chester County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 
(“County Council”), is authorized and empowered, under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Laws 
of South Carolina 1976, as amended through the date hereof (“Code”), particularly Title 12, Chapter 44 thereof 
(“FILOT Act”) and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code (“Multi-County Park Act” or, as to Section 4-1-175 thereof, 
and, by incorporation, Section 4-29-68 of the Code, “Special Source Act,” collectively with the FILOT Act, 
“Act”), and by Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution: (a) to enter into agreements with 
certain investors to establish projects through which the economic development of the State of South Carolina 
(“State”) will be promoted and trade developed, thus utilizing and employing the manpower, agricultural 
products, and natural resources of the State; (b) to covenant with such investors to accept certain fee in lieu of 
ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) payments, including, but not limited to, negotiated FILOT (“Negotiated FILOT”) 
payments, and granting certain special source revenue credits (“SSRCs”) with respect to costs of designing, 
acquiring, constructing, improving or expanding (i) infrastructure serving a project or the County or (ii) 
improved or unimproved real estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the 
operation of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise (“Infrastructure”); and (c) to create or expand, in 
conjunction with one or more other counties, a multicounty industrial or business park (an “MCIP”) to allow 
special source revenue credits and certain enhanced income tax credits to those investors; 

WHEREAS, Chester Asphalt Terminal LLC, a South Carolina Limited Liability Company (“Company”) 
proposes to invest in, or cause others to invest in, development, construction, installation and operation, as 
applicable, certain facilities on real property to conduct manufacturing, warehousing and distribution in the 
County (“Project”), which the Company expects will result in the investment of approximately $22,050,000 in 
taxable property; and  

WHEREAS, based solely on the information supplied to it by the Company, the County has determined 
the Project would serve the purposes of the Act and would be directly and substantially beneficial to the County, 
the taxing entities of the County and the citizens and residents of the County due to the employment and 
investment associated therewith, which contribute to the tax base and the economic welfare of the County, 
and, accordingly, the County wishes to induce the Company to undertake the Project by offering the FILOT, 
SSRCs, MCIP, and certain other incentives; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with such findings and determinations, and in order to induce the Company to 
locate the Project in the County, the County Council adopted a Resolution on [July 21, 2025], whereby the 
County formally identified the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the Act, and, subject to certain 
conditions described therein, authorized County officials to provide the benefits of a Negotiated FILOT, an 
MCIP, and SSRCs with respect to the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the County and the Company have agreed to specific terms and conditions of such 
arrangements as set forth herein and in a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement by 
and between the County and the Company with respect to the Project (“Fee Agreement”), the substantially 
final form of which is presented to this meeting and included as Exhibit A, which Fee Agreement is to be 
dated as of the date of this meeting, or such other date as the parties may agree; and  



 

PAGE 2 OF 5 

WHEREAS, it appears that the Fee Agreement now before this meeting is in appropriate form and is an 
appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered by the County for the purposes intended. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. Evaluation of the Project. Based solely on information provided by the Company, the County 
Council has evaluated the Project on the following criteria and based upon the advice and assistance of the 
South Carolina Department of Commerce and the South Carolina Department of Revenue: 

(a) whether the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public 
purposes; 

(b) the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment to be made; and 

(c) the anticipated costs and benefits to the County. 

Section 2. Findings by County Council. Based solely on information provided by and representations 
of the Company and the advice and assistance of the South Carolina Department of Commerce and the South 
Carolina Department of Revenue, as required, County Council hereby finds that: 

(a) the Project constitutes a “project” as that term is defined in the FILOT Act;  

(b) the Project will serve the purposes of the FILOT Act;  

(c) the investment by the Company in the project is anticipated to be approximately $22,050,000, 
to be invested within 10 years from “Commencement Date” as such term is defined in the FILOT 
Act; 

(d) the Project will be located entirely within the County; 

(e) the Project will benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, 
employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally; 

(f) the Project will not give rise to a pecuniary liability of the County or any municipality nor a 
charge against its general credit or taxing power of the County or any municipality; 

(g) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; 

(h) the inducement of the location of the Project is of paramount importance; and 

(i) the benefits of the Project to the public are greater than the costs to the public. 

Section 3. Fee-in-Lieu of Taxes Arrangement. Pursuant to the authority of the FILOT Act, the Project is 
designated as “economic development property” under the FILOT Act, and there is hereby authorized a fee in lieu 
of taxes arrangement with the Company that will provide FILOT payments to be made with respect to personal 
property invested as part of the Project based upon a 6% assessment ratio, a millage of rate of 510.8 mills, and a 
30-year payment period for each annual increment of investment during the investment period, all as more fully set 
forth in the Fee Agreement. 

Section 4. Special Source Revenue Credits. As reimbursement to the Company for expenditures on 
Infrastructure, the County will provide to the Company SSRCs under the Special Source Act as set forth in the 
Fee Agreement, including SSRCs applicable to real and personal property at the Project for 10 consecutive tax 
years, in an annual amount equal to 10% for each such FILOT payment for years 1-10. 

Section 5. Execution of the Fee Agreement. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee Agreement 
presented to this meeting and filed with the Clerk of the County Council be and hereby are approved, and all 
of the terms, provisions and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if such Fee 



PAGE 3 OF 5 

Agreement were set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The County Administrator, the Chair of the County 
Council and the Clerk of the County Council be and hereby are authorized, empowered and directed to execute, 
acknowledge and deliver the Fee Agreement in the name and on behalf of the County, and thereupon to cause 
the Fee Agreement to be delivered to the Company. The Fee Agreement is to be in substantially the form now 
before this meeting and hereby approved, or with any changes therein as shall not materially adversely affect 
the rights of the County thereunder and as shall be approved by the County Attorney and the officials of the 
County executing the same, their execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of all 
changes therein from the form of Fee Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 6. Inclusion of Project in Multi-County Park. The County will use its best efforts to ensure the 
Project is included, if not already included, and will remain, in the boundaries of a multi-county industrial or 
business park pursuant to the provisions of the Multi-County Park Act and Article VIII, Section 13 of the State 
Constitution, as set forth in the Fee Agreement. 

Section 7. Miscellaneous. 

(a) The County Administrator, the Chair of the County Council and all other appropriate officials of the
County are hereby authorized to execute, deliver and receive any other agreements and documents as may be 
required by the County in order to carry out, give effect to and consummate the transactions authorized by this 
Ordinance;  

(b) This Ordinance shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of South
Carolina; 

(c) This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon approval following third reading by the County
Council; 

(d) The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be severable and if any section, phrase or provision
shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, that declaration 
shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, phrases and provisions hereunder; and 

(e) All ordinances, resolutions and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby
repealed. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE AND ONE EXHIBIT FOLLOW]  
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 



PAGE 4 OF 5 

ENACTED: September 2, 2025 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By: 
Pete Wilson 

[SEAL] Chair, County Council 

Attest: 

_________________________________ 
Kristie Donaldson 

Clerk to County Council 

First Reading: July 21, 2025 
Second Reading: August 18, 2025 
Public Hearing: September 2, 2025 
Third Reading: September 2, 2025 



 

PAGE 5 OF 5 

EXHIBIT A 
SUBSTANTIALLY FINAL FORM OF 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND 
SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 



FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

by and between 

CHESTER ASPHALT TERMINAL LLC 

and 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

Dated as of [September 2], 2025 



 

 

Table of Contents 

 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS AND RECAPITULATION............................................................................. 4 

Section 1.01. Statutorily Required Recapitulation. .................................................................................. 4 

Section 1.02. Definitions. ......................................................................................................................... 5 

Section 1.03. References to Agreement .................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES ....................................................................... 8 

Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties by County. ....................................................................... 8 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties by the Company. ............................................................. 8 

ARTICLE III UNDERTAKINGS OF THE COUNTY ................................................................................ 9 

Section 3.01. Agreement to Accept FILOT Payments ............................................................................. 9 

Section 3.02. No Warranties by County ................................................................................................... 9 

Section 3.03. Invalidity ............................................................................................................................. 9 

ARTICLE IV UNDERTAKINGS OF THE COMPANY .......................................................................... 10 

Section 4.01. Investment by Company in Project.. ................................................................................. 10 

Section 4.02. Reporting and Filing. ........................................................................................................ 10 

Section 4.03. Modification of Project. .................................................................................................... 11 

ARTICLE V PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES ...................................................................................... 12 

Section 5.01. Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes ........................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE VI PAYMENTS BY COMPANY ............................................................................................ 15 

Section 6.01. Defaulted Payments .......................................................................................................... 15 

ARTICLE VII CASUALTY AND CONDEMNATION ............................................................................ 15 

Section 7.01. Adjustments in the Event of Damage and Destruction or Condemnation. ....................... 15 

ARTICLE VIII PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS ................................................... 15 

Section 8.01. Use of Project for Lawful Activities. . .............................................................................. 15 

Section 8.02. Assignment ....................................................................................................................... 15 

Section 8.03. Indemnification ................................................................................................................. 15 

Section 8.04. Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates ....................................................................................... 16 

ARTICLE IX FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS; CONVEYANCES; ASSIGNMENTS ........................ 17 

Section 9.01. Conveyance of Liens and Interests; Assignment .............................................................. 17 

Section 9.02. Relative Rights of County and Financing Entities as Secured Parties. ............................. 17 

ARTICLE X TERM; TERMINATION ...................................................................................................... 18 

Section 10.01. Term................................................................................................................................ 18 

Section 10.02. Termination .................................................................................................................... 18 

ARTICLE XI EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES ...................................................................... 18 

Section 11.01. Events of Default by Company ....................................................................................... 18 



 

PAGE 2 OF 25 

Section 11.02. Remedies on Event of Default by Company. ................................................................. 19 

Section 11.03. Default by County........................................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE XII MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................................................................... 19 

Section 12.01. Rights and Remedies Cumulative. .................................................................................. 19 

Section 12.02. Successors and Assigns. ................................................................................................. 19 

Section 12.03. Administration Expenses ................................................................................................ 19 

Section 12.04. Rules of Construction. .................................................................................................... 20 

Section 12.05. Notices; Demands; Requests .......................................................................................... 20 

Section 12.06. Applicable Law ............................................................................................................... 21 

Section 12.07. Entire Understanding.. .................................................................................................... 21 

Section 12.08. Severability.. ................................................................................................................... 21 

Section 12.09. Headings and Table of Contents; References ................................................................. 21 

Section 12.10. Multiple Counterparts ..................................................................................................... 21 

Section 12.11. Amendments. .................................................................................................................. 21 

Section 12.12. Waiver ............................................................................................................................ 21 

Section 12.13. Force Majeure ................................................................................................................. 21 

 

 

  



 

PAGE 3 OF 25 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 

This FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT (this 

“Agreement”) is dated as of [September 2], 2025, by and between Chester Asphalt Terminal LLC, a South 

Carolina limited liability company (the “Company) and Chester County, South Carolina, a body politic and 

corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the “Council”), is authorized 

and empowered, under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 

amended through the date hereof (the “Code”), particularly Title 12, Chapter 44 thereof (the “FILOT Act”) 

and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code (the “Multi-County Park Act” or, as to Section 4-1-175 thereof, and, by 

incorporation, Section 4-29-68 of the Code, the “Special Source Act,” and collectively, the “Act”), and by 

Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution: (i) to enter into agreements with certain 

investors to establish projects through which the economic development of the State of South Carolina (the 

“State”) will be promoted and trade developed, thus utilizing and employing the workforce, agricultural 

products, and natural resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such investors to accept certain FILOT 

payments including, but not limited to, Negotiated FILOT Payments, with respect to a project; and (iii) to 

permit investors to claim Special Source Revenue Credits against their FILOT payments to reimburse such 

investors for expenditures in connection with certain infrastructure and other qualifying property related to 

a project; and (iv) to maintain, create, or expand, in conjunction with one or more other counties, a multi-

county industrial or business park to allow certain enhanced income tax credits to such investors and to 

facilitate the grant of Special Source Revenue Credits; 

WHEREAS, the Company proposes to invest in, or cause others to invest in, development, 

construction, installation and operation, as applicable, certain facilities on real property to conduct 

manufacturing and distribution in the County (the “Project”);  

WHEREAS, the Company anticipates that the Project will result in an investment of approximately 

Twenty-Two Million and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($22,050,000.00) in the County;  

WHEREAS, the County Council approved, on [July 21], 2025, an inducement resolution (the 

“Inducement Resolution”) to identify, reflect and induce the Project under the Act;  

WHEREAS, as a result of the Company locating certain operations in the County, the Company 

requested that the County enter into this Agreement with the Company pursuant to the Act, and the 

Company elects to enter into such FILOT and Special Source Revenue Credit arrangements with the County 

in an effort to set forth the terms pursuant to which the Company may make FILOT payments and receive 

Special Source Revenue Credits pursuant to the Act;  

WHEREAS, for the Project, the parties have determined, based solely on information provided by 

the Company to the County, that the Company is a Sponsor, and that the Project constitutes Economic 

Development Property, each within the meaning of the Act; and  

WHEREAS, for the purposes set forth above, the County has, based solely on information provided 

by the Company to the County, determined that it is in the best interests of the County to enter into this 

Agreement with the Company, subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations and agreements hereinafter 

contained, and the sum of $1.00 in hand, duly paid by the Company to the County, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the County and the Company agree as follows: 



 

PAGE 4 OF 25 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS AND RECAPITULATION 

Section 1.01.  Statutorily Required Recapitulation. 

(a) Pursuant to Section 12-44-55(B) of the Act, the County and the Company agree to 

waive the recapitulation requirements of Section 12-44-55 of the Act. Subsection (b) of this section 

is inserted for convenience only and does not constitute a part of this Agreement or a summary 

compliant with Section 12-44-55 of the Act. 

(b) Summary of Agreement: 

1. Legal name of each initial party to this Agreement:  

 

Chester Asphalt Terminal LLC, a South Carolina limited liability company 

 

2. County, street address, parcel number or other location identifier of the Project and 

property to be subject to this Agreement: 

[TO BE COMPLETED] 

 

3. Minimum investment agreed upon: $22,050,000.00 

4. Length and term of this Agreement: thirty (30) years for each annual increment 

of investment in the Project during the Investment Period  

5. Assessment ratio applicable for each year of this Agreement: 6% 

6.  Millage rate applicable for each year of this Agreement: 510.8 mills 

7. Schedule showing the amount of the fee and its calculation for each year of this 

Agreement: Waived by the County and the Company. 

8. Schedule showing the amount to be distributed annually to each of the affected 

taxing entities: Waived by the County and the Company. 

9. Statements: 

(a) The Project is to be located in a multi-county industrial or business park; 

(b) Disposal of property subject to payments-in-lieu-of-taxes is allowed; 

(c) Special Source Revenue Credits will be provided in an amount equal to 

10% of each such FILOT Payment for years 1-10; 

(d) Payment will not be modified using a net present value calculation; and 

(e) Replacement property provisions will apply. 

 

10. Any other feature or aspect of this Agreement which may affect the calculation of 

items (7) and (8) of this summary. None. 

11.  Description of the effect upon the schedules required by items (7) and (8) of this 

summary of any feature covered by items (9) and (10) not reflected in the schedules 

for items (7) and (8): Waived by the County and the Company. 



 

PAGE 5 OF 25 

12.  Which party or parties to this Agreement are responsible for updating any 

information contained in this summary: The Company. 

Section 1.02.  Definitions. In addition to the words and terms elsewhere defined in this 

Agreement, the following words and terms as used herein and in the preambles hereto shall have the 

following meanings, unless the context or use indicates another or different meaning or intent. 

“Act” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. 

“Administration Expenses” shall mean the reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses, 

including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by the County with respect to: (i) the preparation, review, 

approval and execution of this Agreement; (ii) the preparation, review, approval and execution of other 

documents related to this Agreement and any multi-county industrial or business park documents; and (iii) 

the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement and any multi-county industrial or business park 

documents, and in the implementation and administration of the terms and provisions of the documents. 

The County acknowledges and agrees that the obligation of the Company for payment of Administration 

Expenses shall be limited as set forth in Section 12.03 hereof. 

“Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to a Person, any Person directly or indirectly controlling, 

controlled by, or under common control with such other Person. For purposes of this definition, “control” 

means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management 

and policies of the Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise. 

“Agreement” shall mean this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement by 

and among the County and the Company, as originally executed and from time to time supplemented or 

amended as permitted herein. 

“Co-Investor” shall mean the Company, any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate within the meaning 

of Sections 12-44-30(19) and (20) of the Act, any Affiliate of the Company or of any such other Sponsor 

or Sponsor Affiliate, any tenant leasing all or a portion of the Project from the Company or any other 

Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, any developer in a build-to-suit arrangement or other leasing arrangement 

with respect to the Project, any lessor of equipment or other property comprising a part of the Project, and 

any financing entity or other third party investing in, providing funds for or otherwise making investment 

in real or personal property in connection with the Project. The Company shall notify the County in writing 

of the identity of any other Sponsor, Sponsor Affiliate or other Co-Investor and shall, to the extent the 

Company and any such other Sponsor, Sponsor Affiliate, or other Co-Investor intend to extend the benefits 

of the FILOT to property owned by any such Sponsor, Sponsor Affiliate, or other Co-Investor pursuant to 

Section 6.02 hereof, comply with any additional notice requirements, or other applicable provisions, of the 

Act. As of the original execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company is the only Co-Investor. 

“Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended through the date hereof, 

unless the context clearly requires otherwise. 

“Company” shall mean, Chester Asphalt Terminal LLC, a South Carolina limited liability 

company, and its successors and assigns.  

“Confidential Information” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.02(c) hereof. 

“County” shall mean Chester County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 

subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and its successors and assigns. 

“County Council” shall mean the governing body of the County and its successors.  



 

PAGE 6 OF 25 

“Department of Revenue” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Economic Development Property” shall mean each item of real and tangible personal property 

comprising the Project, except Non-Qualifying Property. 

“Equipment” shall mean all machinery, equipment, furnishings, and other personal property 

acquired by the Company and installed as part of the Project during the Investment Period in accordance 

with this Agreement. 

“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.01(a) hereof. 

“Existing Property” shall mean property proscribed from becoming Economic Development 

Property pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the Code, including, without limitation, property which has been 

subject to ad valorem taxes in the State prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement and property 

included in the Project as part of the repair, alteration, or modification of such previously taxed property; 

provided, however, that Existing Property shall not include: (i) the Land; (ii) property acquired or 

constructed by the Company during the Investment Period which has not been placed in service in this State 

prior to the Investment Period notwithstanding that ad valorem taxes have heretofore been paid with respect 

to such property; (iii) property acquired for the Project by the Company from and after the date of the 

Inducement Resolution, (iv) property described in Section 12-44-110 of the Code to the extent that the 

Company and any Co-Investors invest at least an additional Forty-Five Million Dollars ($45,000,000.00), 

or (v) modifications which constitute an expansion of Existing Property. 

“Filings” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.02(b) hereof. 

“FILOT” shall mean the fee-in-lieu of taxes, which the Company is obligated to pay to the County 

pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof. 

“FILOT Act” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. 

“FILOT Payments” shall mean the payments to be made by the Company or any Co-Investor with 

respect to its respective portion of the Project, whether made as Negotiated FILOT Payments pursuant to 

Section 5.01 hereof or as FILOT payments made pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act. 

“Indemnified Parties” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.03 hereof. 

“Inducement Resolution” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. 

“Investment Commitment” shall mean the agreement of the Company and any other Co-Investors 

to invest, collectively, at least Twenty-Two Million and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($22,050,000.00) in 

Economic Development Property by the end of the Investment Period. 

“Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the first day that Economic Development 

Property is purchased or acquired and ending on the date that is ten (10) years from the end of the Property 

Tax Year in which the initial Economic Development Property comprising all or a portion of the Project is 

placed in service, unless extended by agreement of the Company and the County pursuant to Section 12-

44-30(13) of the Code. 

“Land” shall mean the real estate on which the Project is to be located, as described in Exhibit A 

attached hereto. Additional real estate may be included in Exhibit A as provided in Section 4.03(a)(i), and 

the Company shall deliver to the County an updated Exhibit A to reflect such addition. 



 

PAGE 7 OF 25 

“Multi-County Park” shall mean the multi-county industrial or business park established pursuant 

to the Multi-County Park Agreement, or any successor Multi-County Park.  

“Multi-County Park Act” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. 

“Multi-County Park Agreement” shall mean the qualifying agreement for the establishment of a 

multi-county industrial or business park with York County, dated December 31, 2012 (as amended, 

modified and supplemented from time to time). 

 “Negotiated FILOT” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.01(b) hereof. 

“Negotiated FILOT Payment” shall mean the FILOT due pursuant to Section 5.01(b) hereof with 

respect to that portion of the Project consisting of Economic Development Property. 

“Non-Qualifying Property” shall mean that portion of the Project consisting of: (i) property as to 

which the Company incurred expenditures prior to the Investment Period or, except as to Replacement 

Property, after the end of the Investment Period; (ii) Existing Property; and (iii) any Released Property or 

other property which fails or ceases to qualify for Negotiated FILOT Payments, including without limitation 

property as to which the Company has terminated the Negotiated FILOT pursuant to Section 4.03(a)(iii) 

hereof.  

“Person” shall mean and include any individual, association, unincorporated organization, 

corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, or government or agency or political 

subdivision thereof. 

“Project” shall mean, collectively herein, the Project, and shall include the Land, the buildings, 

improvements and fixtures on the land, water, sewer treatment and disposal facilities, and other machinery, 

apparatus, equipment, office facilities, and furnishings which are necessary, suitable, or useful, including 

the Equipment, and any Replacement Property.  

“Project Millage Rate” shall mean a millage rate of 510.8 mills. 

“Property Tax Year” shall mean the annual period which is equal to the fiscal year of the Company, 

or any applicable Co-Investor, as the case may be.  

“Related Entities” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.01 hereof. 

“Released Property” shall mean any portion of the Project removed, scrapped, traded in, sold, or 

otherwise disposed of pursuant to Section 4.03 hereof, any portion of the Project stolen, damaged, 

destroyed, or taken by condemnation or eminent domain proceedings as described in Article VII hereof, 

and any infrastructure which the Company dedicates to the public use (within the meaning of that phrase 

as used in Section 12-6-3420(C) of the Code). 

“Replacement Property” shall mean all property installed in or on the Land in substitution of, or as 

replacement for, any portion of the Project, but only to the extent that such property may be included in the 

calculation of the Negotiated FILOT pursuant to Section 5.01(g) hereof and Section 12-44-60 of the Code. 

“Special Source Act” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. 

“Special Source Revenue Credits” shall mean the credits provided pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof. 

“Sponsor” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12-44-30(19) of the Code. As of the date of 

this Agreement, the Company is the only Sponsor. 



 

PAGE 8 OF 25 

“Sponsor Affiliate” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12-44-30(20) of the Code. 

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

“Term” shall mean the term of this Agreement, as set forth in Section 10.01 hereof. 

“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the Code, as amended 

through the date hereof. 

Section 1.03.  References to Agreement. The words “hereof”, “herein”, “hereunder”, and 

other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole. 

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01.  Representations and Warranties by County. The County makes the 

following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State 

of South Carolina and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. 

(b) Based solely on information provided by the Company, the County has determined 

that the Project will serve the purposes of the Act, and has made all other findings of fact required 

by the Act in order to designate the Project as Economic Development Property. 

(c) The County has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement and 

any and all actions necessary and appropriate to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. 

(d) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered on behalf of the County. 

(e) The County agrees to use its best faith efforts to continue to cause the land upon 

which the Project is located to be located within the Multi-County Park, and the County will 

diligently take all reasonable acts to ensure that the Project will continuously be included within 

the boundaries of the Multi-County Park or another multi-county industrial or business park during 

the Term of this Agreement in order that the maximum tax benefits afforded by the laws of the 

State for projects in the County located within multi-county industrial or business parks will be 

available to the Company. 

(f) No actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries, or investigations known to the 

undersigned representatives of the County are pending or threatened against or affecting the County 

in any court or before any governmental authority or arbitration board or tribunal, which could 

materially adversely affect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or which could, in any 

way, adversely affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement. 

Section 2.02.  Representations and Warranties by the Company. The Company makes the 

following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The Company is a limited liability company, validly existing and in good standing 

under the laws of South Carolina. The Company has all requisite power to enter into this 

Agreement; and by proper action has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement.  



 

PAGE 9 OF 25 

(b) The agreements with the County with respect to the FILOT have been instrumental 

in inducing the Company to locate the Project within the County and the State. 

(c) Except as otherwise disclosed to the County, no actions, suits, proceedings, 

inquiries, or investigations known to the undersigned representatives of the Company are pending 

or threatened against or affecting the Company in any court or before any governmental authority 

or arbitration board or tribunal, which could materially adversely affect the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement or which could, in any way, adversely affect the validity or 

enforceability of this Agreement. 

(d) For the Project, the Company commits to use its good faith efforts to make the 

Investment Commitment by the end of the Investment Period. Investments made by the Company 

and any Co-Investors in Economic Development Property shall be included in the determination 

whether the Company has fulfilled its commitment made in this item to invest in the Project.  

(e) The income tax year of the Company, and accordingly the Property Tax Year, for 

federal income tax purposes is a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on December 31 of each year. 1 

(f) No event has occurred, and no condition currently exists with respect to the 

Company, which would constitute a default, or an Event of Default as defined herein. 

ARTICLE III 
 

UNDERTAKINGS OF THE COUNTY 

Section 3.01.  Agreement to Accept FILOT Payments.  

(a) The County hereby agrees to accept FILOT Payments made by the Company and 

any Co-Investor in accordance with Section 5.01 hereof in lieu of ad valorem taxes with respect to 

the Project until this Agreement expires or is sooner terminated. 

(b) The County hereby acknowledges and agrees that, pursuant to Section 12-43-

220(d)(6) of the Act, no Economic Development Property shall be subject to rollback taxes. The 

County further covenants, to the extent allowed by law, that any portion of the Land that has not 

been developed by the Company (or by any Co-Investor) shall continue to be assessed using the 

agricultural assessment ratio until such Land is developed, so long as such property lawfully 

qualifies for such assessment ratio. 

Section 3.02.  No Warranties by County. The Company acknowledges that the County 

has made no warranties or representations, either express or implied, as to the condition or state of the 

Project or as to the design or capabilities of the Project or that it will be suitable for the Company’s purposes 

or needs. No representation of the County is hereby made with regard to compliance by the Project or any 

Person with laws regulating: (i) the construction or acquisition of the Project; (ii) environmental matters 

pertaining to the Project; (iii) the offer or sale of any securities; or (iv) the marketability of title to any 

property. 

Section 3.03.  Invalidity. The parties acknowledge that the intent of this Agreement is to 

afford the Company and any Co-Investors the benefits of the Negotiated FILOT Payments in consideration 

of the Company’s decision to locate the Project within the County and that this Agreement has been entered 

into in reliance upon the enactment of the FILOT Act. In the event that, for any reason, the Act and/or the 

 
1 Note to ECF: Please confirm the tax year. 



 

PAGE 10 OF 25 

Negotiated FILOT or any portion thereof is, by a court of competent jurisdiction following allowable 

appeals, declared invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part, or the portion of the Project consisting of 

Economic Development Property is deemed not to be eligible for a Negotiated FILOT pursuant to the Act 

in whole or in part, the Company and the County express their intentions that such payments be reformed 

so as to afford the Company or any Co-Investors benefits commensurate with those intended under this 

Agreement as then permitted by law, including without limitation any benefits afforded under the Code, to 

the extent allowed by law. Absent the legal authorization to effect such reformation, the Company and the 

County agree that there shall be due hereunder, with respect to the portion of the Economic Development 

Property affected by such circumstances, ad valorem taxes and that, to the extent permitted by law, the 

Company and any Co-Investors shall be entitled: (i) to enjoy the five-year exemption from ad valorem taxes 

(or fees in lieu of taxes) provided by Article X, Section 3 of the Constitution of the State, and any other 

exemption allowed by law; (ii) to enjoy all allowable depreciation; and (iii) to receive other tax credits that 

would be due if the Company or any Co-Investor were obligated to pay ad valorem taxes hereunder. To the 

extent that under such circumstances the Negotiated FILOT Payments hereunder are required by law to be 

subject to retroactive adjustment, then there shall be due and payable by the Company or any Co-Investor 

to the County with respect to the portion of the Economic Development Property in question an amount 

equal to the difference between the Negotiated FILOT Payments theretofore actually paid and the amount 

that would have been paid as ad valorem taxes, together with, but only if required by law, interest on such 

deficiency as provided in Section 12-54-25(D) of the Code. The Company agrees that if this Agreement is 

reformed as provided in this Section or if retroactive adjustments are made, then under no circumstances 

shall the County be required to refund or pay any monies to the Company or any Co-Investor. 

In addition to and notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, the County shall not be obligated to 

perform any of its obligations or promises under this Section 3.03 unless the Company has otherwise 

complied with or provides satisfactory evidence to the County that it intends to comply with its obligations 

and responsibilities under this Agreement. 

 

 Section 3.04. Multi-County Park Status. The County agrees to use its best efforts to 

maintain the Land in the Multi-County Park until the date this Agreement expires or is terminated. If it 

becomes necessary to remove the Land from the Multi-County Park prior to the expiration or termination 

of this Agreement, the County agrees to use its best efforts to place the Land in another multi-county 

industrial or business park established pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act and to maintain the multi-

county industrial or business park designation until the date this Agreement is terminated. The parties 

acknowledge and agree that the County’s agreement to place and maintain the Land in a multi-county 

industrial or business park may be subject to the exercise of discretion by a governmental entity other than 

the County and the exercise of that discretion is not controlled by the County. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

 

UNDERTAKINGS OF THE COMPANY 

Section 4.01.  Commitments of the Company at the Project. For the Project, the Company 

agrees to meet the Investment Commitment by the end of the Investment Period. Investments made by the 

Company and any Co-Investors in Economic Development Property shall be included in any determination 

whether the Company has fulfilled its commitment made in this Section to invest in the Project. 

Section 4.02.  Reporting and Filing. 

(a) The Company agrees to provide a copy of Form PT-443 filed with the Department 

of Revenue to the County Auditor, the County Economic Development Director, the County 

Attorney, the County Treasurer, the County Finance Director, and the County Assessor of the 

County not later than thirty (30) days after execution and delivery of this Agreement. Each year 



 

PAGE 11 OF 25 

during the Term of this Agreement, the Company shall deliver to the County Auditor, the County 

Economic Development Director, the County Attorney, the County Assessor, the County 

Treasurer, and County Finance Director a copy of their most recent annual filings made with the 

Department of Revenue with respect to the Project, not later than thirty (30) days following delivery 

thereof to the Department of Revenue. 

(b) The Company agrees to maintain such books and records with respect to the 

Project as will permit the identification of those portions of the Project placed in service in each 

Property Tax Year during the Investment Period, the amount of investment with respect thereto and 

its computations of all FILOT Payments made hereunder and will comply with all reporting 

requirements of the State and the County applicable to property subject to FILOT Payments under 

the Act, including the reports described in paragraph (a) (collectively, “Filings”). 

(c) The County acknowledges and understands that the Company may have and 

maintain at the Project certain confidential and proprietary information, including, but not limited 

to, trade secrets, financial, sales or other information concerning the Company’s operations and 

processes (“Confidential Information”) and that any disclosure of the Confidential Information 

could result in substantial harm to the Company and could have a significant detrimental impact on 

the Company’s employees and also upon the County. Except as required by law, including, without 

limitation, court orders and Title 30, Chapter 4 of the Code (“SCFOIA”), the County agrees to use 

its best reasonable efforts to keep confidential, and to cause employees, agents and representatives 

of the County to keep confidential, the Confidential Information which may be obtained from the 

Company, its agents or representatives, when the Confidential Information is clearly marked and 

identified as Confidential Information and known to the County to be Confidential Information. 

Except as required by SCFOIA, the County shall not knowingly and willfully disclose and shall 

cause all employees, agents and representatives of the County not to knowingly and willfully 

disclose the marked and identified Confidential Information to any Person other than in accordance 

with the terms of this Agreement. If a demand is made for the release, under color of law (including 

SCFOIA), to a third party of any Confidential Information, the County shall notify the Company 

in a timely manner following receipt of such demand and give the Company the opportunity to 

contest the release.  

Section 4.03 Modification of Project. 

(a) The Company and any Co-Investor shall have the right at any time and from time 

to time during the Term hereof to undertake any of the following: 

(i) The Company and each other Co-Investor may, at its own expense, add to 

the Project any real and personal property as the Company or each other Co-Investor in its 

discretion deems useful or desirable.  

(ii) In any instance where the Company or any other Co-Investor, in its 

discretion, determines that any items included in the Project have become inadequate, 

obsolete, worn out, unsuitable, undesirable, or unnecessary for operations at the Project, the 

Company or such other Co-Investor may remove such items or portions from the Project 

and sell, trade in, exchange, or otherwise dispose of them (as a whole or in part) without the 

consent of the County; as such actions may be permitted under the FILOT Act. 

(iii) The Company and any other Co-Investor may, at any time in its discretion 

by written notice to the County, remove any real or personal property from the Negotiated 

FILOT (as defined in Section 5.01) set forth in this Agreement, and thereafter such property 

will be considered Non-Qualifying Property. 



 

PAGE 12 OF 25 

ARTICLE V 

 

PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES 

Section 5.01.  Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes. 

(a) In accordance with the Act, the parties hereby agree that, during the Term of the 

Agreement, the Company and any Co-Investors shall pay annually, with respect to the Project, a 

FILOT in the amount calculated as set forth in this Section, to be collected and enforced in 

accordance with Section 12-44-90 of the Act. 

(b) The FILOT Payment due with respect to each Property Tax Year shall be 

calculated as follows: 

(i) With respect to any portion of the Project consisting of Non-Qualifying 

Property, if any, as long as such property is located in the Multi-County Park, a payment 

equal to the ad valorem taxes that would otherwise be due on such Non-Qualifying Property 

if it were taxable giving effect to all credits, exemptions, rebates, and abatements that would 

be available if such undeveloped land or Non-Qualifying Property were taxable; and  

(ii) With respect to those portions of the Project consisting of Economic 

Development Property, for each of the thirty (30) consecutive years following the year in 

which such portion of the Project is placed in service, a payment calculated each year as set 

forth in paragraph (c) of this Section 5.01 (a “Negotiated FILOT”); less the amount of the 

Special Source Revenue Credits provided pursuant to paragraph (d) of this Section 5.01.  

(c) The Negotiated FILOT Payments shall be calculated with respect to each Property 

Tax Year based on: (i) the fair market value (determined in accordance with Section 12-44-

50(A)(1)(c) of the Code) of the improvements to real property (with the fair market value of real 

property estimated for the first year to remain the fair market value for the entire Term of this 

Agreement) and Equipment included within the Project theretofore placed in service (less, for 

Equipment, depreciation allowable for property tax purposes as provided in Section 12-44-

50(A)(1)(c) of the Code); (ii) a fixed millage rate equal to the Project Millage Rate, for the entire 

Term of this Agreement; and (iii) an assessment ratio of 6%. All such calculations shall take into 

account all deductions for depreciation or diminution in value allowed by the Code or by the tax 

laws generally, as well as tax exemptions that would have been applicable if such property were 

subject to ad valorem taxes, except the exemption allowed pursuant to Section 3(g) of Article X of 

the Constitution of the State of South Carolina and the exemptions allowed pursuant to Sections 

12-37-220(B)(32) and (34) of the Code. 

(d) With respect to Special Source Revenue Credits: 

(i) Special Source Revenue Credits shall be provided (A) in the amount of ten 

percent (10%) of each annual FILOT Payment for years 1-10. Subject to Section 5.01(d)(ii), 

such Special Source Revenue Credits shall be applied automatically and reflected on each 

year’s property tax bill provided to the Company. 

(ii) As used in Section 5.01(d)(i), “Year 1” shall mean the first year for which 

the first payment of a Negotiated FILOT would be due; provided, however, the Company 

may defer Year 1 and the start of the application of Special Source Revenue Credits by 

delivering notice of such election and indicating the year that the Company desires to be 

“Year 1” to the County no later than thirty (30) days (i.e., September 1) prior to the issuance 



 

PAGE 13 OF 25 

of the property tax bill for the year for which the first payment of the Negotiated FILOT 

would be due. 

(e) The FILOT payments are to be recalculated: 

(i) to reduce such payments in the event the Company or any Co-Investor 

disposes of any part of the Project within the meaning of Section 12-44-50(B) of the Code 

and as provided in Section 4.03 hereof, by the amount applicable to the Released Property;  

(ii) to increase such payments, based on the methodology set forth in Section 

5.01(c) hereof, in the event the Company or any Co-Investor adds property (other than 

Replacement Property) to the Project; or  

(iii) to adjust such payments if the Company or any Co-Investor elects to 

convert any portion of the Project from the Negotiated FILOT to the FILOT required by 

Section 5.01(b)(1) above, as permitted by Section 4.03(a)(iii). 

(f) To the extent permitted by law, because the FILOT Payments agreed to herein are 

intended to be paid by the Company or any Co-Investor to the County in lieu of taxes, it is agreed 

that said FILOT Payments shall not, as to any year, be in any amount greater than what would 

otherwise be payable by the Company or such Co-Investor to the County in property taxes if the 

Company or such Co-Investor had not entered into a fee-in-lieu of taxes arrangement with the 

County (except it is not intended that said FILOT Payments would necessarily be less than such 

property taxes to the extent that the constitutional abatement of property taxes would otherwise 

apply). 

(g) Upon the Company’s or any Co-Investor’s installation of any Replacement 

Property for any portion of the Project removed under Section 4.03 hereof and sold, scrapped, or 

disposed of by the Company or such Co-Investor, such Replacement Property shall become subject 

to Negotiated FILOT Payments to the fullest extent allowed by law, subject to the following rules: 

(i) Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as the 

Economic Development Property it is replacing. Replacement Property is deemed to replace 

the oldest property subject to the FILOT, whether real or personal, which is disposed of in 

the same Property Tax Year as the Replacement Property is placed in service. Replacement 

Property qualifies for Negotiated FILOT Payments up to the original income tax basis of 

the Economic Development Property which it is replacing. More than one piece of property 

can replace a single piece of property. To the extent that the income tax basis of the 

Replacement Property exceeds the original income tax basis of the Economic Development 

Property which it is replacing, the excess amount is subject to payments equal to the ad 

valorem taxes which would have been paid on such property but for this Agreement. 

Replacement property is entitled to the FILOT payment for the period of time remaining on 

the thirty-year FILOT period for the property which it is replacing. 

(ii) The new Replacement Property which qualifies for the Negotiated FILOT 

Payment shall be recorded using its income tax basis, and the Negotiated FILOT Payment 

shall be calculated using the millage rate and assessment ratio provided on the original 

property subject to FILOT payment. 

(h) In the event that the Act or the FILOT or any portion thereof, are declared, by a 

court of competent jurisdiction following allowable appeals, invalid or unenforceable, in whole or 

in part, for any reason, the Company and the County express their intentions that such payments be 



 

PAGE 14 OF 25 

reformed so as to afford the Company the maximum benefit then permitted by law, including, 

without limitation, the benefits afforded under Section 12-44-50 of the Code and, specifically, that 

the Company may, at the Company’s expense, exercise the rights granted by Section 12-44-160 of 

the Code. If the Project is deemed not to be eligible for a Negotiated FILOT pursuant to the Act in 

whole or in part, the Company and the County agree that the Company shall pay an alternate fee-

in-lieu of tax calculated in the manner to provide the Company with comparable treatment of the 

applicable property as would be afforded pursuant to Section 5.01(b). In such event, the Company 

shall be entitled, to the extent permitted by law: (i) to enjoy the five-year exemption from ad 

valorem taxes (or fees in lieu of taxes) provided by Section 3(g) of Article X of the Constitution of 

the State of South Carolina, and any other exemption allowed by law; and (ii) to enjoy all allowable 

depreciation. The Company agrees that if the FILOT Payments or this Agreement is reformed 

pursuant to this subsection (h), that under no circumstance shall the County be required to refund 

or pay any monies to the Company. 

(i) For the Project, this Agreement is automatically terminated in the event that the 

investment in the Project, including but not limited to land, buildings, and personal property 

(including machinery and equipment), by the Company does not exceed Two Million Five Hundred 

Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000.00) by the end of the Investment Period. If terminated pursuant to 

this subsection (i), the Negotiated FILOT Payments shall revert retroactively to payments 

equivalent to what the ad valorem taxes would have been with respect to the property absent this 

Agreement. At the time of termination, the Company shall pay to the County an additional fee equal 

to the difference between the total amount of property taxes that would have been paid by the 

Company had the Project been taxable, taking into account exemptions from property taxes that 

would have been available to the Company, and the total amount of fee payments actually made by 

the Company. This additional amount is subject to interest as provided in Section 12-54-25 of the 

Code. The Company agrees, if the Negotiated FILOT Payments revert to payments equivalent to 

what the ad valorem taxes would be pursuant to this subsection (i), that under no circumstance shall 

the County be required to refund or pay any monies to the Company. 

(j) Unless otherwise provided by the Act, any amounts due to the County under this 

Section 5.01 by virtue of the application of Section 5.01(i) hereof shall be paid within ninety (90) 

days, following written notice thereof from the County to the Company or Co-Investor, as 

applicable. 

(k) With respect to the Investment Commitment: 

(i) In the event that the Company fails to meet the Investment Commitment 

by the end of the Investment Period as provided herein, the Company shall be obligated to 

repay a prorated portion of the Special Source Revenue Credits provided under Section 

5.01(d) hereto that have been previously received by the Company with respect to qualifying 

property, and the amount of Special Source Revenue Credits provided to the Company 

thereafter shall be so reduced with such prorated portion to be calculated by determining the 

achievement percent of the Investment Commitment as of the last day of the Investment 

Period. 

(ii) By way of example but not limitation, if the Company has invested 

$19,845,000 as of the last day of the Investment Period, the Company would have met 90% 

of the Investment Commitment and would be obliged to repay 10% of the Special Source 

Revenue Credits that have been received prior to the last day of the Investment Period, and 

the amount of Special Source Revenue Credits provided to the Company thereafter would 

be reduced by 10%. 



 

PAGE 15 OF 25 

ARTICLE VI 
 

PAYMENTS BY COMPANY 

Section 6.01.  Defaulted Payments. In the event the Company should fail to make any of 

the payments required under this Agreement, the item or installment so in default shall continue as an 

obligation of the Company until the amount in default shall have been fully paid. The Company agrees that 

the collection and enforcement of the defaulted payment shall be as provided in Section 12-44-90 of the 

Code. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

CASUALTY AND CONDEMNATION 

Section 7.01.  Adjustments in the Event of Damage and Destruction or Condemnation. In 

the event that the Project or any portion thereof is damaged or destroyed, lost or stolen, or the subject of 

condemnation proceedings, the Company, in its sole discretion, may determine whether or not to repair or 

replace the same. The parties hereto agree that if the Company decides not to repair or replace all or any 

portion of the Project pursuant to this Section, the FILOT required pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof shall be 

abated in the same manner and in the same proportion as if ad valorem taxes were payable with respect to 

the Project. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

Section 8.01.  Use of Project for Lawful Activities. During the Term of this Agreement, 

the Company shall use the Project for any lawful purpose that is authorized pursuant to the Act. 

Section 8.02.  Assignment. The County agrees that, to the maximum extent allowable 

under the Act (or any amendments thereto), the Company and each other Co-Investor may assign 

(including, without limitation, absolute, collateral, and other assignments) all or a part of its rights or 

obligations under this Agreement, and any lease agreement, lease purchase agreement, or fee agreement, 

as the case may be, or any other agreement related hereto or thereto, or transfer any and all assets of the 

Company or such Co-Investor, to one or more Related Entities (as defined in Section 9.01 below) without 

adversely affecting the benefits of the Company or its assignees pursuant to any such agreement or the Act. 

The Company or such Co-Investor shall provide the County and the Department of Revenue with notice of 

any such assignment, transfer, or investment in accordance with the Act, and the County agrees, upon the 

request of the Company or such Co-Investor, to take all further action necessary to implement such 

assignment, transfer, or investment in accordance with the provisions of the Act. To the extent that the Act 

may require the consent, approval or ratification of or by the County for the assignment of this Agreement, 

in whole or in part, the County agrees to not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its consent, approval 

or ratification and that such consent, approval or ratification may be evidenced by a Resolution of County 

Council. 

Section 8.03.  Indemnification.  

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Company shall indemnify and save 

the County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) 

harmless against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this 

Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under and in accordance with this Agreement 



 

PAGE 16 OF 25 

or the administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 

having entered into this Agreement.  

(b) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Company shall 

reimburse the County for all of its reasonable costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in 

connection with the response to or defense against such liability or claims as described in paragraph 

(a), above. The County shall provide a statement of the costs incurred in the response or defense, 

and the Company shall pay the County within thirty (30) days of receipt of the statement. The 

Company may request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown on the statement. 

However, the County is not required to provide any documentation that may be privileged or 

confidential to evidence the costs. The County shall use reasonable efforts to keep the Company 

informed of all negotiations and potential settlements. The County shall not settle any claim under 

this Section (to the extent the County is otherwise in control of the negotiations and potential 

settlement) without the Company’s consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

(c) The County may request the Company to resist or defend against any claim on 

behalf of an Indemnified Party. On such request, the Company shall resist or defend against such 

claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party, at the Company’s expense. The Company is entitled to 

use counsel of its choice, manage and control the defense of or response to such claim for the 

Indemnified Party; provided the Company is not entitled to settle any such claim without the 

consent of that Indemnified Party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

(d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company is not required to 

indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse any Indemnified Party for costs arising from 

any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated to 

the execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under and in accordance 

with this Agreement, or the administration of its duties under this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue 

of the County having entered into this Agreement; or (ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s 

own violation of law, breach of this Agreement, misrepresentation, negligence, recklessness, bad 

faith, fraud, deceit, or willful misconduct. 

(e) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement 

of costs provided in this Section unless it provides the Company with prompt notice, reasonable 

under the circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without 

limitation, copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or 

threats of claims, in order to afford the Company notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within 

which to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

Section 8.04.  Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates. The Company may designate, from time 

to time, other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the provisions of Sections 12-44-30(19) or (20), 

respectively, and Section 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act, which Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates shall be 

Persons who join with the Company and other Co-Investors and make investments with respect to the 

Project, or who participate in the financing of such investments, who agree to be bound by the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement and who shall be Affiliates of the Company or other Sponsors or Sponsor 

Affiliates, any tenant leasing all or a portion of the Project from the Company or any other existing Sponsor 

or Sponsor Affiliate, or other Persons described in Section 8.02 hereof. All other Sponsors or Sponsor 

Affiliates who otherwise meet the requirements of Section 12-44-30 (19) or (20) and Section 12-44-130 of 

the FILOT Act must be approved by the County in writing. To the extent that the aggregate investment in 

the Project by the end of the Investment Period by all Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates exceeds Five Million 

Dollars ($5,000,000.00) and to the extent permitted by Section 12-44-30(19) of the FILOT Act, all 

investment by such Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates during the Investment Period shall qualify for the 

FILOT pursuant to Section 5.01 of this Agreement (subject to the other conditions set forth therein) 



 

PAGE 17 OF 25 

regardless of whether each such entity invested amounts equal to the Investment Commitment by the end 

of the Investment Period. Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall provide the County and the Department of 

Revenue with written notice of any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate designated pursuant to this Section 

8.04 within ninety (90) days after the end of the calendar year during which any such Sponsor or Sponsor 

Affiliate has placed in service property to be used in connection with the Project, all in accordance with 

Section 12-44-130(B) of the FILOT Act. The parties agree that, if any Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate ceases 

to become party to this Agreement, the Agreement shall continue to remain in effect with respect to any 

remaining Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates. 

ARTICLE IX 

 

FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS; CONVEYANCES; ASSIGNMENTS 

Section 9.01.  Conveyance of Liens and Interests; Assignment. The Company and any 

Co-Investor may at any time: (a) transfer all or any of its rights and interests hereunder or with respect to 

the Project to any Person; or (b) enter into any lending, financing, security, or similar arrangement or 

succession of such arrangements with any financing entity with respect to the Agreement or the Project, 

including without limitation any sale, leaseback, or other financing lease arrangement; provided that, in 

connection with any of the foregoing transfers: (i) except in connection with any transfer to any Affiliate 

of the Company or such Co-Investor (collectively, the “Related Entities”), or transfers pursuant to clause 

(b) above (as to which such transfers the County hereby consents), the Company or such Co-Investor shall 

first obtain the prior written consent or subsequent ratification of the County (such consent or ratification, 

to the extent allowable by law, evidenced by a Resolution of County Council); (ii) except where a financing 

entity, which is the income tax owner of all or part of the Project, is the transferee pursuant to clause (b) 

above and such transferee or financing entity assumes in writing the obligations of the Company or such 

Co-Investor hereunder, or where the County consents in writing (such consent not to be unreasonably 

withheld, conditioned or delayed and, to the extent allowable by law, evidenced by a Resolution of County 

Council), no such transfer shall affect or reduce any of the obligations of the Company or such Co-Investor 

hereunder, but all obligations of the Company hereunder shall continue in full force and effect as the 

obligations of a principal and not of a guarantor or surety; (iii) the Company or the applicable Co-Investor, 

transferee, or financing entity shall, within sixty (60) days thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished to the 

County and the Department of Revenue a true and complete copy of any such transfer agreement; and (iv) 

the Company or the applicable Co-Investor and the transferee shall comply with all other requirements of 

the Transfer Provisions. 

The Company acknowledges that such a transfer of an interest under this Agreement or in the 

Project may cause the Project to become ineligible for a Negotiated FILOT or result in penalties under the 

Act absent compliance by the Company with the Transfer Provisions. 

Section 9.02.  Relative Rights of County and Financing Entities as Secured Parties. The 

parties acknowledge the application of the provisions of Section 12-44-90 of the Act, and that the County’s 

right to receive FILOT Payments hereunder shall be the same as its rights conferred under Title 12, Chapter 

49 and 54, among others, of the Code relating to the collection and enforcement of ad valorem property 

taxes. The County’s rights under this Agreement, except for its rights to receive FILOT revenues, shall be 

subordinate to the rights of any secured party or parties under any financing arrangements undertaken by 

the Company with respect to the Project pursuant to Section 9.01 hereof, such subordination to be effective 

without any additional action on the part of the County; provided, however, that the County hereby agrees, 

at the Company’s expense, to execute such agreements, documents, and instruments as may be reasonably 

required by such secured party or parties to effectuate or document such subordination. 



 

PAGE 18 OF 25 

ARTICLE X 

 

TERM; TERMINATION 

Section 10.01.  Term. Unless sooner terminated pursuant to the terms and provisions 

herein contained, this Agreement shall be and remain in full force and effect for a term commencing on 

the date on which the Company executes this Agreement, and ending at midnight on the last day of the 

Property Tax Year in which the last Negotiated FILOT Payment is due hereunder. This Agreement has a 

term of thirty (30) years, as calculated pursuant to the respective dates when the relevant portions of the 

Project are placed in service, and as discussed in greater detail in this Agreement. The County’s rights to 

receive indemnification and payment of Administration Expenses pursuant hereto shall survive the 

expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

Section 10.02.  Termination.  

(a) The County and the Company may agree to terminate this Agreement at any time. 

(b) The Company may, at its option, terminate this Agreement at any time upon 

providing the County thirty (30) days’ prior written notice of such termination, in which event the 

Project shall be subject to ad valorem taxes from the date of termination.  

(c) In the event that this Agreement is terminated by the operation of this Section 10.02 

at any time during the Investment Period prior to the Company’s meeting the Investment 

Commitment, amounts due to the County as a result thereof shall be calculated as provided in 

Section 5.01(i) hereof. The County’s rights to receive payment for such ad valorem taxes and its 

rights to enforce the terms of this Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE XI 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 11.01.  Events of Default by Company.  

(a) Any one or more of the following events (herein called an “Event of Default”, or 

collectively “Events of Default”) shall constitute an Event of Default by the Company (but solely 

with respect to the defaulting Company): 

(1) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of any FILOT Payments, 

indemnification payments, or Administration Expenses, which default shall not have 

been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt of written notice thereof from the 

County; 

(2) if default shall be made by the Company in the due performance of or compliance 

with any of the terms hereof, including payment, other than those referred to in the 

foregoing paragraph (1), and such default shall continue for ninety (90) days after the 

County shall have given the Company written notice of such default, provided, the 

Company shall have such longer period of time as necessary to cure such default if the 

Company proceeds promptly to cure such default and thereafter to prosecute the curing 

of such default with due diligence; and provided further, that no Event of Default shall 

exist under this paragraph (2) during any period when there is pending, before any 

judicial or administrative tribunal having jurisdiction, any proceeding in which the 

Company has contested the occurrence of such default. 



 

PAGE 19 OF 25 

(b) The failure of the Company or any other Co-Investor to meet the Investment 

Commitment as set forth herein shall not be deemed to be an Event of Default under this 

Agreement, and the County’s sole recourse for such failure to meet the Investment Requirement 

shall be as set forth in Section 5.01(k) hereof.  

Section 11.02.  Remedies on Event of Default by Company. Upon the occurrence and 

continuance of any Event of Default by the Company (and the expiration of any applicable cure periods), 

the County may exercise any of the following remedies, any of which may be exercised at any time during 

the periods permitted under the following clauses: 

(a) terminate this Agreement by delivery of written notice to the Company not less 

than thirty (30) days prior to the termination date specified therein; or 

(b) take whatever action at law or in equity as may appear necessary or desirable to 

collect the amounts then due and thereafter to become due or to enforce observance or performance 

of any covenant, condition, or agreement of the Company under this Agreement. 

Section 11.03.  Default by County. Upon the default of the County in the performance of 

any of its obligations hereunder, the Company may take whatever action at law or in equity as may appear 

necessary or desirable to enforce its rights under this Agreement, including without limitation, a suit for 

mandamus or specific performance.  

ARTICLE XII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 12.01.  Rights and Remedies Cumulative. Each right, power, and remedy of the 

County or of the Company or any other Co-Investor provided for in this Agreement shall be cumulative 

and concurrent and shall be in addition to every other right, power or remedy provided for in this Agreement 

or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity, in any jurisdiction where such rights, powers and remedies 

are sought to be enforced; and the exercise by the County or by the Company or any other Co-Investor of 

any one or more of the rights, powers or remedies provided for in this Agreement or now or hereafter 

existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise 

by the County or by the Company or any other Co-Investor of any or all such other rights, powers or 

remedies. 

Section 12.02.  Successors and Assigns. The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall 

be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns as 

permitted hereunder. 

Section 12.03.  Administration Expenses.   

(a) The Company agrees to reimburse the County from time to time for its 

Administration Expenses promptly upon written request therefor, but in no event later than thirty 

(30) days after receiving the written request from the County (which request shall include a general 

description of the nature of such Administration Expenses). Notwithstanding anything herein to the 

contrary, the Administration Expenses reimbursable to the County pursuant to this Section 12.03 

shall not exceed Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00). 

(b) The Company agrees to reimburse the County from time to time for reasonable 

out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the County for accountants and similar experts used by the 

County in the computation, preparation and verification of the annual FILOT payments as well as 



 

PAGE 20 OF 25 

out-of-pocket reporting and compliance costs incurred by the County as a result of entering into 

this Agreement, in an amount not to exceed Seven Hundred Fifty Dollars ($750.00) per year. Such 

reimbursement shall be made promptly upon written request therefor, but in no event later than 

thirty (30) days after receiving the written request from the County (which request shall include a 

general description of the nature of such expenses).  

Section 12.04.  Rules of Construction. The County and the Company acknowledge and 

agree that each has been represented by legal counsel of its choice throughout the negotiation and drafting 

of this Agreement, that each has participated in the drafting hereof and that this Agreement will not be 

construed in favor of or against either party solely on the basis of such party’s drafting or participation in 

the drafting of any portion of this Agreement. 

Section 12.05.  Notices; Demands; Requests. All notices, demands and requests to be 

given or made hereunder to or by the County or the Company shall be in writing and shall be deemed to be 

properly given or made if sent by United States first class mail, postage prepaid or via facsimile or other 

commonly-used electronic transmission or reputable courier service, addressed as follows or to such other 

persons and places as may be designated in writing by such party. 

(a) As to the County: 

Chester County, South Carolina 

Attn: County Supervisor/Chair, County Council 

1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass 

P.O. Box 580 

Chester, SC 29706 

Telephone: 803-385-5133 

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 

Chester County Attorney 

Attn: Nicole Workman 

1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass 

Chester, SC 29076 

Telephone: (843) 754-6079 

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 

King Kozlarek Root Law LLC 

Attention: Michael Kozlarek 

201 Riverplace, Suite 500 

Greenville, SC 29601 

Telephone: (864) 527-5941 

 

(b) As to each Company: 

Chester Asphalt Terminal LLC  

Attention: _____________  

_____________ 

Telephone: _____________ 

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice): 

DLA Piper LLP US 

Attn: Stephanie Yarbrough 

1251 Avenue of the Americas 

New York, New York 10020 



 

PAGE 21 OF 25 

Phone: (212) 335-4635 

 

Section 12.06.  Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of South Carolina. 

Section 12.07.  Entire Understanding. This Agreement expresses the entire understanding 

and all agreements of the parties hereto with each other with respect to the matters set forth herein involving 

the Project, and neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any representation to 

the other party which is not expressly set forth in this Agreement or in certificates delivered in connection 

with the execution and delivery hereof. 

Section 12.08.  Severability. In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement 

shall be held to be invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of such clause or provision 

shall not affect any of the remaining provisions hereof. 

Section 12.09.  Headings and Table of Contents; References. The headings of the 

Agreement and any Table of Contents annexed hereto are for convenience of reference only and shall not 

define or limit the provisions hereof or affect the meaning or interpretation hereof. All references in this 

Agreement to particular articles or Sections or paragraphs of this Agreement are references to the designated 

articles or Sections or paragraphs of this Agreement. 

Section 12.10.  Multiple Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple 

counterparts, each of which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

Section 12.11.  Amendments. Subject to the limitations set forth in the Act, this 

Agreement may be amended, or the rights and interest of the parties hereunder surrendered, only by a 

writing signed by all parties. The County agrees that, to the extent allowed by law, such amendment may 

be approved by a Resolution of County Council. 

Section 12.12.  Waiver. Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any 

term or condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 12.13.  Force Majeure. The Company and any Co-Investors shall not be 

responsible for any delays or non-performance caused in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by strikes, 

accidents, freight embargoes, labor shortages, fire, floods, inability to obtain materials, war or national 

emergency, acts of God, and any other cause, similar or dissimilar, beyond the Company’s reasonable 

control. 

[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES AND ONE EXHIBIT FOLLOW] 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 
  



 

Signature Page to FILOT and SSRC Incentive Agreement 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused this 

Agreement to be executed in its name and behalf by the Council Chair and to be attested by the Clerk to 

Council; and each Company has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, all 

as of the day and year first above written. 

 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

[SEAL]     By: ________________________________ 

       Name: Pete Wilson 

Title:  Chair of County Council 

 

 

Attest: 

 

__________________________________ 

Name: Kristie Donaldson  

Title:  Clerk to County Council 

 

 

[signatures continue on next page] 

 

 

  



 

Signature Page to FILOT and SSRC Incentive Agreement 

CHESTER ASPHALT TERMINAL LLC 

 

 

By:        

Name:      

Title:       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Description of Land 

 

[TBP]2 

 

 
2 Note to ECF: Please provide a description. 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY COUNCIL FOR CHESTER COUNTY 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-17 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FIRST 
AMENDMENT TO FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE 
AGREEMENT, BY AND AMONG CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
(“COUNTY”), IKO GLASS FIBER INC. (“IKO GLASS”), AND IKO MAT 
TECH INC. (“IKO TECH”), PREVIOUSLY IDENTIFIED AS PROJECT 
PHOENIX22, ACTING FOR THEMSELVES, ONE OR MORE AFFILIATES 
AND/OR OTHER PROJECT SPONSORS (COLLECTIVELY, “COMPANY”), 
PURSUANT TO WHICH THE COMPANY AND THE COUNTY AGREE TO 
CERTAIN AMENDED INCENTIVES AND AMENDED PERFORMANCE 
MEASURES; AND PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, on February 21, 2023, the County enacted Ordinance No. 2023-1, related to Project 
Phoenix22 (“Original Ordinance”); 

WHEREAS, the County and the Company entered a Fee-in-Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement, dated 
as of February 21, 2023 (“Original Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, each capitalized term used, but not defined in this Ordinance, has the meaning ascribed to 
that term, as applicable, in the Original Ordinance or the Original Agreement; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Original Agreement, the Company anticipated investing approximately 
$363,300,000 and creating, or causing to be created, approximately 180 new, full-time equivalent, jobs, and 
committed to investing no less than $327,000,000, and creating, or causing to be created, no less than 162 new, 
full-time equivalent, jobs, all at the Project; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Original Agreement, in addition to other incentives and other consideration, 
the County agreed to provide certain special source revenue credits to the Company in exchange for certain 
performance measures in favor of the County; 

WHEREAS, the Company has represented to the County that the Company now expects to invest no less 
than $500,000,000 and create, or cause to be created, no less than 200 new, full-time equivalent, jobs, all at the 
Project (collectively, “Amended Project”); 

WHEREAS, to encourage the Company to make such additional investment and create, or cause to be 
created, such additional new, full-time equivalent, jobs, the County and the Company intend to agree to amend 
the Original Agreement to provide for certain amended incentives and to provide for certain amended 
performance measures, all as provided in a first amendment to the Original Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, to effect the same, the Company has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting, 
the “First Amendment to the Fee-in-Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement,” the substantially final form of 
which is attached to, and incorporated in, this Ordinance as Exhibit B (“First Amendment”); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council, as follows: 

Section 1. Evaluation of the Project. Based solely on information provided to the County by the Company, 
County Council has evaluated the Amended Project on the following criteria: 

(a) whether the purposes to be accomplished by the Amended Project are proper governmental and
public purposes;

(b) the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment to be made; and

(c) the anticipated costs and benefits to the County.



2 

Section 2. Findings by County Council. Based solely on information provided to the County by the 
Company, the County Council hereby finds that: 

(a) the Amended Project will constitute a “project” within the meaning of the Negotiated FILOT 
Act;  

(b) the Amended Project, and the County’s actions herein, will subserve the purposes of the 
Negotiated FILOT Act;  

(c) the investment by the Company in the Amended Project shall not be less than $500,000,000, 
to be invested within 5 years from the “Commencement Date” as such term is defined in the 
Negotiated FILOT Act; 

(d) the Amended Project will be located entirely within the County; 

(e) the Amended Project will benefit the general public welfare of the State and the County by 
providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided 
locally;  

(f) the Amended Project will not give rise to a pecuniary liability of the County or any 
incorporated municipality nor a charge against its general credit or taxing power of the County or any 
incorporated municipality;  

(g) the purposes to be accomplished by the Amended Project are proper governmental and public 
purposes;  

(h) the inducement of the location of the Amended Project is of paramount importance; and 

(i) the benefits of the Amended Project to the public are greater than the costs to the public. 

Section 3. Approval and Execution of First Amendment. The form, provisions, terms, and conditions of 
the First Amendment, as attached as Exhibit B, and presented to this meeting and filed with the Clerk of Count 
Council be and hereby are approved, and all of the provisions, terms, and conditions thereof are hereby 
incorporated herein by reference as if such First Amendment was set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The 
Chairman of the County Council, the County Administrator, and the Clerk of the County Council be and they 
are hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to execute, acknowledge, and deliver the First Amendment in 
the name and on behalf of the County, and thereupon to cause the First Amendment to be delivered to the 
Company. The First Amendment is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby 
approved, or with such changes therein as are not materially adverse to the County and as are approved by the 
County’s economic development counsel and the officials of the County executing the same, their execution 
thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of any and all changes or revisions therein from the 
form of the First Amendment now before this meeting. 

Section 4. Miscellaneous. 

(a) The Chairman of the County Council, the County Administrator, and all other appropriate officials of 
the County are hereby each authorized, empowered, and directed to execute, deliver, and receive any other 
agreements and documents as may be required by the County in order to carry out, give effect to, consummate 
the transactions authorized by this Ordinance, and do any and all things reasonably necessary and prudent to 
effect the execution and delivery of the First Amendment and the performance of all obligations of the County 
under and pursuant to the First Amendment. 

(b) This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon enactment following the public hearing and 
third reading by the County Council; 

(c) The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any section, phrase, or 
provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, 



3 

such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, phrases, and provisions hereunder; 
and 

(d) All ordinances, including the Original Ordinance, resolutions, orders, policies, and parts thereof in 
conflict herewith are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE AND TWO EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 



4 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:             
Pete Wilson 

[SEAL]          Chairman, County Council 

Attest: 

             
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 

First Reading:  August 18, 2025 
Second Reading:  September 2, 2025 
Public Hearing:  September 15, 2025 
Third Reading:  September 15, 2025 

  



5 

EXHIBIT A 
EXECUTED FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

[DATED FEBRUARY 21, 2023] 







































































6 

EXHIBIT B 
SUBSTANTIALLY FINAL FORM 

OF 
FIRST AMENDMENT 

TO 
FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

FIRST AMENDMENT 
TO 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

This FIRST MENDMENT TO FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 
(“First Amendment”), dated September 15, 2025, is by and among CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA (“County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina 
(“State”), acting by and through the Chester County Council (“County Council”) as the governing body of the 
County, IKO Glass Fiber Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, 
and authorized to conduct business in the State of South Carolina (“IKO Glass”), and IKO Mat Tech Inc., a 
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and authorized to conduct business 
in the State of South Carolina (“IKO Tech,” with IKO Glass, collectively, “Company”). 

WHEREAS, on February 21, 2023, the County enacted Ordinance No. 2023-1, related to Project 
Phoenix22 (“Original Ordinance”); 

WHEREAS, the County and the Company entered a Fee-in-Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement, dated 
as of February 21, 2023 (“Original Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, each capitalized term used, but not defined in this First Amendment, has the meaning ascribed 
to that term, as applicable, in the Original Ordinance or the Original Agreement; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Original Agreement, the Company anticipated investing approximately 
$363,300,000 and creating, or causing to be created, approximately 180 new, full-time equivalent, jobs, and 
committed to investing no less than $327,000,000, and creating, or causing to be created, no less than 162 new, 
full-time equivalent, jobs, all at the Project; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Original Agreement, in addition to other incentives and other consideration, 
the County agreed to provide certain special source revenue credits to the Company in exchange for certain 
performance measures in favor of the County; 

WHEREAS, the Company has represented to the County that the Company now expects to invest no less 
than $500,000,000 and create, or cause to be created, no less than 200 new, full-time equivalent, jobs, all at the 
Project; and 

WHEREAS, to encourage the Company to make such additional investment and create, or cause to be 
created, such additional new, full-time equivalent, jobs, the County and the Company intend to agree to amend 
the Original Agreement to provide for certain amended incentives and to provide for certain amended 
performance measures, all as provided in this First Amendment; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the County and the Company hereby agree as follows: 

Section 1. Amendment to Recitals. The Original Agreement is amended, in the second “WHEREAS” 
recital, by striking “$363,000,000” and replacing it with “$500,000,000” and, further, by striking “180” and 
replacing it with “200.” 

Section 2. Amendment to Definitions. The Original Agreement is amended, in Section 1.01, in the 
definition of “Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement” by striking “$327,000,000” and replacing it with 



7 

“$500,000,000” and, further, in the definition of “Minimum Special Source Credits Job Requirement” by 
striking “162” and replacing it with “200.” 

Section 3. Amendment to Special Source Credits. The Original Agreement is amended, in Section 
3.02 (Special Source Credits), by striking all of subitem (a) and replacing subitem (a) with the following: 

(a) As reimbursement for investment in Special Source Improvements and 
subject to the requirements of the Special Source Act, the County hereby agrees 
that the Company and each other Co-Investor (each, a “Credit Eligible Entity”) 
shall be entitled to receive, and the County shall provide, subject to Section 4.02, 
Special Source Credits against each FILOT Payment due from each such Credit 
Eligible Entity with respect to the Project for a period of ten (10) consecutive tax 
years, commencing with the tax year for which the initial Negotiated FILOT 
payment is due with respect to the Project, in an annual amount equal to fifty-
five percent (55%) of each such year’s FILOT Payments for years one (1) through 
ten (10). The Special Source Credits authorized herein shall not, in the aggregate, 
exceed the aggregate cost of Special Source Improvements funded from time to 
time in connection with the Project by the Company and all other Credit Eligible 
Entities. In no event shall the aggregate amount of any annual Special Source 
Credits available to the Company and/or all Sponsor Affiliates exceed the amount 
of the then-current, annual FILOT Payment. 

Section 4. Amendment to Satisfy to Meet Certain Requirements. The Original Agreement is 
amended, in Section 4.02 (Failure to Satisfy Minimum Special Source Credit Requirements), by striking all after 
the subheading of Section 4.02 and inserting therein the following: 

If the Company does not meet either the Minimum Special Source Credits 
Jobs Requirement or the Minimum Contract Investment Requirement by the 
end of the Compliance Period, without extension, then (a) this Section 4.02 
shall automatically, without further action of either party, revert to Section 
4.02 as contained in the Original Agreement (prior to this First Amendment) 
as if such Section 4.02 had never been amended and such reversion shall be 
effective retroactively to and after February 21, 2023 (“Original Section 
4.02”), and (b) in addition to any, if any, “Repayment Amount” due under 
the Original Section 4.02, the Company shall repay to the County 100% of 
the difference between a Special Source Credit of FILOT Payments for each 
year six through 10, calculated using 25% in place of 55% for years six 
through 10. 

Any payment made under this Section 4.02, shall be due no more than 15 
days after the date after which ad valorem taxes become delinquent and shall 
be treated as a FILOT Payment under this Agreement and shall be subject to 
statutory interest if not paid when due pursuant to Section 12-54-25 of the 
Code, as allowed under the FILOT Act. 

Section 5. Amendment to Administrative Fees. The Original Agreement is amended, in Section 4.03 
(Payment of Administration Expenses), by striking “7,500” and replacing it with “12,500.” 

Section 6. Confirmation and Continuation of Original Agreement. Except as amended by this First 
Amendment, the Original Agreement otherwise remains in full force and effect and is deemed to include the 
amendments made by this First Amendment. 

Section 7. Multiple Counterparts. This First Amendment may be executed in multiple counterparts, 
each of which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

[ONE SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 



8 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, IKO GLASS FIBER 
INC., and IKO MAT TECH INC., each pursuant to due authority, have duly executed this First Amendment 
to Fee-in-Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement, all as of the date first above written. 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:             
Pete Wilson 

[SEAL]          Chairman, County Council 

Attest: 

             
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 

IKO GLASS FIBER INC. 

By:             

Name:           

Its:            

IKO MAT TECH INC. 

By:             

Name:           

Its:            



 

PAGE 1 OF 3 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-18 

TO REPEAL THE COUNTY’S LAND DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATIONS, ENACTEED DECEMBER 11, 2002, AS 
SUBSEQUNELTY AMENDED, AND REPLACE THE SAME BY 
ENACTING CHAPTER 2: SUBDIVISION AND LAND 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS, OF THE COUNTY’S 
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE; AND TO PROVIDE 
FOR OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, the County, by and through its County Council, is authorized and empowered to provide for 
the County’s internal operation according to South Carolina Constitution Article VIII, section 17, and the 
Home Rule Act of 1975, including section 4-9-10, et seq. of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended; 

WHEREAS, on or about December 11, 2002, the County enacted its Land Development Regulations, as 
subsequently amended (collectively, “LDR”), which provides for regulation of various matters related to land 
development; and 

WHEREAS, the County Council desires to provide for the repeal of the County’s LDR, and the County 
LDR’s replacement by Chapter 2: Subdivision and Land Development Regulations, of the County Unified 
Development Ordinance as Sections 2.1, through and including 2.10, including all subsections and subitems, 
as contained in Exhibit A. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Council ordains that the County’s LDR, be and is hereby repealed, and is 
replaced by Chapter 2: Subdivision and Land Development Regulations, of the County Unified Development 
Ordinance as Sections 2.1, through and including 2.10, including all subsections and subitems, as contained in 
Exhibit A. 

Section 1. Repealer. Each ordinance, resolution, regulation, order, or other directive of the County, and 
each part of the same, in conflict with this Ordinance, is, to the extent of that conflict, repealed, and replaced 
by this Ordinance. 

Section 2. Codification. The County shall codify the contents of this Ordinance as Chapter 2: Subdivision 

and Land Development Regulations, of the County Unified Development Ordinance as Sections 2.1, through 

and including 2.10, including all subsections and subitems, or as otherwise appropriately numbered, online as 

soon as practicable and in print as part of the County’s next, regular, re-codification. 

Section 3. Rights Reserved to County. This Ordinance does not vest any rests in any person or entity, 
and the County reserves the right to repeal or amend this Ordinance and other portions of the County Code, 
at any time, from time to time, as often as the County, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. 

Section 4. Savings Clause. Nothing in this Ordinance abrogates, diminishes, or otherwise alters any 
matter that arose under the County’s LDR then-existing prior to the enactment of this Ordinance and any 
matter that so arose shall be administered according to such provisions as they existed prior to the enactment 
of this Ordinance. 

Section 5. Severability. If any part of this Ordinances is unenforceable for any reason, then the remainder 
of this Ordinance remains in full force and effect. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 

  



 

PAGE 2 OF 3 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:               
Pete Wilson 

[SEAL]          Chairman, County Council 

 

Attest: 

              
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 

First Reading:  August 18, 2025 
Second Reading:  September 2, 2025 
Public Hearing:  September 15, 2025 
Third Reading:   September 15, 2025 

  



PAGE 3 OF 3 

EXHIBIT A 
CHAPTER 2: SUBDIVISION AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

OF THE 
CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 



1 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

Table of Contents  
 

SUBDIVISION AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS ___________________________________ 3 
2.1 PURPOSE AND INTENT _____________________________________________________________________ 3 
2.2 AUTHORITY _____________________________________________________________________________ 4 
2.3 LEGAL PROVISIONS _______________________________________________________________________ 5 

2.3.1 Interpretation __________________________________________________________________________ 5 
2.3.2 Severability ___________________________________________________________________________ 5 
2.3.3 Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances _____________________________________________________________ 5 
2.3.4 Conflict with Other Laws, Ordinances, or Regulations _______________________________________________ 5 
2.3.5 Jurisdiction ___________________________________________________________________________ 5 
2.3.6 Variance of Requirements _________________________________________________________________ 5 
2.3.7 Amendments __________________________________________________________________________ 5 

2.4 DEFINITIONS ____________________________________________________________________________ 6 
2.4.1 Usage of Terms ________________________________________________________________________ 6 
2.4.2 Definitions ___________________________________________________________________________ 6 

2.5 GENERAL PROCEDURE ___________________________________________________________________ 13 
2.5.1 Exceptions to Subdivision Code _____________________________________________________________ 13 
2.5.2 Procedure by Type of Subdivision or Development _________________________________________________ 13 
2.5.3 Pre-Application Meeting _________________________________________________________________ 15 
2.5.4 Sketch Plan __________________________________________________________________________ 15 
2.5.5 Preliminary Plat _______________________________________________________________________ 16 
2.5.6 Construction Bonds _____________________________________________________________________ 18 
2.5.7 Final Plat - Application _________________________________________________________________ 19 
2.5.8 Final Plat – Process ____________________________________________________________________ 21 
2.5.9 Process Variations for Conservation Subdivisions _________________________________________________ 22 
2.5.10 Appeal of Administrative Action ___________________________________________________________ 23 
2.5.11 Flood Plain Provisions __________________________________________________________________ 23 
2.5.13 Surveying and Marking Standards __________________________________________________________ 23 
2.5.14 Waiting Period for New Subdivisions ________________________________________________________ 24 

2.6 INFRASTRUCTURE STANDARDS ______________________________________________________________ 25 
2.6.1 General Notes on Infrastructure Standards _____________________________________________________ 25 
2.6.2 Naming and Entry Sign _________________________________________________________________ 26 
2.6.3 Internal Access Streets ___________________________________________________________________ 26 
2.6.4 Shared Driveways and Private Minor Streets ____________________________________________________ 27 
2.6.5 Paved Streets _________________________________________________________________________ 28 
2.6.6 Sidewalks ___________________________________________________________________________ 29 
2.6.7 Stormwater Management _________________________________________________________________ 29 
2.6.8 Underground Wiring ____________________________________________________________________ 30 
2.6.9 Street Lighting ________________________________________________________________________ 30 
2.6.10 Amenity Improvements__________________________________________________________________ 30 
2.6.11 Other Infrastructure Standards ____________________________________________________________ 31 

2.7 DESIGN STANDARDS _____________________________________________________________________ 33 
2.7.1 General Notes on Design Standards __________________________________________________________ 33 
2.7.2 Modifications of Design Standards ___________________________________________________________ 33 
2.7.3 Open Space __________________________________________________________________________ 34 
2.7.4 Road Frontage Buffer ___________________________________________________________________ 35 
2.7.5 Waterway Buffer ______________________________________________________________________ 36 
2.7.6 Street Trees __________________________________________________________________________ 36 
2.7.7 Architectural Standards __________________________________________________________________ 37 



2 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

2.7.8 Off-Street Parking _____________________________________________________________________ 39 
2.7.9 Reservation of Public Sites ________________________________________________________________ 39 
2.7.10 Block Standards ______________________________________________________________________ 39 
2.7.11 Street Design Standards _________________________________________________________________ 39 
2.7.12 Conservation Subdivision Design Standards ____________________________________________________ 42 

2.8 LOT STANDARDS ________________________________________________________________________ 44 
2.8.1 General Requirements ___________________________________________________________________ 44 
2.8.7 Flag Lots ___________________________________________________________________________ 45 
2.8.8 Water Bodies and Watercourses _____________________________________________________________ 45 

2.9 MISCELLANEOUS REQUIREMENTS ___________________________________________________________ 46 
2.9.1 Erosion Control _______________________________________________________________________ 46 
2.9.2 Easements ___________________________________________________________________________ 46 
2.9.3 Manufactured Homes and Manufactured Home Parks ______________________________________________ 46 
2.9.4 Cemeteries ___________________________________________________________________________ 46 
2.9.5 Transfer of Title _______________________________________________________________________ 47 
2.9.6 Monuments __________________________________________________________________________ 47 

2.10 VIOLATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT __________________________________________________________ 48 
2.10.1 General ____________________________________________________________________________ 48 
2.10.2 Enforcement _________________________________________________________________________ 48 
2.10.3 Violations by a Developer ________________________________________________________________ 48 
2.10.4 Violations by Recording Official ___________________________________________________________ 49 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                       September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

SUBDIVISION AND LAND 
DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATIONS 
 

 Chapter 2 

 

 

2.1 Purpose and Intent 

 

 

The purpose of this Chapter of the Chester County Unified 
Development Ordinances is to enforce community standards and 
guidelines for the design and creation of new subdivided 
developments within unincorporated Chester County.  

 

The ordinances expressed in this chapter are intended to align and 
support the values of the county as expressed in our 
Comprehensive Plan. Adherence to that plan and its key values 
means that each new subdivision should align with the county’s 
values, including but not limited to: 

 

▪ Preserving our history, tradition, and uniqueness; 

▪ Supporting economic opportunity and growth; 

▪ Protecting our rural way of life; 

▪ Utilizing our resources and infrastructure efficiently; 

▪ Stewarding our environment; 

▪ Cultivating public safety; and, 

▪ Respecting the values of our citizens. 
 

Furthermore, the development regulations contained herein seek 
to align with the expressed goals of the State of South Carolina 
for zoning ordinances: namely, the wise and efficient use of public 
funds, the future growth, development, and redevelopment of the 
county, and the consideration of the fiscal impact on property 
owners, as specified in S.C. Code § 6-29-510(E). 

 

 

2 

3| Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5 



4 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.2 Authority 

 

The development regulations contained herein are adopted under the delegated authority and to 
achieve the stated purposes for land development regulation of the South Carolina Local Government 
Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, S.C. Code § 6-29-310 et seq., namely: 

The public health, safety, economy, good order, appearance, convenience, morals, and general 
welfare require the harmonious, orderly, and progressive development of land within the 
municipalities and counties of the State. In furtherance of this general intent, the regulation of 
land development by municipalities, counties, or consolidated political subdivisions is authorized 
for the following purposes, among others: 

  (1) to encourage the development of economically sound and stable municipalities and counties; 

(2) to assure the timely provision of required streets, utilities, and other facilities and services to 
new land developments; 

(3) to assure the adequate provision of safe and convenient traffic access and circulation, both 
vehicular and pedestrian, in and through new land developments; 

(4) to assure the provision of needed public open spaces and building sites in new land 
developments through the dedication or reservation of land for recreational, educational, 
transportation, and other public purposes; and 

(5) to assure, in general, the wise and timely development of new areas, and redevelopment of 
previously developed areas in harmony with the comprehensive plans of municipalities and 
counties. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 2:  Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-2:        Authority                                   Chester County, South Carolina 

 



5 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.3 Legal Provisions 
 
2.3.1 Interpretation 

The regulations expressed in this document shall be considered as the minimum provisions for the 
protection of the health, safety, economy, good order, appearance, convenience, and welfare of the 
general public. They shall be construed to achieve these and the other stated purposes for which they 
were adopted, and all interpretations shall be guided by that intent. 
 
2.3.2 Severability 

Should any section, provision, or application of this Ordinance be declared by the courts to be 
unconstitutional or invalid, such a declaration shall not affect the ordinance as a whole, the intent of 
the relevant section, or any other part thereof, other than the part, provision, or application so 
declared to be unconstitutional or invalid. 
 
2.3.3 Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with any of the provisions of this Ordinance are 
hereby repealed. 
 
2.3.4 Conflict with Other Laws, Ordinances, or Regulations 

Whenever these regulations impose higher standards than are required in any statute or local ordinance 
or regulation, the provisions of these regulations shall govern.  Whenever the provisions of any other 
statute or local ordinance or regulation impose higher standards than are required by these regulations, 
the provisions of such statute or local ordinance or regulation shall apply. 
 
2.3.5 Jurisdiction 

The regulations contained herein shall apply to all subdivision and resulting development of land 
within the unincorporated area of Chester County.  
 
2.3.6 Variance of Requirements 

When, due to the peculiar shape or topography of a tract of land or other unusual conditions, it is 
impractical for a developer to comply with the literal interpretation of the design standards of this 
article, the Planning Commission (or staff, for minor subdivisions) shall be authorized but not required 
to slightly vary those requirements provided the intent and purposes of these regulations are not 
violated. In addition, the Zoning Board of Appeals may consider a variance request to allow more 
houses in a minor subdivision only than would normally be accepted, such as six (6) houses in a minor 
subdivision, with preference given to subdivisions of land for related family members, as well as up to 
five (5) more houses in a medium subdivision with lots one and half acres (1.5) acres or more than 
would otherwise be permitted. 
 
2.3.7 Amendments 

The Chester County Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on any proposed amendment 
to these regulations, notice of which shall be given not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the hearing 
date. The notice of hearing shall be made in a newspaper of general distribution in Chester County 
and at least one alternate format.  Amendments shall be adopted by vote of the County Council. 

Chapter 2:  Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-3:        Legal Provisions                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 



6 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.4 Definitions 

2.4.1 Usage of Terms 

A. Except as defined herein, all other words used by this ordinance shall be evaluated for 

meaning based on their commonly-understood meaning as determined by a dictionary 

definition. 

B. Unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, words used in the present tense 

include the future tense: words used in the plural number include the singular: the word 

"herein" means “in these regulations"; the word “regulations" means "these regulations". 

C. Words used in the singular number include the plural and words used in the plural 

include the singular. 

D. A "person" includes a corporation, a partnership, and an incorporated association of 

persons such as a club; "shall,” “must,” and “will” are always mandatory and convey an 

obligation to comply with the particular regulation; "may" is discretionary; “should,” 

whether used in the positive or the negative, is a suggested guideline; "used" or 

"occupied" as applied to any land or building shall be construed to include the words 

"intended, arranged, or designed to be used or occupied". 

2.4.2 Definitions 

For the purpose of these regulations, the following words and terms are defined as follows: 

Applicant: The owner of land proposed to be subdivided or his representative. 

Block: A tract of land bounded by streets, or by a combination of streets and public parks, cemeteries, 
railroad rights-of-way, shorelines of waterways, or boundary lines of municipalities or counties. 

Bond: Any form of security including a cash deposit, surety bond, collateral property, or instrument 
of credit in an amount and form satisfactory to the County.  A bond can be a performance bond, 
surety bond, or an irrevocable letter of credit. All types of security as specified above may be hereafter 
referred to as “construction bonds” in these ordinances for the sake of simplicity. 

Building: Any structure built for the support, shelter, or enclosure of persons, animals, or movable 
property of any kind. 

Building Line: A line beyond which no foundation wall or part of the structure of any building shall 
project, with the exception of roof overhang and the subsurface projection of footings. 

Clubhouse: A facility with a minimum floor area of 1,500 square feet offering services to residents 
that are customary to a club, including but not limited to swimming, indoor recreation, a 
gymnasium, a restaurant, indoor pet boarding, or other services as determined by the Planning 
Commission. 

Crosswalk: A right-of-way within a block dedicated to public use, intended primarily for pedestrian 
use designed to provide access to adjacent roads or properties. 

Developer: The owner or owners (or their representative) of a lot or of any land included in a 
proposed development.  Also, the holder of an option or contract to purchase, or any other person 
having enforceable proprietary interest in such land. 

 

Chapter 2:  Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-4:        Definitions                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



7 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

Dog Park: A recreation area for dogs, bounded by a durable fence of at least four (4) feet in height 
and containing at least one bench. The required size shall vary with the size of the development, with 
a baseline minimum size of 5,000 square feet for medium subdivisions. 

Driveway: A vehicular access point leading from a street directly to a dwelling unit. Shared driveways 
are permitted but may not be shared by more than two dwelling units. 

Easement: A right-of-way granted, but not dedicated, for limited use of private land for a public or 
quasi-public purpose and within which the owner of the property shall not erect any permanent 
structures. 

Final Plat or Plan: The final map of all or a portion of a subdivision that is presented for final 
approval.  

Flood: A general and temporary condition of partial or complete water coverage of normally dry land 
area by the accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source. 

Floodplain: Land area adjoining a river, stream or water course which is subject to a one percent or 
greater chance of flooding in any given year, which area is more specifically established by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency in its Flood Insurance Study for Chester County dated July 5, 1982. 

Floodway: The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land area that must be 
reserved in order to discharge the 100-year flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface 
elevation more than one foot at any point. 

Frontage: That side of a lot abutting on a street or way ordinarily regarded as the front of the lot, but 
it shall not be considered as the ordinary side of a corner lot. 

Grade: The slope of a road, street, or other public way, sewer line or storm drain specified in 
percentage (%) terms from the horizontal. 

Group Development: The development of a tract or parcel of land into two or more building sites 
for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of building development.  Group developments can 
either include: 

A. housing developments, consisting of any structure containing more than four dwelling units 
on the first-floor level or containing more than eight dwelling units throughout, such as 
apartment complexes, hotels or motels, and manufactured home parks; or,  

B. commercial developments, such as office parks, shopping centers or other commercial 
structures or complexes containing two or more business establishments, where the site is not 
subdivided into lots or public streets installed but includes two or more building sites.  

Individual Sewage Disposal System: A septic tank, seepage tile sewage disposal system, or any 
other approved sewage treatment device. 

Land Development: A change in land characteristics through redevelopment, construction, 
subdivision into parcels, condominium complexes, apartment complexes, commercial parks, shopping 
centers, manufactured home parks or similar developments for sale, lease or any combination of 
owner and rental characteristics. 

Lot: The basic development unit - an area with fixed boundaries, used or intended to be used by one 
building and its accessory building(s) and not divided by any public highway or alley. 

Lot Area: Means the total area of the lot including easements. 

Lot, Corner: A lot situated at the intersection of two (2) streets.  

Chapter 2:  Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-4:        Definitions                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



8 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

Lot Depth: The mean horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines. 

Lot, Double Frontage: A lot having frontage and access of two or more public streets. A corner lot 
shall not be considered having double frontage unless it has frontage and access on three or more 
streets.  

Lot, Flag: A lot with access provided to the bulk of the lot by means of a narrow corridor which 
must be 50’ or more in width, connected to a public road. An interior lot with access given via 
easement is not considered a flag lot. 

Lot Improvement: Any building structures place, work of art, or other object, or improvement of 
the land on which they are situated constituting a physical betterment of real property, or any part of 
such betterment.  

Lot, Interior: A lot other than a corner lot. 

Lot, Reversed Frontage: A lot having frontage on two or more public streets, the access of which is 
restricted to one street.  

Lot Width: The main horizontal distance between the side lot lines of a lot measured at right angles 
to the depth, or the same distance measured at a point midway between the front lot line and the rear 
lot line, or at the rear line of the required front yard. (building line), especially on irregularly shaped 
lots.  

Low Impact Development (LID): Refers to systems and practices that use or mimic natural 
processes that result in the infiltration, evapotranspiration or use of stormwater in order to protect 
water quality and associated aquatic habitat. 

Ordinance:  Any legislative action, however denominated, of a local government, which has the force 
of law, including any amendment of repeal of any ordinance. 

Owner:  Any person, group of persons, firm or firms, corporation or corporations, or any other legal 
entity having legal title to or sufficient proprietary interest in the land sought to be developed under 
these regulations. 

Parking, Off-Street: An area adequate for parking an automobile with room for opening doors on 
both sides, together with properly related access to a public street arranged so that no maneuvering 
incidental to parking shall be on any public street and so that an automobile may be parked or moved 
therein without moving any other automobiles. 

Pavilion or picnic area: An unenclosed, covered area that includes a grill or other outdoor cooking 
apparatus and at least two picnic tables, with pedestrian connection to the internal sidewalk system 
of the subdivision. 

Planning Commission: The Chester County Planning Commission, abbreviated as “PC”. 

Planned Development: A development that complies with the permitted uses of a Planned 
Development Zoning District as set forth in §4-130 of the Chester County Zoning Ordinances. 

Planning Director: The staff person duly designated to act on behalf of the Planning Commission 
in the administration of this ordinance, interpreted to be the Planning and Development Director, 
his or her designee, or the organizational equivalent. 

 

Chapter 2:  Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-4:        Definitions                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



9 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

Playground: An area for active play and recreation for children, with a minimum area of 2,500 square 
feet, with appropriate equipment such as swing sets and slides, with pedestrian connection to the 
internal sidewalk system of the subdivision. 

Preliminary Plat or Plan: The preliminary drawing or drawings, described in these regulations, 
indicating the proposed manner or layout of the subdivision to be submitted to the Planning 
Commission for approval. 

Private Road: A road is private unless its right-of-way has been dedicated to and accepted by the 
state or the governing authority of Chester County.  See § 2-6 for infrastructure standards. 

Public Improvement: Any drainage ditch, roadway, parkway, sidewalk pedestrian way, tree, lawn, 
off-street parking area, lot improvement, or other facility for which the local government may 
ultimately assume the responsibility for maintenance and operation, or which may affect an 
improvement for which local government responsibility is established. 

Registered Engineer: An engineer properly licensed and registered in the State of South Carolina. 

Registered Land Surveyor: A land surveyor properly licensed and registered in the State of South 
Carolina. 

Reserve Strip: A strip of land adjacent to a property line, public street or similar right-of-way which 
has been reserved for the purpose of controlling access to the public way.  

Re-subdivision: A change in a map of any approved or recorded subdivision plat if such change 
affects any street layout on such map or area reserved there for public use, or any lot line, or if it 
affects any map or plan legally recorded prior to the adoption of any regulations controlling 
subdivisions. 

Right-of-Way:  A strip of land occupied or intended to be occupied by a street, crosswalk, railroad, 
road, electric transmission line, oil or gas pipeline, water main, sanitary or storm sewer main, shade 
trees, or for any other special use.  The usage of the term "right-of-way" for land platting purposes 
shall mean that every right-of-way hereafter established and shown on a final plat is to be separate and 
distinct from the lots or parcels adjoining such right-of-way and not included within the dimensions 
or areas of such lots or parcels.  Rights-of-way intended for streets, crosswalks, water mains, sanitary 
sewers, storm drains, shade trees or any other use involving maintenance by a public agency shall be 
dedicated to public use by the maker of the plat on which such right-of-way is established. 

Sale or Lease: Any immediate or future transfer of ownership, on any possessor interest in land, 
including contract of sale, lease, devise, intestate succession, or other written instrument. 

Setback: The required distance between a structure and the lot lines on lot in which it is located.  Lot 
lines can be the property lines or the edge of a street right-of-way. 

Screening: Shrubs, trees, an opaque wall, barrier or fence as required by the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 

Sketch Plan or Site Plan:  A sketch plan or plat is a generalized map prepared by the developer that 
shows the development concept.  Its purpose is to serve as a basis for discussion without either the 
planning commission or the developer making commitments.  This phase of the subdivision process 
precedes the preparation of the preliminary plat or plan (or final plat in the case of minor subdivisions). 

 

 

 

Chapter 2:  Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-4:        Definitions                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



10 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

Sports Field: A graded field or other area dedicated to outdoor sports, including football, soccer, a 
9-hole golf course, an 18-hole disc golf course, baseball, or at least two (2) tennis, basketball, or 
pickleball courts. In certain cases, a graded, central common or community green may be allowed. 

Streets: The word means, relates to, and includes the entire right-of-way of streets, avenues, 
boulevards, roads, highway, freeways, lanes, alleys, courts, thoroughfares, collectors, minor streets, 
cul-de-sacs, and other ways. 

Street Classifications: Streets may be classified as follows: 

A. Alley: a public or private right-of-way primarily designed to serve as secondary access to the 
side or rear of those properties whose principal frontage is on some other street. 

B. Arterial (Major Thoroughfare): A freeway, expressway, road or highway which is used or 
intended to be used for moving either heavy vehicular traffic volumes or high-speed traffic, 
or both, or which was designated as a major thoroughfare in the Comprehensive Plan. 

C. Collector: A road which is used or intended to be used for moving traffic from minor streets 
to major thoroughfares, including the principal entrance and circulation street or streets of a 
development.  Types of collector roads include: 
A. Commercial or Industrial – a collector road that serves a minor commercial or industrial road. 
B. Rural Residential – a collector road which serves only minor rural residential lots which meet 
the lot size requirements of a minor residential road. 
C. Urban Residential - collector road which serves minor urban residential roads. 

D. Local (Minor Street): A road that is used or intended to be used to provide access to other 
roads from individual properties.  Unless as provided hereafter, all new local streets in the 
county shall be privately owned and maintained. Types of minor roads include: 
A. Commercial or Industrial – minor street serving commercial or industrial uses; 
B. Cul-de-sac – minor street with only one outlet and having an appropriate terminal for the 
safe and convenient reversal of traffic movement. 
C. Marginal Access – minor street located parallel and adjacent to a limited access street or 
highway which provide access to abutting properties and protection from through traffic; 
D. Local Residential – a minor street of any design, such as a cul-de-sac or marginal access 
street, that serves residential lots, and which for minor subdivisions is allowed to be 
constructed of gravel according to the specifications of the County; 
E. Private Minor Street - A private street is not dedicated to or accepted by the County for 
maintenance, and shall be improved to the standards for either gravel or paved streets, 
depending on the allowed material for the classification of subdivision. 

Street Perimeter: Any existing street to which the parcel of land to be subdivided abuts one (1) 
side. 

Subdivider: Any person who (1) having an interest in land, causes it, directly or indirectly to be divided 
into a subdivision or who (2) directly or indirectly, sells, leases, or develops or offers to sell, lease, or 
develop, or advertises for sale, lease, or development, any interest, lot, parcel site, unit, or plat in a 
subdivision, or who (3) engages directly or through an agent, in the business of selling, leasing, 
developing, or offering for sale, lease, or development, a subdivision or any interest, lot, parcel site, 
unit, or plat in a subdivision, and who (4) is directly or indirectly controlled by, or under direct or 
indirect common control with any of the foregoing. 

 

 

Chapter 2:  Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-4:        Definitions                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



11 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

Subdivision: The division of a tract or parcel of land into two (2) or more recordable building lots.  
The land is subdivided for sale, lease or building development, whether immediately or in the future.  
The definition includes all land divisions involving a new road or change in existing roads.  It includes 
re-subdivisions involving the further division or relocation of lot lines of any lot or lots within a 
previously approved or recorded subdivision.  The definition covers the alteration of any streets or 
the establishment of any new roads within any previously approved or recorded subdivision as well as 
combinations of lots of record, with the exceptions noted in Section 2.5.1. 

Subdivision Types: 

A. Non-residential Subdivision: A subdivision whose intended use is other than residential, 
such as commercial; but excluding industrial land. Such subdivision shall comply with 
the applicable provisions of these regulations. 

B. Residential Subdivision: All divisions of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, 
building sites, or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, 
legacy, or residential building development, and includes all divisions of land involving 
a new street or a change in existing streets, and included re-subdivision. A residential 
subdivision plan fits into one of four size categories: a minor subdivision, medium 
subdivision, major subdivision, or mega subdivision, and can take the form of a 
traditional subdivision or a conservation subdivision. 

C. Build-To-Rent Development: Any residential development or subdivision, excluding 
individual and minor subdivisions, where more than 25% of the dwelling units will be 
held by a single owner or entity and rented to tenants. Build-to-rent developments of 
any residential subdivision, planned development, or residential group development 
(except for multi-family buildings, campgrounds, townhouses, and manufactured 
home parks) are prohibited in Chester County.  

D. Individual Subdivision: Any residential subdivision that creates only one new lot, building 
sites, or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, legacy, 
or residential building development. 

E. Minor Subdivision: Any residential subdivision consisting of between two and five lots, 
building sites, or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, 
legacy, or residential building development.  

F. Medium Subdivision: Any residential subdivision with between six and forty lots, building 
sites, or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, legacy, 
or residential building development. 

G. Major Subdivision: Any residential subdivision consisting of between forty-one and two 
hundred lots, building sites, or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or 
future, of sale, legacy, or residential building development. 

H. Mega Subdivision: Any residential subdivision consisting of more than two hundred lots, 
building sites, or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, 
legacy, or residential building development. 

I. Conservation Subdivision: A residential subdivision where either 33% or 55% or more of 
the developable land area is permanently and legally preserved as undivided open space 
or for agricultural purposes; thereby permanently protecting agriculturally, 
environmentally, or historically significant land within the parcel. The remaining 
developable land is subdivided into buildable lots. A conservation subdivision can be  
 
 

Chapter 2:  Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-4:        Definitions                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



12 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 
a medium, major, or mega subdivision in size, and is classified as either an urban or 
rural conservation subdivision. Because land protection for scenic, environmental, or 
agricultural purposes advances the values of the County as expressed in the 
Comprehensive Plan, certain development incentives including a density bonus are 
available for conservation subdivisions. Conservation subdivisions shall be allowed in 
the zoning districts and at the density permitted by the Chester County Zoning 
Ordinance. 

Swimming pool with cabana: An outdoor swimming pool of adequate size for its likely usage, with 
a small, open air structure including restrooms, seating, and storage for users of the pool. 

Walking Trail: A trail at least four (4) feet in width constructed for the pedestrian access of the 
residents of durable design, whether pervious or impervious in nature, with shared or independent 
access by all residents. The trail should be constructed of wood chips, gravel, asphalt, concrete, or 
some other durable material when in open space, and can be a cleared trail when in woods. The 
required distance shall vary with the size of the development, with a baseline minimum distance of 
0.25 miles for medium subdivisions. 

UDO: The Unified Development Ordinances of Chester County, South Carolina. 

Use: The purpose or activity for which a piece of land or its buildings is designed, arranged, or 
intended, or for which it is occupied or maintained. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-4:       Definitions                                       Chester County, South Carolina 

 



13 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.5 General Procedure 

 
2.5.1 Exceptions to Subdivision Code 

The following subdivisions qualify as exceptions under S.C. Code § 6-29-1110 or the policies of 
Chester County and are included within this definition only for the purpose of requiring that the local 
planning agency be informed and have a record of the subdivisions. 

A. Combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots where the total 
number of lots is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to the zoning ordinance 
standards. 

B. Dividing land into parcels of five acres or more where no new street is involved.  The 
Planning Director must receive plats of these exceptions as information and indicate the 
exception on the plats. 

C. Combining or recombining entire lots of record where no new street or change in existing 
streets is involved. 

D. A plat containing the statement “No new lots or property lines established” certified by a 
registered land surveyor may be recorded without undergoing any further step outlined 
herein. 

E. Individual subdivisions, whereby a single parcel is subdivided to create two parcels, are 
exempt from the review process, infrastructure standards, and design standards described 
herein unless specifically mentioned. Instead, an individual subdivision is required to 
submit the proposed survey to the county to assess compliance with county ordinances, 
such as minimum lot size, setback, and driveway or easement requirements, as well as state 
standards. If it meets these requirements and all other requirements that may be listed 
herein, it shall be considered approved and processed as such.  In addition, individual 
subdivisions must abide by the waiting period on multiple subdivisions as described in 
Section 2.5.12. 

F. Any division of land to heirs through the estate or trust settlement process, if falling under 
the exception described in Section 2.5.1(B) above, shall not be required to install new 
infrastructure or internal roads provided there is adequate existing road frontage until a 
point at which future subdivision occurs.  

2.5.2 Procedure by Type of Subdivision or Development 

Whenever any subdivision or development of land falls into the categories listed in Table 2.1, the 
owner, or his authorized agent, shall apply for and secure approval of such proposed subdivision in 
accordance with the following review process before any deed transfer of any part thereof and before 
any permit for the erection of a structure in such proposed subdivision shall be granted, with the 
exception for individual subdivisions as noted in Section 2.5.1. Although each subdivision must 
undergo review by one or more entities of Chester County to ensure compliance with this ordinance, 
the intensity of review and development standards vary depending on the classification. 

For all developments of 8 lots or more, adjacent landowners must be notified by mail by the County 
fifteen (15) days prior to the first meeting of Planning Commission. 

The development review process, as described in Table 2.2, is the requirement from Chester County 
alone and does not include any needed coordination with outside entities, such as state agencies or 
utility providers. It is the responsibility of the developer to meet the requirements of such entities. 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



14 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

Table 2.1 

Type of subdivision or development Size 

Group development Varies 

Non-residential subdivision Varies 

Planned development Minimum of 4 acres 

Individual subdivision 1 lot 

Minor subdivision 2-5 lots 

Medium subdivision 6-40 lots 

Major subdivision 41-200 lots 

Mega subdivision 201 or more lots 

 

Table 2.2 

Subdivision 
Type 

P
re

-a
p

p
li

c
a
ti

o
n

 m
e
e
ti

n
g

 

S
k

e
tc

h
 p

la
n

 

R
e
vi

e
w

 o
f 

sk
et

c
h

 p
la

n
 b

y 
st

a
ff

 

R
e
vi

e
w

 o
f 

sk
et

c
h

 p
la

n
 b

y 
P

C
 

P
re

li
m

in
a
ry

 p
la

t 

R
e
vi

e
w

 o
f 

p
re

l.
 p

la
t 

b
y
 s

ta
ff

 

R
e
vi

e
w

 o
f 

p
re

l.
 p

la
t 

b
y
 P

C
 

C
o

n
st

ru
c
ti

o
n

 b
o

n
d

s 
 

R
e
vi

e
w

 o
f 

c
o

n
st

ru
c
ti

o
n

 b
o

n
d

s 

b
y
 C

o
u

n
ty

 C
o

u
n

c
il

 

F
in

a
l 
p

la
t 

R
e
vi

e
w

 o
f 

fi
n

a
l 
p

la
t 

b
y
 s

ta
ff

 

R
e
vi

e
w

 o
f 

fi
n

a
l 
p

la
t 

b
y
 P

C
 

Group 
development 

X X X X X X X X  X X X 

Non-
residential 
subdivision 

X X X X X X    X X  

Planned 
development 

X X X X X X X X X X X X 

Minor 
subdivision 

X X X       X X  

Medium 
subdivision 

X X X X X X  X  X X  

Major 
subdivision 

X X X X X X X X  X X  

Mega 
subdivision 

X X X X X X X X X X X X 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 

 



15 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

For applicable subdivisions according to Table 2.2, the review of the sketch plan and preliminary plat 
shall be completed prior to making any street improvements and installing any utilities.  For all 
subdivisions, approval of the final plat shall be given prior to sale of any lots, recording any portion 
of the plat of the proposed subdivision, or issuance of a building permit for construction of buildings, 
except as provided for model homes in these regulations. 

Fees for processing any step of the subdivision process shall be paid with the application pursuant to 

a fee schedule established by resolution of County Council. 

 

2.5.3 Pre-Application Meeting 

A pre-application meeting with the Planning Director is required prior to the filing of a sketch plan 
application for all subdivisions specified in Table 2.2 in order to discuss the procedure for approval 
of the subdivision application, as well as county requirements and availability of services. County 
planning staff shall have the sole authority to waive any mandatory pre-application meeting where 
such a meeting is deemed unnecessary. Upon request, County staff shall arrange this meeting at the 
earliest reasonable time. At the discretion of the County staff, this meeting may be required to 
include or be followed by an on-site visit. 

 

2.5.4 Sketch Plan 

Prior to subdividing land, an owner of the land, or his representative, shall file an application for 
approval of a sketch plan along with the required documentation specified on said application. As 
specified in the application, the sketch plan shall include information on the name, ownership, 
location, features, existing conditions, and proposed conditions of the development.   The application 
shall: 

A. Be made on forms available at the office of the Planning Director. 
B. Include all contiguous holdings of the owner including land in the same ownership, as 

defined herein, with an indication of the portion that is proposed to be subdivided, 
accompanied by an affidavit of ownership or letter of agency. 

C. Be accompanied by a minimum of three (3) bound copies, and an electronic copy (flash 
drive or emailed copy), of the sketch plan as described in these regulations and complying 
in all respects with these regulations. 

D. Be accompanied by the required willingness-to-serve letters by the Chester Metropolitan 
District and Chester Wastewater Recovery special purpose districts that indicate ability to 
provide the requested utility capacity and that specify any needed improvements. If the 
subdivision will utilize any other means of water delivery or wastewater treatment, 
including private wells, septic tanks, or community wastewater systems, a preliminary letter 
of approval from the South Carolina Department of Environmental Services is required. 

E. Be accompanied by written approval, or conditional approval, of the proposed access 
locations by the South Carolina Department of Transportation if the subdivision accesses 
a state highway. 

F. If a Mega Subdivision, or Planned Development or Group Development of equivalent 
size, include a required Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA). A TIA may be required by the  
 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



16 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 
Planning Commission or County Council to be submitted at any time during the rezoning 
application process for the above developments. 

G. If a Group Development or Planned Development, include the design and location of all 
off-street parking areas as well as any landscaping plan that may be required by the Zoning 
Ordinance. 

Sketch plans shall be distributed as follows: 

A. Planning Director (file copy); 
B. County Administrator’s Office 
C. One copy shall be returned to the applicant showing any modifications needed. 

After proper submission of the sketch plan, the Planning Commission will review the sketch plan at 
their next meeting, following the calendar of meetings and submittal deadlines available on the website 
of the Chester County Government. The Planning Director shall advise the Planning Commission as 
to conformance with the regulations contained herein and the Comprehensive Plan, as well as (to the 
extent allowed by these ordinances) any recommended alterations that better conform to or enforce 
the intent of these regulations or the Comprehensive Plan. 

The Planning Commission (or staff, if the classification of the subdivision only requires staff review) 
shall have the option to approve, approve conditionally, or disapprove of the sketch plan. If the sketch 
plan is disapproved or approved conditionally, the justification for that decision shall be conveyed to 
the applicant with specific reference to the parts of this ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan, or other 
regulation to which the sketch plan does not adequately conform. If conditional approval is granted, 
the Planning Commission may require resubmittal and review at a subsequent Planning Commission 
meeting, or may direct the Planning Director to review the resubmitted sketch plan to verify that it 
meets the required changes. If the sketch plan is disapproved, resubmittal and review at a subsequent 
Planning Commission meeting is required. 

The Planning Commission reserves the right to require changes to the sketch plan based on the details 
of the site itself or to better align the project with the intent of these codes or, more broadly, the 
betterment of the county, as defined by S.C. Code § 6-29-1120 and the values of Chester County, as 
summarized in the Purpose and Intent Section of these ordinances and more fully in our 
Comprehensive Plan.  

If the classification of the subdivision only requires staff review, that review shall occur and the 
applicant be informed within thirty (30) days of a submitted correct application. Approval at that 
meeting shall constitute authorization to prepare and submit a Final Plat. Approval does not authorize 
the developer to begin the proposed construction or improvements.   

 

2.5.5 Preliminary Plat 

Based upon the approval of the sketch plan, the applicant shall file with the Planning Director an 
application for approval of a preliminary plat plan along with the required documentation specified 
on said application.  As specified in the application, the preliminary plat shall include information on 
the name, ownership, location, features, existing conditions, and proposed conditions of the 
development in detail.   The application shall: 

A. Be made on forms available at the office of the Planning Director. 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



17 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

B. Be accompanied by a minimum of five (5) bound copies and an electronic copy (flash drive 
or emailed copy) of the preliminary plat as described in these regulations and in the application.  

C. Conform in all respects with the sketch plan as approved. 
 

Upon determination by the Planning Director that the preliminary plat conforms with the approved 
sketch plan, the Planning Director shall immediately submit an appropriate number of copies of the 
preliminary plat and construction plans to the following agencies for review and approval before 
review by the Planning Commission, if applicable: 

A. Administrative Official (file copy); 

B. Appropriate utility providers and special purpose districts, if affected; 

C. Appropriate division of South Carolina Department of Environmental Services; 

D. USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS), if appropriate; and, 

E. South Carolina Department of Transportation. 

If any of the above agencies has comments relating to the submitted preliminary plat, those comments 
shall be relayed to the Planning Commission prior to or at the meeting at which they will review said 
preliminary plat, or at the final review by staff, if only staff review is required in Table 2.2. It is expressly 
understood that the Planning Commission shall not act to override the requirements of other agencies 
or County Departments.  It may, however, seek to bring agreement in case of conflicts between the 
various reviewing agencies, or a reviewing agency and the subdivider. 

Any plat submitted to the Planning Commission shall contain the name and address of a person to 
whom notice of hearing may be sent: and no plat shall be acted upon by the Planning Commission 
without affording a hearing thereon, notice of time and place of which shall be sent by certified mail 
to said address not less than five (5) days before the date fixed therefore. 

Approval of the preliminary plat shall be noted on the plat and certified by the Planning Director on 
authorization by the Planning Commission.  Also noted shall be the date on which the Planning 
Commission granted approval and the date of written notification to the subdivider or his authorized 
agent.  Approval of a preliminary subdivision plat shall not constitute approval of the final subdivision 
plat.  Application for approval of the final (record) plat will be considered only after the requirements 
for final plat approval as specified herein have been fulfilled and after all other specified conditions 
have been met.  Upon approval of the preliminary subdivision plat by the Planning Commission the 
subdivider may proceed with compliance with the other requirements of these regulations, 
construction of proposed improvements and the preparation of the final subdivision plat. 

The approval of a preliminary plat shall be effective for a period of two (2) years, in accordance with 
S.C. Code of Laws §6-29-1530.  If at the end of which time final plat approval of all or part of the 
subdivision has not been obtained from the Planning Commission or substantial progress with the 
construction of required improvements has not been made, preliminary plat approval shall expire. The 
applicant may apply in writing to the Planning Commission before the end of the vesting period for a 
one-year extension of the vested right of the preliminary plat approval, which shall be approved. Only 
one such extension may be given. Any such subdivision shall be required to resubmit a new plat for 
preliminary approval subject to all new land development regulations. 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



18 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

For the purpose of allowing the early construction of model homes in a subdivision, the Planning 
Commission at its discretion may permit a portion of a subdivision involving not more than two (2) 
lots to be created in accordance with the procedures for exempted subdivisions, provided said portion 
derives access from a finished or unfinished interior road, and provided no future road or other 
improvement is anticipated where said lots are proposed.  Subsequent to approval of exemption, the 
model may be constructed, subject to such additional requirements that the Planning Commission 
may require. 

 

2.5.6 Construction Bonds  

Prior to consideration of the Final Plat for approval, the subdivider shall either have: 

A. installed the improvements required by these ordinances and necessary to serve the 
subdivision along with the required certification by a Registered Engineer;  

B. have posted a bond or other surety acceptable to the County to insure the installation of 
these improvements; or, 

C. some acceptable combination thereof, as approved by the Planning Director and County 
Attorney. 

The County Attorney shall approve the bond as to form, providing for and securing to the County 
the actual construction and installation of such improvements and utilities within a period of time 
specified in the bond. 

The bond shall be signed by the developer as principal with corporate surety, an irrevocable letter of 
credit from a local bank, a bank letter that loan funds will be reserved by the bank to meet requirements 
of the bond, or evidence of cash held in escrow by a bank payable on demand of the County. 

The bond amount shall equal one and one half (1 ½) times the cost of construction of all 
improvements covered by the bond.  The cost estimates shall be developed and attested to by a 
registered engineer and approved by the Planning Director and County Attorney.  

When a bond is used in lieu of completion of improvements, the bond shall stipulate the period of 
time within which all of the required improvements shall be installed and approved, and in no event 
shall this time be longer than two (2) years after approval of the Final Plat, unless special authorization 
is given by the County Administrator or County Council. 

Improvements to be included in the bond where applicable include the total cost of water, sewer, 
stormwater collection and retention systems, roads, sidewalks, street trees, and street lighting. 

As-built drawings of improvements installed under surety shall be delivered to the Planning Director 
for approval as construction is completed. 

Procedures for bond approval shall be as follows: 

A. An application containing the required information and approvals of cost estimates 
shall be submitted to the Planning Director. 

B. The Planning Director shall submit the application and supporting materials with a 
recommendation to the County Attorney for review and comment. 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



19 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 
C. The County Attorney shall submit the materials to the Planning Director and County 

Administrator with a recommendation for approval or disapproval. 
D. If County Staff (or the County Council, if required) approves the Bond and the Final 

Plat is subsequently approved, the Final Plat shall be noted as given with “BONDED 
PLAT APPROVAL”, which authorizes the plat to recorded by the Clerk of Court. 

E. After the subdivider fulfills his obligations as required by Subdivision Regulations and 
Bond, the Planning Director shall certify that fact to the County Administrator and 
County Attorney, who shall release the Bond. 
 

2.5.7 Final Plat - Application 

Following the approval of the Preliminary Plat and completion of all required improvements or 
County approval of the construction bonds, the applicant shall file with the Planning Director an 
application for final approval of a subdivision plat. As specified in the application, the final plat shall 
include detailed information on the name, ownership, location, any nearby or on-site flood plains, 
features, existing conditions, and proposed conditions of the development in detail, along with 
certification and seal by a Registered Engineer and a certification of ownership. Furthermore, the 
application shall: 

A. Be made on forms available at the Office of the Planning Director. 
B. Be accompanied by: 

a. A minimum of five (5) prints and one reproducible copy of the Final Plat on sheets 
not exceeding twenty-four (24) inches by thirty-six (36) inches with a drawing size of 
twenty-two (22) inches by thirty-four (34) inches;  

C. If not using a bond, the application must include: 
a. Two (2) prints of as-built drawing of sanitary sewers (if applicable)  with grade, pipe 

sizes, and points of discharge; 
b. Two (2) prints of as-built drawing of storm sewer system with grade, pipe sizes, and 

location of outlets; and 
c. Two (2) prints of as-built drawing of water system with pipe sizes and location of 

hydrants and valves.  
d. Two (2) prints of as-built drawing of roads with grades and paving width. 

D. Include any HOA governing documents or bylaws required herein. 
E. Include a Plan for Management of Open Space and Common Facilities that 

a. Allocates responsibility and guidelines for the maintenance and operation of the open 
space, to include road frontage buffers, and any community facilities located thereon, 
including provisions for specific ongoing maintenance activities and long-term capital 
improvements, including cost estimates, enforcement of the Plan, and a provision that 
the Planning Commission must approve any changes to the Plan.  

The Final Plat itself must: 

A. Comply in all respects with the Preliminary Plat as approved. 
B. Include the following notations: 

a. A signed Certificate of Accuracy by a Registered Surveyor, stating as follows: 
 
 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



20 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 
Certificate of Accuracy 
I hereby certify that the plan shown and described hereon is a true, correct, and accurate 
survey required by the Land Development Regulations of Chester County and that the 
monuments shown were placed to the specifications set forth in said regulations. 
____________      ________________________________ 

Date       Registered Land Surveyor 
SEAL                  S. C. Registration Number_______   ____ 
 

b. A signed Certificate of Ownership and Dedication, stating as follows: 

It is hereby certified that I am (we are) the owner(s) of the property shown and described 
hereon and that I (we) hereby dedicate all streets, alleys, walks, parks, and other sites to 
private or public use as noted. 

____________  ______________________________ 

Date              Owner 

 
C. Be accompanied by the following certificate signed by a South Carolina Registered Engineer 

covering all required improvements that are not bonded:      

“I hereby certify that the streets, stormwater system, sewer system, water system, and any other required 
infrastructure improvements in ____________________Subdivision as shown on the Record Drawings 
dated_______________, prepared by ________________ have been installed in accordance with the 
Preliminary Plat approved by the Chester County Planning Commission on _______________ (date).” 

SEAL ____________________________________ 
                (Registered Engineer) 

D. Be accompanied by all formal irrevocable offers of dedication to the county or special purpose 
districts of all local government uses, utilities, and easements as applicable, and in rare cases 
parks and streets, in a form approved by the local government attorney, and the Final Plat 
shall be marked with a notation indicating the formal offers of dedication as follows:  
   

“The owner, or his representative, hereby irrevocably offers for dedication to the local government or special 
purpose districts, as applicable, all the local government uses, easements, and required utilities shown in the 
subdivision plat and construction plans in accordance with an irrevocable offer of dedication dated 
_______________and recorded in the Clerk of Court’s Office.” 

By_______________________ Date______________ 
        (Owner or Representative) 
 

The applicant shall deliver a warranty deed to all such easements and lands in proper form for 
recording. 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



21 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

E. Include all private roads and facilities, which must be marked as private on the final plat. In 
addition, all subsequent plats of individual lots must also be marked with the following 
notation: 
 
“Any streets, sidewalks, parks, and other sites as specifically noted hereon shall be perpetually maintained by 
a homeowners’ association and will not be accepted for maintenance by Chester County. The homeowners’ 
association shall be a legally chartered entity that is registered with the SC Secretary of State.” 

By_______________________ Date______________ 
        (Owner or Representative) 

All property owners shall sign and legally record an approved road maintenance and/or other 
facility agreement, the text of which shall be included with the Final Plat application.. All deeds 
covering the property shall reference this agreement, which shall be binding and transferable 
with the property. The subdivision final plat and each individual parcel plat shall depict the 
roadway and/or other facilities as privately maintained. 

It is the express policy of Chester County not to accept for public ownership or maintenance 
any internal street, park, stormwater infrastructure, sidewalks, or other such facilities within a 
new subdivisions, although Chester County retains the right to do so upon approval of the 
Chester County Council in rare situations. In the event any such facilities are approved for 
acceptance, final acceptance will be based on a satisfactory on-site inspection by the 
appropriate County staff as designated by the County Administrator and reported in writing 
to the Planning Commission and County Council. 

 
F. If applicable, be accompanied by a copy of the approved construction bond, with a provision 

that the principal of the bond shall comply with all the terms of the resolution of the Final 
Plat approval as determined by the Planning Commission including, but not limited to, the 
performance of all required subdivision and off-site improvements, and that all improvements 
and land intended for public or special purpose district dedication shall be dedicated to the 
local government free and clear of all liens and encumbrances on the premises. 

 

2.5.8 Final Plat – Process 

Upon determination by the Planning Director that the Final Plat is in conformity with the Preliminary 
Plat as approved, the Planning Director shall submit an appropriate number of copies of the Final 
Plat and As-Built Drawings to the same agencies and County departments which reviewed and 
approved the Preliminary Plat. 

These reviewing agencies shall report their comments or findings to the Planning Director within 
thirty (30) days after receipt of the Final Plat. If the subdivision size merits review by the Planning 
Commission, these comments shall be relayed to the Planning Commission prior to or at the meeting 
at which they will review said Final Plat. If the subdivision is of a size such that only administrative 
review of the Final Plat is required and agency review is required, no approval shall be administratively 
given until this required thirty day review period has elapsed. 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



22 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

The Planning Director or Planning Commission shall give approval, approval with modifications, or 
disapproval of the Final Plat. In no case shall the Planning Commission or Planning Director 
disapprove a Final Plat of a subdivision which: 

A. Meets the requirements of a Final Plat as set forth in the regulations; 
B. Conforms to an approved Preliminary Plat; and, 
C. Has all the required improvements installed and approved or a bond for such improvements 

approved or a combination thereof. 

No subdivision plat shall be filed with or recorded by the County Clerk of Court until the Final Plat 
has received final approval or final approval under bond. The applicant shall cause a copy of the 
approved final plat to be recorded by the Clerk of Court with.  It shall be the responsibility of the 
applicant to file the plat with the Chester County Clerk of Court, which shall occur within ten (10) 
working days of the date of the final approval. 

The grounds of disapproval of any plat shall be stated upon the records of the Planning Commission 
or Planning Director, as the case may be. No plat shall be acted upon by the Planning Commission 
without affording a hearing thereon, notice of time and place of which shall be sent by certified mail 
to the address provided by the applicant not less than five (5) days before the time of the hearing. 

Upon approval of the Final Plat by the Planning Commission, the following statement will be placed 
on the Final Plat by the Planning Director and one (1) copy of the plat returned to the subdivider: 

“The subdivision plat shown hereon has been found to comply with Development Regulations and has been 
approved for recording in The Office of the Clerk of Court for Chester County, South Carolina.” 

     _____________ ___________________________________ 
   (Date)   (Name) 

The Planning Commission may grant Final Plat approval to sections of a subdivision shown on an 
approved Preliminary Plat which meet all the previously mentioned requirements of this ordinance if 
such sections, in the opinion of the Planning Commission, are adequately served by all utilities, a storm 
drainage system and street system, even if no other sections of the subdivision are developed. 

If it should become necessary to revise a final plat due to a dimensional or other minor error, a revised 
plat shall be submitted to the County for final recording after the Planning Commission has approved 
and signed the revised plat. 

If to be installed by Chester County, the total cost of all traffic devices shall be paid in full prior to the 
recording of the final plat.  

A building permit may be secured or transfer of title occur only after approval of the final plat. 

 

2.5.9 Process Variations for Conservation Subdivisions 

Applicants for a conservation subdivision must submit a plan showing all unbuildable areas, 

designated as Primary Conservation areas as outlined in Section 2.7.3.  

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



23 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

This plan must be prepared by the applicant, and does not have to meet the formal requirements for 

a site design plan, not being intended to involve significant engineering or surveying costs, but should 

include basic topography, wetland locations, floodplains, and slopes exceeding 25% in areas unsuitable 

for development. This plan should be brought at the Pre-Application Meeting. All Pre-Application 

Meetings for conservation subdivisions should be followed by an on-site visit. 

Following these steps, the Sketch Plan for conservation subdivisions shall be developed by a team that 

includes at least one landscape architect or planner with conservation subdivision design experience. 

In addition to the Sketch Plan requirements outlined in Section 2.5.4, each Sketch Plan for 

conservation subdivisions shall show Primary Conservation Areas of undevelopable land as outlined 

in Section 2.7.3, as well as the Secondary Conservation Areas, which may include woodlands, 

farmland, natural areas, public and/or private recreation areas and facilities including community 

commons or greens, and scenic viewsheds. Secondary Conservation Areas shall include the most 

sensitive and noteworthy natural, scenic, and cultural resources. 

In addition to the standard prerogatives by which the Planning Commission reserves the right to 

require changes to the Sketch Plan as expressed in Section 2.5.4, the Planning Commission shall also 

consider the Conservation Subdivision Design Features as expressed in Section 2.7.12. 

 

2.5.10 Appeal of Administrative Action 

Any staff action, defined as a decision rendered by the Planning Director during the subdivision review 
process, may be appealed to the Chester County Planning Commission by the applicant or another 
interested party where it is alleged that there is an error in the order, requirement, or determination 
made by the staff in the administration of these regulations. The Planning Commission shall act on 
the appeal within sixty (60) days and the action of the Planning Commission is final. Appeal from the 
decision of the Planning Commission must be taken to the Circuit Court within thirty (30) days after 
the notice of the decision of the Planning Commission has been delivered to the subdivider. 

 

2.5.11 Flood Plain Provisions 

All lots shall have a flood free building site. No property within the floodway shall be included in the 
minimum lot area requirements for the zoning district in which it is located. Refer to the Flood 
Prevention Ordinance in the County Code for further information. 

 

2.5.12 Wetlands Provisions 

No portion of a subdivision shall be approved for construction that is in a designated wetland without 
prior approval from, and subject to the restrictions of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.   

 

2.5.13 Surveying and Marking Standards 

Boundary surveys for subdivisions subject to this ordinance shall be performed in accordance with 
the Standards of Practice Manual for Surveying in South Carolina, as promulgated by the S.C. Code of  

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



24 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

Regulations §40-22. This manual is hereby adopted by reference and is as much a part of this 
Ordinance as if contained herein. 

 

2.5.14 Waiting Period for New Subdivisions 

A. All individual subdivisions are subject to a one (1) year waiting period before submitting 
another application to subdivide the new parcel. Likewise, the parent tract from which the 
new parcel was subdivided must wait one (1) year before being subdivided again.  

 
B. All planned developments, residential group developments, and all other residential 

subdivisions specified in Table 2.1, are subject to a five (5) year waiting period before further 
submitting a new sketch plan application to subdivide any additional parcel within its borders. 
must wait five (5) years before further submitting another application to subdivide any 
additional parcel. Likewise, the parent tract from which the new parcel(s) was subdivided and 
any new individual subdivisions from the parent tract must wait five (5) years before 
submitting another application for any subdivision other than an individual subdivision. To 
subdivide the parent parcel into an individual parcel, the parent tract must wait only one (1) 
year. 
 

C. The intent of the waiting period is to discourage serial subdivision developments, such as 
multiple and adjacent minor subdivision applications or a combination of individual and minor 
subdivisions, in order to avoid the regulations for the higher tier of subdivision contained 
herein. Upon the finding of the Planning Director that a proposed subdivision does not fall 
into this category, the Planning Commission may consider, but is under no obligation to 
approve, exceptions to Articles A and B of this section, particularly in cases of new family 
subdivisions. 
 

D. Upon the finding of the Planning Commission that a proposed subdivision does qualify as a 
serial subdivision as defined in Article C, any submitted plan for a new subdivision may be 
either required to meet the infrastructure or design standards for the next highest tier of 
subdivision, when considered in combination with the previous subdivision (in addition with 
any other design standards considered necessary to meet the needs of the combined 
neighborhood), required to abide by the waiting period in Article B or C (whichever is 
applicable), or both. 
 

E. Any subdivision application that is part of an estate or trust settlement shall not be constrained 
by any waiting period during the settlement process period.  

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-5:       General Procedure                               Chester County, South Carolina 

 



25 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.6 Infrastructure Standards 

 

2.6.1 General Notes on Infrastructure Standards 

In order to achieve a community that achieves the legal goals for zoning ordinances as specified by 
the values of Chester County, expressed in the Comprehensive Plan, certain levels of infrastructure 
improvements are required for all subdivisions and developments listed below in Table 2.3. These 
improvements are specified in subsequent sections.  
 
There shall be a two-year warranty period from the approval of the final plat for the County to identify 
any faults or defects for all infrastructure, regardless of ownership. It shall be the responsibility of the 
developer to repair any such defects during this warranty period. 
 
 

Table 2.3 
Required Infrastructure Improvements 

 

Subdivision Type 

N
a
m

in
g

 a
n

d
 e

n
tr

y
 s

ig
n

 

In
te

rn
a
l 

a
c
c
e
ss

 s
tr

e
et

s 

S
h

a
re

d
 d

ri
ve

w
a
y
s 

&
 p

ri
va

te
 

m
in

o
r 

st
re

e
ts

  

P
a
ve

d
 s

tr
e
e
ts

 

S
id

e
w

a
lk

s 

S
to

rm
w

a
te

r 
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

en
t 

U
n

d
e
rg

ro
u

n
d

 u
ti

li
ty

 l
in

e
s 

S
tr

e
e
t 

li
g

h
ti

n
g

 

A
m

e
n

it
y 

im
p

ro
ve

m
en

ts
 

Group development X X  X X X X X X 

Non-residential subdivision  X  X X X X X  

Planned development X X  X X X X X X 

Minor subdivision   X    X*   

Medium subdivision X X  X X* X* X  X 

Major subdivision X X  X X X X X X 

Mega subdivision X X  X X X X X X 

Rural conservation subdivision X X  X*  X* X  X 

* indicates potential flexibility with the requirement, given the size or type of subdivision 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-6:       Infrastructure Standards                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 



26 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.6.2 Naming and Entry Sign 

A. Where applicable under Table 2.3, subdivisions must be named. The proposed name(s) shall 
be submitted along with the sketch plan application and reviewed by the Planning 
Commission, who shall have the authority to deny or modify the proposed name, or submit a 
list of eligible names from which the applicant may choose. The name must have significance 
to the history, heritage, people, or in certain limited cases, environment of Chester County. 
Particular preference shall be given to proposed names that reflect the name of the local 
community, town, or hamlet in which the subdivision will be located. It is the intent of this 
article to further the historical remembrance and respect for the heritage of this county by 
discouraging non-local, commercial, or generic names. Examples of recommended local 
names include: “Blackstock Station,” “Rocky Creek Village,” or “Lewisville Park.” Examples 
of discouraged, non-local names include: “Oakwood Village,” “Charity Hills,” or “The Estates 
at Coventry.” 
 

B. Each subdivision must have a monument sign at the primary point of access off of the 
external road between five feet and fifty feet. Monument signs are defined as freestanding 
signs, mounted directly upon the ground, and not exceeding six feet in height above the 
ground or fifty square feet in total area. One such sign per external street access point shall 
be allowed. Preference shall be given to signs constructed with high-quality materials, such as 
stone, rock, treated lumber, or some combination thereof. 

 

2.6.3 Internal Access Streets 

A. Where applicable under Table 2.3, subdivisions are required to have an internal road as the 
sole access point for individual lots. No subdivision or development where applicable in Table 
2.3 may have lots with direct access to a state or county public road of any category. This 
regulation is specifically to protect the public health, safety, and beauty of Chester County and 
her citizens. All mega subdivisions must have at least two paved access streets onto local or 
state roads, and all major subdivisions are also encouraged and may be required where possible 
to have at least two access streets, one of which may be unpaved and accessed only by 
emergency vehicles. 
 

B. All streets, regardless of type, must be named in accordance with County 911 Road Naming 
Standards. Shared driveways serving two dwelling units that straddle two parcels shall not be 
required to be named. 

Streets that are extensions of, or obviously in alignment with existing named streets, shall bear 
that name.  The name of all new streets, including shared driveways on a single parcel 
providing access to two houses and private minor streets, shall be subject to the approval of 
the Planning Commission and shall not duplicate or be similar in sound to existing names in 
Chester County, irrespective of suffix (i.e. “street, drive, etc.”) used. 

Medium, Major, and Mega subdivisions must have their internal street names reviewed and 
approved by the Planning Commission during the preliminary plat review, and shall be 
considered under the same criteria, more loosely applied, as used for the name of the 
subdivision itself. 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-6:       Infrastructure Standards                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 



27 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 
Street name signs shall be installed at all intersections within a subdivision. For connections 
with external roads, the location of those signs must comply with standards set by the County 
Roads Department or the SCDOT, depending on the jurisdiction of the road. 
 

C. All private internal access streets, whether paved or gravel, shall be:  
a. constructed to the standards of this Article; 
b. noted as such on a required deed restriction, covenant, or other legal instruments 

associated with each lot in the subdivision that ensure continued maintenance of the 
private roads, in perpetuity; 

c. for all subdivisions that are medium in size or larger, a property owners’ or 
homeowners’ association that is responsible for the continuous and perpetual 
maintenance of any private roads (subject to Section 2.5.7(E) of this ordinance) shall 
be established and shall meet the following requirements: 

i. membership in the association must be mandatory and automatic for all 
property owners in the subdivision and their successors; 

ii. the association shall have lien authority to ensure the collection of dues from 
all members; and, 

iii. the association shall be responsible for informing each property owner prior 
to the time of closing that identified roads in the subdivision are private roads, 
and that the county does not have liability and is not liable for any maintenance 
of said roads at any point in the future, regardless of condition. 
 

2.6.4 Shared Driveways and Private Minor Streets 

All minor subdivisions must have street access exclusively through some combination of individual 
driveways, shared driveways (serving no more than two (2) dwelling units), private minor streets (may 
be allowed to be gravel, serving no more than five (5) dwelling units) or paved, hard-surface streets, 
in order to promote the goals of Chester County as expressed in Section 2.6.3(A). During the sketch 
plan review, preference shall be given, and may be required, for shared over individual driveways. 
 
All gravel streets: 

A. must be a local private street (such as a cul-de-sac, marginal access, or local residential street) 
serving either an individual subdivision or minor subdivision only; 

B. must be designed by a registered engineer, in order to ensure quality and maximize longevity 
for future residents. The engineering drawings must be submitted to Chester County along 
with the final plat for the subdivision application; 

C. must be designated as private on subdivision plans with written maintenance provisions or 
designation of responsibility for maintenance, such as maintenance by an HOA, submitted to 
the Planning Commission for approval, which agreement must be recorded with the Clerk of 
Court and signed by future buyers; 

D. if serving a minor subdivision, must be marked by a sign at the beginning of the driveway 
stating “State/County Maintenance Ends” that meet SCDOT specifications, must be installed 
prior to final plat approval, and must be maintained by the subdivider or his assignee(s); must 
have at least a 18-foot wide driving surface with at least a 4-inch compacted stone base, or  
may be paved with concrete or another hard surface, and a height clearance of at least 12 feet, 
as well as an adequate drainage plan; 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-6:       Infrastructure Standards                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 



28 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 
E. must connect to the paved road via a paved asphalt apron of at least 15 feet in length; 
F. if originally a private driveway to a single dwelling that, through one or more new individual 

subdivisions, is now proposed to become a private minor street, must meet all the standards 
of this section before County approval; 

G. must have a minimum easement or right-of-way appurtenant to each lot served of fifty (50) 
feet in width; and, 

H. cannot connect to another road or driveway or on both ends to public streets. 

An applicant may submit a variance request to the Board of Zoning Appeals, after a waiting period of 
at least one (1) year after initial subdivision approval, to add no more than one (1) additional lot, which 
must meet the zoning standards of the district, on the private minor street. Only one (1) application 
for a new lot may be submitted every twelve (12) months, and the application must include an 
amended driveway maintenance agreement and the signed consent of all other owners using the 
existing driveway. Preference shall be given to situations where all or the majority of existing lots are 
owned by related family members. 

As stated in Section 2.5.5(E), it is the express policy of Chester County not to accept any internal 
streets for subdivisions for public ownership or maintenance. Under no circumstances shall driveways 
or private minor streets be considered eligible for acceptance by Chester County. 
 

2.6.5 Paved Streets 

Street grading base preparation and surfacing shall be carried out by the subdivider according to the 
plans and using specifications of the SCDOT.  Minimum roadway surfacing widths shall be as 
follows: 
 

Street Classification Width 

Arterial As specified by SCDOT 

Collector 36’ – face of curb to face of curb 

Local Commercial 36’ – face of curb to face of curb 

Local Residential 26’ – face of curb to face of curb 

Local Residential (for Rural 
Conservation Subdivisions and medium 
subdivisions with a median lot width of 
1.5 acres or more) 

22’ width 

Private Minor Street 18’ width 

Alley 
20’ paved width for a two-way 
alley, 10’ paved width for a one-
way alley 

 
As stated in Section 2.5.5 (E), it is the express policy of Chester County not to accept any internal 
streets for subdivisions for public ownership or maintenance. 

All mega subdivisions, as well as group developments and planned developments of an equivalent 
size, shall be required to complete and submit a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) to the Planning 
Commission and the SCDOT. Mitigation or improvement measures determined by the TIA, if they  

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-6:       Infrastructure Standards                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 



29 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

exceed those in these ordinances, shall be required and included with the Preliminary Plat application, 
along with the full TIA. 

 

2.6.6 Sidewalks 

In all residential land developments and subdivisions as required by Table 2.3, a (5) five-foot sidewalk 
shall be provided on at least one side of all interior streets, and (5) five-foot sidewalks shall be provided 
on both sides of local commercial streets and arterial streets. Where relevant, internal sidewalks must 
connect with adjacent public sidewalks and/or trails.  

Sidewalks should be separated from the street by a planting strip of grass, landscaping, or where 
required, street trees. This planting strip shall be at least six (6) feet in width, in order to allow for 
healthy growth of trees. 

Pedestrian crossings across internal streets must be distinguished from the driving surface by use of 
durable materials such as pavers, bricks, raised concrete or asphalt, or scored concrete or asphalt. 
Where a subdivision design involves unusually long blocks, public right-of-way for pedestrian 
crosswalks shall be provided where such are necessary for the convenience of pedestrians.  Such right-
of-way shall not be less than ten (10) feet wide.  

Medium subdivisions with a median lot size of one and a half (1.5) acres shall not be required to have 
sidewalks. 

 

2.6.7 Stormwater Management 

A. Concrete curbs or paved valley type gutters shall be installed and shall be in accordance with 
plans and specifications of SCDOT and the County Public Works Department; provided, 
however, all minor subdivisions or other conventional subdivisions with lots having street 
frontage of (150) one hundred fifty feet or more and total area of two acres or more may 
utilize valley gutter or setback ditches.  

 
a. Valley gutters shall be a continuation of the roadway surface of at least four (4) feet 

with the outside edge turning up so as to provide a minimum depth of at least twelve 
(12) inches. 

b. Setback ditches shall be located so as to provide a minimum shoulder width of four 
(4) feet.  Ditches shall be approximately three (3) feet in width and maintain a 
minimum depression of eight (8) inches. 

c. Curbs and gutters may be installed and may be roll – type or standard 90-degree curb.  
 

B. An adequate drainage system for a (25) twenty-five-year frequency rainfall, including necessary 
improved open channels, pipes, culverts, storm sewers, intersection drains, drop inlet, bridges, 
and other necessary appurtenances shall be installed by the subdivider and shall be according 
to plans and specifications approved by the County Public Works Department. The points of 
inflow and discharge of culvers shall have masonry head walls installed using the specifications 
of SCDOT. All points of inflow of culverts (12) twelve inches or larger in diameter shall have 
steel grated installed with a grid of not more than (6) six inches. Retention ponds which are  

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-6:       Infrastructure Standards                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 



30 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 
dedicated to and accepted by the County shall be fenced with wire fencing a minimum of (5) 
five feet in height installed at the expense of the subdivider. Retention ponds which are 
privately owned shall be maintained and fenced by the property owner. The development plan 
shall set forth the method by which a private retention pond and fencing will be maintained 
in the future.  
 

C. Both rural conservation subdivisions and medium subdivisions with a median lot size of at 
least one and a half (1.5) acres are permitted to utilize setback ditches and/or Low Impact 
Development (LID) methods, such as rain gardens and bioswales, as a replacement for 
conventional stormwater management provided all state standards for runoff are met and the 
engineered plans approved by the Department of Environmental Services. Setback ditches 
may be approved even though not meeting the minimum street frontage or minimum lot size 
required by Section 2.6.7(A).  

 

2.6.8 Underground Wiring 

All internal utility lines shall be buried underground, with the exception of power lines for minor 
subdivisions, which may be allowed to be overhead. No existing overhead powerlines along the 
external access road that serves as the entry point to the neighborhood shall be required to be moved 
underground if deemed infeasible. Backbone lines along the perimeter of a subdivision that may 
provide power to future, adjacent developments may be permitted upon request by the developer and 
approval by the Planning Commission. 

 

2.6.9 Street Lighting 

All street lights shall be properly shielded and at an adequate brightness, generally interpreted as no 
more than 15,000 lumens, so as to prevent light pollution and not create a nuisance for residents or 
drivers. Distance between the street lights shall be approximately uniform and evaluated by the 
Planning Director during the preliminary plat review.  

 

2.6.10 Amenity Improvements 

It is the stated policy of Chester County to ensure access to outdoor entertainment and recreation for 
the purpose of advancing the public health, morals, and general welfare of our population. For that 
reason, outdoor amenity improvements are required for certain subdivisions and residential 
developments. For the purposes of this article alone, all residential group developments and planned 
developments can be classified as one of the below three categories based on the number of dwelling 
units contained within the development on a 1:1 ratio with the number of lots that define the below 
subdivisions. 

Construction on amenity improvements must be substantially completed before the point at which 
50% of the building permits shall have been issued.  

It is the express policy of Chester County not to accept any privately-constructed amenity 
improvement for maintenance or ownership by the county, instead requiring that such amenities be 
maintained in the same fashion as private roads and other infrastructure. 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-6:       Infrastructure Standards                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 





32 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

surfaced. At the discretion of the Planning Commission, this requirement may be waived for 
rural conservation subdivisions. 
 

C. Public Sewerage: When the Planning Commission determines that sanitary sewer service is 
available within one thousand (1,000) feet, a sanitary sewer shall be installed in a subdivision. 
Sanitary sewers shall be installed to the plans and specifications approved by Chester 
Wastewater Recovery, Great Falls Wastewater, Fort Lawn Wastewater, and the Department 
of Environmental Services (DES). When the sewer main is located in the street right-of-way,  
and it will be necessary to cut into the street surface to serve abutting lots, a connection shall 
be stubbed out to the property line to serve each lot before the street is surfaced. At the 
discretion of the Planning Commission, this requirement may be waived for rural conservation 
subdivisions.  
 

D. Centralized Mailbox: Centralized, or cluster-style mailbox kiosks shall be located in a safe and 
convenient location for residents, including a minimum of three (3) off-street parking spaces 
with one being van-accessible,  if required by the United States Postal Service. All such kiosks 
shall be fully accessible for all residents and comply with the American with Disabilities Act 
requirements and standards. 
 

E. Waste Management: All major and mega subdivisions, as well as Planned Developments or 
Group Developments of equivalent size, must include on-site waste management as an HOA 
requirement for residents. This may take the form of a private roll-out service or an inground 
bulk pickup stations. 
 

F. Fire Hydrants: Where required by the International Fire Code, fire hydrants shall not be spaced 
more than eight hundred (800) feet apart, and at least one fire hydrant shall be located within 
six hundred (600) feet of the closest building. For multi-family residential developments, fire 
hydrants shall not be spaced more than five hundred (500) feet apart, and at least one fire 
hydrant must be located within four hundred (400) feet of the building. All fire hydrants shall 
be located within twelve (12) feet of the designated access road. A fire hydrant capable of 
meeting the system demand must be located within one hundred (100) feet of a designated 
fire department connection where applicable. For all fire hydrants, a minimum clearance of 
thirty-six (36) inches must be maintained around fire hydrants, and for hydrants with 
connections larger than two and a half (2.5) inches, a clear space of at least sixty (60) inches is 
required in front of the connection. 
 

G. Addressing: All residential dwelling units for subdivisions listed in Table 2.3 shall have the 
address posted on numbers at least four (4) inches in height, in a contrasting color from their 
background, and clearly visible on the front façade. All other homes, including those built on 
individual subdivisions, shall be required to have them on either the mailbox or an address 
sign by the driveway. 
 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-6:       Infrastructure Standards                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 



33 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.7 Design Standards 

 

2.7.1 General Notes on Design Standards 

In order to achieve a community that achieves the legal goals for zoning ordinances as specified by 
the values of Chester County, expressed in the Comprehensive Plan, and that specifically creates a 
safe, moral, convenient, and beautiful community, certain levels of design standards are required for 
subdivisions and developments listed below in Table 2.5.  
 

2.7.2 Modifications of Design Standards 

Minor modifications from these standards that permit design solutions that are otherwise compatible 
with the intent of this ordinance but that, because of unique situations regarding the particular 
development, are not able to achieve full compliance with the requirements listed herein, may be 
considered by the Planning Commission during the Sketch Plan review. This option should not be 
used to grant a full waiver of any individual requirement and provides that the intent and purpose of 
these requirements is not violated. 

 

Table 2.5 

Subdivision Type 

O
p

e
n

 s
p

a
c
e 

R
o

a
d

 f
ro

n
ta

g
e
 b

u
ff

e
r 

W
a
te

rw
a
y
 b

u
ff

e
r 

S
tr

e
e
t 

tr
e
e
s 

A
rc

h
it

e
ct

u
ra

l 
st

a
n

d
a
rd

s 

O
ff

-s
tr

e
et

 p
a
rk

in
g

  

R
e
se

rv
a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

p
u

b
li

c
 s

it
e
s 

B
lo

c
k

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s 

S
tr

e
e
t 

d
e
si

g
n

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s 

Group development X  X X X X  C  X 

Non-residential subdivision X  X X   C  X 

Planned development X X X X X X C  X 

Minor subdivision  X    X   X 

Medium subdivision X X X X X X   X 

Major subdivision X  X* X X X X C X X 

Mega subdivision X  X* X X X X C X X 

(X indicates a requirement; C indicates that it may be a requirement, determined on a case-by-case basis; * indicates potential 
flexibility with the requirement) 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



34 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.7.3 Open Space 

The particular intent of Chester County in this requirement is to preserve the rural nature of the 
unincorporated county, steward the environment well, provide opportunities for outdoor recreation 
and enjoyment of nature, and diminish the negative impacts of new development on existing residents. 
In addition, these regulations are intended to assist in discouraging developmental sprawl and focusing 
growth where best suited for county infrastructure, services, and culture, and thus harmony and long-
term fiscal responsibility. 

For applicable subdivisions and developments, open space must be dedicated or reserved (where 
appropriate) for active or passive recreation. In this context, open space must consist of buildable 
upland, and does not include any areas within flood zones, waterway buffers, areas designated as 
natural wetlands, lakes, rivers, creeks, utility easements, conventional stormwater management 
infrastructure, or areas of steep slopes of thirty (30) percent or greater, which do not count towards 
the requirement in Table 2.6 and may be designated at Primary Conservation Areas. Road rights of 
ways are also excluded from counting towards reserved open space and are not considered as Primary 
Conservation Areas. 

Where relevant and appropriate, open space shall be located so as to be readily accessible and useable 
by the residents, with preference given to locations in the front, sides, or center of the site. Each site 
shall be of suitable size, dimension, topography, and general access for the particular purposes 
specified by the Planning Commission. These areas shall be shown on the Plat and marked as 
“recreation or scenic open space,” as the case may be. 

Provisions must be made for the common ownership and perpetual maintenance, through a HOA or 
similar entity, of any open space which is accessible by the residents of the subdivision.  

In the event that the party responsible for maintenance of the open space fails to maintain all or any 
portion in reasonable order and condition, the County may assume temporary or permanent 
responsibility or maintenance and may enter the premises and take corrective action, with costs of 
such maintenance charged to the HOA, similar entity, or individual property owners that make up 
such entity, including administrative costs and penalties. Such costs shall become a lien on all 
subdivision properties. 

Natural features shall be maintained in their natural condition, but may be modified to improve their 
appearance, functioning, or overall condition, as recommended by experts in the particular area being 
modified. Particular modifications may include reforestation, pasture or cropland management, buffer 
area landscaping, stream bank protection, and/or wetlands management. 

Table 2.6 

Classification of subdivision or development Minimum open space required 

Where required by Table 2.5 20% 

Urban conservation subdivision 33% 

Rural conservation subdivision  55% 

 

The following shall be counted towards this minimum open space requirement provided they are 
actually set aside on property separate from the subdivision parcels: 

A. Land area occupied by Low Impact Development (LID) stormwater devices; 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



35 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

B. Secondary Conservation Areas, defined as woodlands, natural areas and wildlife corridors, 
fields or pastures, and natural areas providing scenic views;  

C. Land occupied by landscaped buffers, road frontage buffers, and landscaped common areas 
such as community greens; 

D. Land occupied by active and passive recreational use as specified in Section 2.6.10. However, 
this category of open space may only encompass up to fifty percent (50%) of the required 
open space. 

All open space for conservation subdivisions must be placed into permanent and irrevocable easement 
or deed restriction by a nonprofit land conservancy or land trust approved by the Planning 
Commission. For conservation subdivisions, land used for woodlands, whether commercial for the 
planting and production of trees and timber where selective or strip timber harvesting is employed, 
and farmland, including cropland, fields, pastures, and meadows, whether actively used or not, may 
be included towards the required open space if placed into an appropriate agricultural or conservation 
easement.  

Up to 75% of the required open space within a conservation subdivision may be privately held, such 
as by the original farmer or landowner, for commercial agricultural use as cropland or pastureland if 
placed into an agricultural easement and a minimum of ten (10) acres. The agricultural use must not 
consist of confined animal feeding operations, confined dairy operations, or commercial 
slaughterhouses or meat processing facilities. This allowance for private ownership may extend to 
timber production in rural conservation subdivisions only, with the provision that only 50% of the 
total open space may be used for commercial timber production, with clear-cutting prohibited as a 
form of harvesting. Otherwise, all open space land for conservation subdivisions shall remain 
undivided for the enjoyment of the residents and permanently restricted from future subdivision.  

 

2.7.4 Road Frontage Buffer 

All applicable subdivisions must be shielded from view from the road by means of a landscaped buffer 
along all external local or state roads. Either a berm or maintaining existing trees may be used in 
conjunction with new landscaping to achieve this requirement. An existing tree line should be fully 
maintained throughout the entirety of this buffer – entrance streets, approved walking trails, and utility 
easements excluded – and any variance from this must be authorized by the County at the Sketch Plan 
review meeting or a subsequent date. 

This buffer shall be measured from the road right-of-way to the nearest property line of the closest 
adjacent dwelling unit. Except in the case of minor subdivisions, this road frontage buffer shall be 
held in common ownership by a property owners’ or homeowners’ association. 

Even if this area is wooded at the outset of the development, additional landscaping may be required 
by the Planning Commission to screen the new neighborhood from view, maintain the rural character 
of the existing community, and provide privacy for residents. Any new or enhanced buffer must be 
planted with a variety of overstory trees, understory trees, and evergreen trees with provision for 
maintenance or replacement until said trees reach maturity. If an existing tree line has already been 
removed, additional tree planting may be required for all subdivisions listed in Table 2.7. 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



36 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

For the purposes of this article, all residential group developments and planned developments can be 
classified as one of the below three categories based on the number of dwelling units contained within 
the development on a 1:1 ratio with the number of lots that define the below subdivisions. 

Table 2.7 

Classification of subdivision or 
development 

Width of road frontage buffer 

Minor subdivision 
Preservation during construction of at least 20’ of any 

existing tree line for all internal private streets 

Medium subdivision 50’ minimum 

Major subdivision 100’ minimum 

Mega subdivision 200’ minimum 

 

Where a residential subdivision or other residential land development covered by these regulations 
abuts a tract of land currently used for production of agricultural products, pasture land for animals, 
water course, commercial, industrial or other uses not compatible with a residential environment, the 
developer is required to increase the depth of lots adjacent to such uses to provide a fifty (50) foot 
undeveloped buffer.  This buffer shall be above and beyond the minimum lot size for the zoning 
district in which the property is located.  

Major and mega subdivisions may be allowed by the Planning Commission during the Sketch Plan 
review to reduce their road frontage buffer to fifty (50) feet and one hundred (100) feet, respectively, 
if the following conditions are met: the subdivision shall be shielded from view from the road by 
means of a berm, additional tree planting, or both; the subdivision must meet one more architectural 
requirement listed in Table 2.8 than they would otherwise be required; and at least forty percent (40%) 
of homes must have a covered back porch of no less than thirty  percent (30%) of the rear building 
façade, with a depth of at least six (6) feet. 

 

2.7.5 Waterway Buffer 

An area, strip, or plot of undisturbed vegetation shall run parallel to any perennial surface waters, with 
a fifty (50) foot buffer from any bank that is included within the subdivision. This vegetative buffer is 
established for the protection of the water resources of Chester County. Land disturbances are 
prohibited within the buffer. Light maintenance, defined as manual or small equipment removal of 
underbrush, pruning and trimming of trees up to ½ the height of the tree, and tree removal up to four 
inches in diameter at breast height (DBH), is permitted within the buffer. Permeable surface trails are 
allowed within the buffer zone so long as they remain above the top of the banks of the perennial 
surface water. An owner or authorized agent may appeal to the ZBA board on a form provided by 
the Zoning Administrator for a variance from the requirements of this zoning ordinance when the 
strict regulations would result in unnecessary hardship. 

 

2.7.6 Street Trees 

It is the intent of the County to preserve trees within its residential areas. In keeping with this intent, 
street trees shall be planted at forty (40) foot intervals within five (5) feet of the street right-of-way.  

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 
§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



37 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

All street trees shall be 2.5 inches DBH at the time of planting and be covered with a one-year 
replacement guarantee.  

Where subdivisions are required to have sidewalks and stormwater infrastructure, all street trees shall 
be planted in a six (6) foot planting strip between the sidewalk and curb to promote traditional 
neighborhood development and safe streets, unless specifically authorized by the Planning 
Commission to vary. Appropriate species shall be chosen for long-term viability and preventing 
infrastructure damage, with preference given to medium or large overstory trees of at least 30’ in height 
at maturity. Root barriers are encouraged to prevent damage to the sidewalks or street. 

Existing trees on the site shall be preserved whenever possible, and the plans and specifications for 
tree planting and tree preservation shall meet the approval of the Planning Commission. Tree 
protection must be in accordance with Section § 5-303 of the current Chester County Zoning 
Ordinance until such time as it shall be amended.  

 

2.7.7 Architectural Standards 

It is the intent of Chester County to encourage new homes that promote beauty, respect for local 
heritage, and functionality by its residents, while not being so inflexible as to constitute an 
unreasonable burden or negatively impact housing affordability in an unconscionable fashion. For the 
purposes of this article, all planned developments and residential group developments can be classified 
as one of the below three categories based on the number of dwelling units contained within the 
development on a 1:1 ratio with the number of lots that define the below subdivisions. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 
§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 





39 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.7.8 Off-Street Parking 

Each single-family or two-family residential unit must have space for the parking of at least three 
vehicles completely off the road right-of-way. Any parking space in a garage designed as a part of the 
residence may count towards this requirement. Group developments or other multi-family 
developments, including townhomes, must present a plan showing an adequate number of parking 
spaces for the type and size of dwelling units, which shall be allowed to  range from 1.5 spaces/unit 
to 2.5 spaces/unit depending on these factors.  

 

2.7.9 Reservation of Public Sites 

To ensure the orderly development of the community, the subdivider may be required to reserve and 
negotiate to sell needed spaces for parks, schools, fire stations and playgrounds, as required by local 
governmental units, for period not to exceed thirty (30) days from the date of submission of the Sketch 
Plan. The reservation period may be extended for one (1) additional thirty (30) day period if a 
government unit files with the Planning Commission a written statement indicating a desire to 
negotiate.  

 

2.7.10 Block Standards 

In order to help prevent traffic congestion and undue inconvenience, promote traditional 
neighborhood design, and work towards the safety of residents for driving and walking, the length of 
residential blocks shall not exceed one thousand (1,000) feet; provided, however, that length 
requirements may be modified when it is appropriate due to the topography or physical shape of the 
property being subdivided.  The width of any residential block shall be sufficient to permit two (2) 
tiers of lots, where topography and land ownership permits, except as otherwise provided in these 
regulations. 

Non-residential blocks shall be of such length and width as may be suitable for their prospective use, 
including adequate provision for off-street parking and service. 

 

2.7.11 Street Design Standards 

A. General Standards: All streets, which shall hereafter be established in connection with the 
development of a subdivision, shall comply with the following design standards: 
 
The design and layout of the streets, including without limitation, arrangement, character, 
width, grade, and location shall be required to conform to the current Chester County 
Comprehensive Plan, to adjoining street systems or adjoining properties, and to the 
topography, natural features and drainage systems required by the County. Minor streets 
shall be so laid out so that non-essential use by through traffic will be discouraged. 
 
Roads of an existing subdivision shall not be used as the sole means of ingress and egress 
in developing a new subdivision or extending an existing one unless meeting all County 
standards and approved by the Planning Commission.  
 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



40 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 
B. Alleyways: Alleys shall be encouraged as a flexible design option, where appropriate, to 

allow for rear garage access by means of a rear paved street, which shall only be required 
to be wide enough to accommodate one vehicle and shall not be required to have curb 
and gutter. Alleyways shall be in addition to, not instead of, a street that meets County 
standards and allows for access by emergency vehicle. 

 

C. Cul-de-sacs: Cul-de-sacs shall terminate in a circular or pear-shaped turnaround having a 
minimum right-of-way of at least one hundred (100) feet in diameter and a paved 
turnaround loop with a minimum outside diameter of eighty (80) feet or other approved 
type of turnaround.  Maximum length shall not exceed one thousand (1000) feet, except 
for minor subdivisions which shall not exceed one thousand and five hundred (1500) feet, 
unless specifically approved by the Planning Commission. 

 

D. Temporary dead-end streets: Temporary dead-end streets, which extend for a greater 
distance than the depth of one abutting lot, shall be provided with a temporary turnaround 
having a diameter of eighty (80) feet, or other suitable turnaround. 

 

E. Half streets: Half streets are prohibited along property lines.  When a street is planned 
adjacent to the proposed subdivision tract boundary, the entire street right-of-way shall be 
platted within the proposed subdivision. 

 

F. Intersections: The centerline of no more than two (2) streets shall intersect at any one 
point.  Streets shall be laid out so as to intersect as nearly as possible at right angles and 
no street shall intersect any other street at an angle of less than seventy (70) degrees (angles 
of intersection to be measured at the intersection of street centerline). Street jogs shall be 
avoided. Where unavoidable, street jogs at intersections shall have a centerline offset of 
not less than one hundred fifty (150) feet.   

 

G. Street Access: Whenever topography will permit, the arrangements of streets in a 
subdivision shall provide for the alignment and continuation or projection of existing 
streets in adjoining areas.  This is to mean the interconnectivity of subdivision 
developments. Where it is essential to the development of a logical street pattern, street 
right-of-way shall be extended to the boundary of adjoining property.   

 

Incompatible characteristics of adjoining property shall be given due consideration in 
making a determination of what shall constitute a logical street pattern.  Reserve strips 
adjoining street rights-of-way for the purpose of preventing access to adjacent property 
shall not be permitted.  The street extension may be built or an escrow account established 
in favor of the County for a 10-year period in an amount determined by the County Public 
Works Department to cover the cost of construction.  All interest will accumulate to 
Chester County, which may use the funds to construct the extension or contract for 
construction.  If the extension has not been constructed within the 10 year period, the 
Planning Commission will determine the continued necessity of the extension and 
recommend to County Council either an extension of the time of the escrow account or 
that the account be terminated and all monies be returned to the developer; and the right-
of-way may then be divided proportionally to adjoining property owners.  

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



41 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

H. Additional Right-of-Way: Subdivisions which include an existing platted street that does 

not conform to the minimum right-of-way requirements of these regulations shall provide 

additional width along one or both sides of such street so that minimum right-of-way 

required by these regulations is established. Subdivisions abutting only one side of such 

street shall provide a minimum of one-half the minimum right-of-way required by these 

regulations, measured from the centerline of existing right-of-way. 

 
I. Minimum Right-of-Way Widths: Minimum right-of way widths shall be as follows: 

Table 2.9 

Street Classification Right-of-Way (in feet) 

Arterial 80’ 

Collector 66’ 

Local Commercial 66’ 

Local Residential 50’ 

Alley 20’ if one-way, 40’ if two-way 

 

J. Street Grades: Grades on major thoroughfares shall be established by the South Carolina 
Department of Transportation (SCDOT).  Grades on collector streets shall not exceed 
eight (8%) percent unless topographic conditions make this impractical.  Grades on local 
residential streets shall not exceed fifteen (15%) percent.  All streets shall have a minimum 
grade of not less than one-half (0.5%) percent.   
 

K. Horizontal Curves: Where a deflection angle of more than ten (10) degrees occurs in the 

alignment of a minor street, a curve of reasonable radius shall be introduced.  A curve shall 

be introduced at any change in direction of a collector Street or major thoroughfare.  On 

major thoroughfares, the centerline radius of a curvature shall be determined by SCDOT.  

On collector streets the centerline radius of curvature shall not be less than three hundred 

and fifty (350) feet.  On minor streets, the centerline radius of a curvature shall not be less 

than one hundred and fifty (150) feet. 

 

L. Vertical Curves: Minimum stopping sight distance on major thoroughfares shall be 

determined by the SCDOT.  On collector streets, the minimum stopping sight distance 

shall be two hundred and seventy-five (275) feet (40 mph), and on minor streets it shall be 

one hundred and sixty (160) feet (25 mph).  Stopping sight distances shall be measured 

from height of eye of three (3) feet nine (9) inches to an object with a height of six (6) 

inches.  Both distances shall be measured above the centerline of the street.  Stopping sight 

distance shall conform to the standards of the American Association of State Highway 

Officials and SCDOT.  

 

M. Split Level Streets: Streets which are constructed so as to have two traffic ways, each at 

different levels within the same right-of-way, shall provide a paved traffic surface of at  

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



42 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

least twenty (20) feet on each level and a slope between the two traffic ways of three to 

one (3:1) or flatter. 

 

2.7.12 Conservation Subdivision Design Standards 

A. Purpose of Conservation Subdivisions and Design Standards: The purposes of 
Conservation Subdivision Design (CSD) are to preserve agricultural and forestry lands, 
natural and cultural features, and rural community character that would be lost through 
conventional development approaches. To accomplish this goal, greater flexibility and 
creativity in the design of such developments is encouraged and required. Specific 
objectives include: 

a. To preserve areas of the County with productive soils for continued and new 
agricultural and forestry use by preserving blocks of land large enough to allow for 
efficient operations; 

b. To preserve scenic views and elements of the County’s rural character for existing 
and new residents; 

c. To encourage the maintenance and enhancement of habitat for various forms of 
wildlife and to create new woodlands through natural succession and reforestation 
where appropriate; 

d. To provide for the active and passive recreational needs of County residents;  
e. To provide greater efficiency in the siting of services and infrastructure by reducing 

road length, utility runs, and the amount of paving for development. 
 

B. Location of Conservation Areas: Both Primary and Secondary Conservation Areas shall 
be placed in undivided preserves which adjoin housing areas that have been designed more 
compactly to create larger conservation units than may be enjoyed by all residents of the 
subdivision. Such undivided open space shall be accessible to the largest number of lots 
within the development. To achieve this, the majority of lots should be located within 
walking distance of undivided open space to provide residents with direct access. Safe and 
convenient pedestrian access to the open space from all adjoining lots shall be provided, 
except in the case of farmland or other resource areas vulnerable to trampling damage or 
human disturbance. 

 
Where undivided open space is designated as separate non-contiguous parcels, no parcel 
shall consist of less than three (3) acres in area, nor have a length-to-width ratio in excess 
of 4:1, except such areas that are specifically designed for neighborhood commons or 
greens, playfields, buffers adjacent to wetlands and watercourses, wildlife corridors, or trail 
links. 
 
Guidance as to which parts of the remaining land should be classified as Secondary 
Conservation Areas shall be based on on-site visits, the details of the site, usability by 
residents, and the following design criteria. Particular priority shall be given to plans which 
promote or support the agricultural economy of Chester County, including farmland 
preservation or creation of new cropland or pastureland tracts. 

 
General Design Standards: The following criteria apply to all conservation subdivisions:  

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



43 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 
a. All wetlands, floodplains, and steep slopes should be protected and preserved from 

clearing, grading, filling, or construction. 
b. The shape of the open space should be reasonably contiguous, coherently 

configured, and shall abut existing or potential open space on adjacent properties. 
Long narrow segments must be avoided except in the case of trail or stream 
corridors, or landscape buffers adjoining street rights-of-way and/or 
neighborhood boundaries. 

c. The pedestrian circulation system should be designed to assure that pedestrians 
can walk safely and easily on the site, between properties and activities or special 
features within the neighborhood open space system. All roadside footpaths 
should connect with off-road trails, and link with existing or potential open space 
on adjoining parcels. 

d. Common areas (neighborhood greens), cul-de-sac islands, and both sides of new 
streets should be landscaped with native species of shade trees and flowering 
shrubs with high wildlife conservation value. 

 
C. Farmland Conservation Standards: Where the goal of the CSD project is to conserve 

farmland, the following guidelines apply: 
a. Building lots should be in forested areas away from existing grazing areas, cropland, 

feedlots, and similar uses. 
b. If development must be located on open fields or pastures because of greater 

constraints on other parts of the site, dwellings should be sited in locations at the far 
edge of a field, as seen from a public road. 

c. The most productive portions of existing grazing areas and cropland should be 
identified, with building lots located on less productive land. 

d. Buffers shall be provided between house lots and cropland or pastures, to reduce the 
potential for conflict between residents and farming activities. Such buffers shall 
generally be approximately 75 feet in width and shall be managed to encourage the 
growth of successional woodland or other habitat. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-7:       Design Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



44 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.8 Lot Standards 

 

2.8.1 General Requirements 

All lots, which shall be established in connection with the development of a subdivision, shall comply 
with the requirements set forth in the Zoning Ordinance of Chester County or as shown below, 
whichever are more restrictive.  

Insofar as practical, lots shall not be divided by City or County limit lines. 

Lots shall be arranged in a development to avoid difficulties by reason of topography or other 
conditions in securing building permits, complying with health regulations, and providing driveway 
access from an approved road to buildings on the lots. 
 

2.8.2 Residential Setback Lines  

Driveways shall be at least 4 feet from the property line except at the point of entry and exit, and shall 
not be located proximate to an existing street intersection, site permitting.   
 

2.8.3 Lot Line Standards 

Insofar as practical, side lot lines shall be at right angles to straight street lines and radial to curved 
street lines. 
 

2.8.4 Corner Lots 

Corner lots shall be of sufficient size so that a structure could be constructed and still maintain 
minimum yard requirements specified in the Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2.8.5 Double Frontage  

Double frontage lots (i.e., lots having street frontage both in front and rear) shall be avoided except 
in commercial zones, where essential to provide separation of residential development from railroad 
or major street right-of-way or from non-residential uses or where necessary due to topography.  

Where a railroad or major thoroughfare right-of-way, as shown on the major thoroughfare plan, abuts 
or runs through any portion of the subdivision, the subdivision plat shall provide for either a minor 
street or a lot backing onto a right-of-way having a minimum depth of one hundred fifty (150) feet 
plus the required fifty (50) foot undisturbed buffer. 
 

2.8.6 Street Access 

Every lot shall front or abut on a street which conforms to the requirements of these regulations.  

Every lot shall have at least twenty-five (25) feet of access on a public or private street.  If the private 

minor street is required to be named, that naming must be approved by the Planning Commission, in 

compliance with these ordinances and County 911 naming standards. All private minor streets 

providing access to minor subdivisions shall be required to be named, with the exception of shared 

driveways that straddle two parcels. 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-8:       Lot Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



45 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

An exemption to this requirement shall be given to a lot or lots created for conservation purposes.  

Lots created for conservation purposes shall not be required to have at least 25 feet of frontage on an  

existing paved public road, a new paved public road, or a paved private road.  If this type of parcel is 

ever developed, the parcel or portion of the parcel to be developed shall have to meet all applicable 

regulations for subdividing or developing the land.  Conservation purposes mean the land is given to, 

leased, or purchased, etc. by a land trust, conservation group or some other individual or group for 

the purpose of preserving the land.  A note shall be added to all plats created for this type of lot which 

shall read as follows: “This lot is being created for conservation purposes and does not require 25 feet 

of frontage on an existing paved public road, new paved public road, or a paved private road.   

 

2.8.7 Flag Lots 

Flag lots shall not be permitted in Chester County, except in very unusual circumstances in compliance 

with the following requirements:  

A subdivision creating flag lots may be approved by the Planning Director, or his or her designee, 

where circumstances such as topography, water course, road alignment, or existing site boundary 

configuration do not permit the subdivision into uniformly shaped lots. Flag lots shall not be approved 

in order to avoid the construction of roads in accordance with this ordinance.  

All flag lots approved by the Planning Director shall front or abut on a street which conforms to the 

requirements of these regulations. Every lot shall have at least twenty-five (25) feet of access on a 

County dedicated maintained road, an existing paved public road, a new paved public road, or a paved 

private road. A flag lot must contain a minimum of ten (10) acres, and there must be at least 1,000 

feet between access corridors to flag lots. 

 

2.8.8 Water Bodies and Watercourses  

If a tract being subdivided for all subdivisions except individual and minor subdivisions contains a 

water body, or portion thereof, lot lines shall be so drawn as to distribute the entire ownership of the 

water body among all adjacent lots.  The Planning Commission may approve an alternative plan 

whereby the ownership of and the responsibility for safe maintenance of the water body is so placed 

that it will not become a local government responsibility.  The minimum area of a lot required under 

this ordinance may not be satisfied by land which is underwater.  Where a watercourse separates a lot 

buildable area from the road providing access, an engineer’s certified structure shall be provided.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-8:       Lot Standards                                Chester County, South Carolina 

 



46 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.9 Miscellaneous Requirements 

 

2.9.1 Erosion Control 

It shall be the responsibility of any subdivider, including for individual subdivisions, to establish a long 
term vegetative cover over all disturbed areas within any road right-of-way in any subdivision subject 
to this ordinance. Establishment of long term vegetative cover shall, at minimum, consist of:  

A. The least amount of tillage necessary to break compaction, incorporate  lime and fertilizers 
where appropriate, and allow the proper placement of seed, sprigs, or plants. 

B. Uniformly planting suitable long-term grasses or legumes by drilling,  broadcasting, or hydro 
seeding.  Trees, shrubs, and vines may be planted where appropriate. 

C. Application of suitable mulch material to provide necessary additional protection against 
erosion or to aid in the establishment of permanent plant cover. 

D. Comply with DHEC Sediment Control and Drainage Regulations. 

 

2.9.2 Easements 

Easements shall be required in subdivisions for the following purposes:  

A. Utility Easements: When it is found to be necessary and desirable to locate public utility 

lines in other than street right-of-way, easements shall be shown on the plat for those 

purposes.  All above ground utilities shall be provided along rear property lines except 

where site conditions make this impractical.  The easements shall be not less than twenty 

(20) feet along rear property lines and ten (10) feet alongside property lines and, where 

possible, shall be centered on rear and side lot lines. 

B. Where a proposed subdivision is traversed by a water course, drainage way, or stream, 

appropriate provisions shall be made to accommodate storm water and drainage through 

and from the proposed subdivision. The area so improved shall conform substantially with 

the lines of said water course and be of sufficient width for construction, or both, as to be 

adequate for the purpose, provided however, the public easement shall be not less than 

twelve (12) feet in width.   

 

2.9.3 Manufactured Homes and Manufactured Home Parks 

Except for individual or minor subdivisions, no manufactured home shall be allowed in a new 

subdivision. Manufactured home parks shall meet the design of the Manufactured Home Park 

provisions of the Zoning Ordinance until such time as it shall be amended. 

 

2.9.4 Cemeteries 

If a tract being subdivided contains an active or an abandoned cemetery, or portion thereof, lot lines 

shall be drawn so as to exclude any portion of the cemetery. The land area containing any portion of  

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-9:       Miscellaneous Requirements                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 



47 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

the cemetery must be subdivided into a separate parcel.  A fifty (50) foot buffer shall be provided 

around the perimeter of the cemetery.  This buffer shall be included in the parcel with the cemetery.   

 

No development shall be permitted within the buffer apart from the erection of historical markers 

and other like markers.  A twenty-five (25) foot easement for ingress and egress to a public road must 

be provided.   

 
2.9.5 Transfer of Title 

No transfer of title to property subject to this ordinance shall be executed or recorded prior to final 

plat approval. A deed of property subject to this ordinance shall not be recorded by the Chester 

County Clerk of Court without the recording of a plat of the property conveyed, which plat is stamped 

approved pursuant to these regulations and is referenced in the deed description.  A metes and bounds 

description without reference to a recorded plat is not sufficient to comply with this ordinance.  The 

County Assessor will not subdivide the property until the required plat is recorded.  A corrective deed 

will be required when an instrument is recorded in violation of this section.  Recording fees will not 

be waived or refunded. 

 

2.9.6 Monuments 

All lot corners, street corners, and points of change in direction in exterior boundaries of the 
subdivision shall be marked with an iron pipe at least (24) twenty-four inches long and driven to within 
(4) four inches of the finishing grade or flush as conditions may require.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-9:       Miscellaneous Requirements                              Chester County, South Carolina 

 



48 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.10 Violations and Enforcement 

 

2.10.1 General 

Any person violating these subdivision and development regulations shall be guilty of a misdemeanor 
and, upon conviction, shall be punished under the general penalty provisions of the Chester County 
Code of Ordinances. 
 

2.10.2 Enforcement 

A. Misdemeanor; penalties: It shall be unlawful for any person to use property, or to 
construct, alter, enlarge or demolish any structure without approvals required by this 
ordinance.   

B. Withholding permits: The Administrative Official, Zoning Administrator, Building 
Official, Director of Department of Roads or other appropriate official shall deny a permit 
for any use or work which fails to comply with this ordinance.  

C. Complaints: A written complaint specifying facts showing a violation of this ordinance 
filed by any person shall be investigated by the Administrative Official or the County’s 
designee. Upon determination that a violation has occurred, the Administrative Official 
shall take appropriate enforcement action authorized by this ordinance. 

D. Stop work orders: The Administrative Official is authorized to issue a stop work order 
pursuant to S.C. § 6-29-950(A) requiring work to cease until specific code violations are 
corrected.  Failure to comply with a stop work order of the Administrative Official is a 
misdemeanor.  Issuance of a stop work order may be appealed to the Planning 
Commission. 

E. Ordinance Summons: The Administrative Official is designated as a code enforcement 
officer and is authorized to issue an ordinance summons pursuant to County Code 
provisions for violations of this ordinance. 

F. Injunction: The Administrative Official  shall submit a request to the County Attorney for 
institution of a civil action seeking an injunction prohibiting violation of this ordinance 
when appropriate.  

 

2.10.3 Violations by a Developer 

A. Whoever, being the owner or agent of the owner of any land located within a development, 
transfers title to any land before the plat has been approved by the Planning Commission 
or authorized staff member and recorded in the office of the Chester County Clerk of 
Court shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable under the general penalty provisions 
of the County Code.   

B. A person filing for record or recording a deed describing a lot or parcel by metes and 
bounds without reference to a recorded plat shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.  

C. In addition to other remedies, County Council may seek enforcement of this ordinance by 
action for injunction brought in circuit court.  

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-10:       Violations and Enforcement             Chester County, South Carolina 

 



49 | Chester County, SC UDO DRAFT #5                September 2025 | DRAFT ONLY 
 

 

2.10.4 Violations by Recording Official  

The Chester County official whose duty it is to accept, and record plats and deeds shall not accept, 
file, or record any deed which does not comply with this ordinance or any subdivision plat which has 
not been approved by the Planning Commission or authorized staff member. Violation of the section 
is subject to penalties and remedies as provided by S.C. Code §6-29-1160, and the general penalty 
provisions of the County Code.  

 

 

Chapter 2: Subdivision Code                         Unified Development Ordinance 

§ 2-10:       Violations and Enforcement             Chester County, South Carolina 

 



PAGE 1 OF 3 

CHESTER COUNTY ORDINANCE NO. 2025-19 

AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2018-11, AS AMENDED AND 
CLARIFIED BY ORDINANCE NO. 2022-13, AS FURTHER 
AMENDED BY ORDINANCE NO. 2023-15, TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE ALLOCATION OF FEE IN LIEU OF TAX REVENUES FOR 
SOME PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE COUNTY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, the County Council previously enacted Ordinance No. 2018-11 (“2018 Ordinance”), which 
provided for an allocation of fee in lieu of tax revenues; 

WHEREAS, the County Council previously enacted Ordinance No. 2022-13, which amended and clarified 
the 2018 Ordinance (“2022 Ordinance”); 

WHEREAS, the County Council previously enacted Ordinance No. 2023-15, which further amended the 
2022 Ordinance and the 2018 Ordinance (“2023 Ordinance, with 2022 Ordinance and 2018 Ordinance, 
collectively “Prior Ordinance”); 

WHEREAS, the County Council intends to amend the manner in which revenue is allocated under the 
Prior Ordinance as provided in this Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, each capitalized term used, but not defined, in this Ordinance has the meaning ascribed to 
that term in the Prior Ordinance: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. Amendment. The Prior Ordinance is amended as follows: 

a. Section 1 (Allocation of Revenue), paragraph (A) of the Prior Ordinance is stricken in its entirety and 
replaced with the following: 

From each payment due as a part of any Project that is subject to a negotiated fee 
in lieu of tax agreement, located in a multi-county industrial/business park, or 
both, net of any portion due: (i) a partner county, (ii) any other party to another 
agreement, as a credit, (iii) as otherwise provided by any agreement or applicable 
state law, or (iv) any combination of (i), (ii), and (iii) (collectively, “Net FILOT 
Payment”), the County shall (w) set aside 4.0% of each Net FILOT Payment to 
be used primarily for the County’s economic development, (x) set aside 5.0% of 
each Net FILOT Payment to be used primarily for the County’s provision of fire 
services, from which the County may appropriate some revenue to a particular 
fire district as part of the County’s annual budget process, (y) provide the Chester 
County School District with 15%, and (z) retain the reminder of each Net FILOT 
Payment for use as the County deems appropriate. 

Section 2. Suspension of Net FILOT Payment. In addition to the County’s rights reserved under 
Section 3 of this Ordinance, the County may, by resolution or ordinance, withhold one or more Net FILOT 
Payments that would otherwise have been payable according to this Ordinance or the Prior Ordinance and use 
the withheld Net FILOT Payment, to fund and/or finance one or more projects for use by the entity to which 
each Net FILOT Payment would have otherwise been payable. 

Section 3. Reservation to County. This Ordinance is not a contract with any taxing entity. The County 
reserves the right to amend this Ordinance, or the Prior Ordinance, or both, at any time, from time to time, as 
often as the County, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. A taxing entity, other than the County, is not 
entitled (a) to rely on this Ordinance or the Prior Ordinance or (b) pledge any of the revenue anticipated to be 
received as a result of this Ordinance or the Prior Ordinance. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2025-19 

Section 4. Authorization for County Officials to Execute Documents. The Council authorizes the 
County Administrator, Clerk to County Council and other County Officials to execute and consent to 
documents and instruments as may be necessary to affect this Ordinance’s intent. 

Section 5. General Repealer. Each ordinance, resolution, order, policy, or similar directive, or any part 
of the same, in conflict with this Ordinance is, to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

Section 6. Pledge Agreement. This Ordinance is not intended to, and does not, have any impact on any 
Net FILOT Payment for (a) any investment made on or before the “Fee Agreement,” dated as of October 5, 
2009, with Southeastern Petroleum LLC, or (b) the investments and/or agreements described in the Pledge 
Agreement, dated June 28, 2018, between the County and the Chester Facilities Corporation, related to the 
$19,255,000 Installment Purchase Revenue Bonds (Chester County 2018 Projects) Taxable Series 2018 
(collectively, “Bonds”) for so long as those Bonds remain outstanding. 

[ONE SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK]  



ORDINANCE NO. 2025-19 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:        
[SEAL]       Pete Wilson, Chairman 
       Chester County Council    
  

ATTEST: 

      
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to Council 

First Reading:  August 18, 2025 
Second Reading:  September 2, 2025 
Public Hearing:  September 15, 2025 
Third Reading:  September 15, 2025 



PAGE 1 OF 2 

SOUTH CAROLINA  ) RESOLUTION 2025-25 OF  
    ) CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
CHESTER COUNTY  ) 

AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF CERTAIN PERSONAL 
PROPERTY; AND PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, South Carolina Code Annotated section 4-9-30(2) authorizes Chester County (“County”) to 
sell or otherwise dispose of personal property; and 

WHEREAS, the County Council (“Council”) for the County, as the County’s governing body has 
determined that it is in the best interest of the County and its citizens to sell, by auction or other similar method, 
the item(s) of personal property as are listed in Exhibit A (collectively, “Personal Property”), which is attached 
to and incorporated in this Resolution by reference; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL THAT THE COUNTY IS 
AUTHORIZED THE SALE, BY AUCTION OF OTHER SIMILAR METHOD, THE PERSONAL 
PROPERTY; and 

It is further resolved that the County Administrator, and/or his designee (each, an “Authorized Official”), 
is authorized (a) to prepare the form of any reasonably necessary and prudent transfer documents that are 
customarily used for similar transactions in this State, and (b) to execute, attest, and deliver those documents 
that may be reasonably necessary and prudent to consummate the Personal Property’s transfer. 

RESOLVED: September 15, 2025 

      CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

             
      Pete Wilson 
      Chairman, County Council 
[SEAL] 

Attest: 

      
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 

[ONE EXHIBIT FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 

  



PAGE 2 OF 2 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

Department 
Vehicle 
Number Make/Model Tag Vin/Serial Number Mileage 

Public Works: 
Landfill 

N/A Terex Trashmaster 
Compactor (TC-550) 

N/A GJ478 N/A 

Sheriff’s Office 554 2004 Chevrolet 
C2500HD 

CG69299 1GCHC24U04E340177 
 

N/A 

Sheriff’s Office 160 2009 Chevrolet Tahoe CG79911 1GNEC03079R241224 
 

174,407 

Sheriff’s Office 161 2009 Chevrolet Tahoe CG79909 1GNEC03059R274562 
 

170,270 

Sheriff’s Office 129 2016 Ford Explorer PWL446 1FM5K8AR4GGC92597 
 

166,691 

Sheriff’s Office 34 2012 Ford F-150 IBG707 1FTFW1EF7CFA60421 
 

320,514 

Sheriff’s Office N/A Snapper S150X Lawn 
Mower 

N/A 2013696338 
 

N/A 

Sheriff’s Office N/A Snapper S200X Lawn 
Mower 

N/A 2013643996 
 

N/A 

Sheriff’s Office N/A 2000 Yamaha G16 
Golf Cart 

N/A JN6-415309 
 

N/A 

Sheriff’s Office 91 2000 Chevrolet 
Silverado 

N/A 1GCGK29U9YE312147 
 

308,788 

Sheriff’s Office N/A DHS Systems Mobile  
AC Unit/Generator 

N/A N25-11238-008 
 

N/A 

Sheriff’s Office N/A DHS Systems Mobile  
AC Unit/Generator 

N/A TMSS-29238 
 

N/A 

 





 

PAGE 2 OF 3 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:               
Pete Wilson 

[SEAL]          Chairman, County Council 

Attest: 

              
Kristie Donaldson 
Clerk to County Council 

First Reading:  September 2, 2025 
Second Reading:  September 15, 2025 
Public Hearing:  October 6, 2025 
Third Reading:   October 6, 2025 

  



 

PAGE 3 OF 3 

EXHIBIT A 
SUBSTANTIALLY FINAL FORM OF EASEMENT 

[SEE 3 PAGES, ATTACHED] 



For Grantee’s Internal Use:  

Work Order #: 55452496-20  1  

Prepared by: Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC 
Return to: Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC 

Attn: Southeastern Land Company 
Post Office Box 1241 

Parcel # 201-11-01-007-000 
 

 

Conway, SC 29528   

 

EASEMENT 

State of South Carolina  

County of Chester 

 

THIS EASEMENT (“Easement”) is made this _____ day of ___________________ 20_______, 

from  CHESTER COUNTY, A BODY POLITIC AND CORPORATE UNDER THE LAWS OF THE 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA (“Grantor”, whether one or more), to DUKE ENERGY 

CAROLINAS, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company  (“Grantee”). 

 

Grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of One and 00/100 Dollar ($1.00) and other good and 

valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, does hereby grant 

unto Grantee a perpetual and non-exclusive easement, to construct, reconstruct, operate, patrol, maintain, 

repair, replace, relocate, add to, modify, and remove electric and communication lines including, but not 

limited to, all necessary supporting structures, and all other appurtenant apparatus and equipment for the 

transmission and distribution of electrical energy, and for technological purposes related to the operation 

of the electric facilities and for the communication purposes of Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers 

(collectively, “Facilities”).  

Grantor is the owner of that certain property described in that instrument recorded in Deed Book 

HH, Page 219, Chester County Register of Deeds (“Property”). 

 The Facilities shall be underground, except as needed on or above the ground to support the 

underground Facilities, and located in, upon, along, under, through, and across a portion of the Property 

within an easement area described as follows: 

 A strip of land twenty feet (20’) in uniform width, lying equidistant on both sides of a centerline, 

which centerline shall be established by the center of the Facilities as installed, along with an area ten feet 

(10’) wide on all sides of the foundation of any Grantee enclosure/transformer, vault and/or manhole, 

(hereinafter referred to as the “Easement Area”). 

The rights granted herein include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

1. Grantee shall have the right of ingress and egress over the Easement Area, Property, and any 

adjoining lands now owned or hereinafter acquired by Grantor (using lanes, driveways, and 

adjoining public roads where practical as determined by Grantee). 

  



For Grantee’s Internal Use:  

Work Order #: 55452496-20  2  

2. Grantee shall have the right to trim, cut down, and remove from the Easement Area, at any time 

or times and using safe and generally accepted arboricultural practices, trees, limbs, undergrowth, 

other vegetation, and obstructions. 

3. Grantee shall have the right to trim, cut down, and remove from the Property, at any time or times 

and using safe and generally accepted arboricultural practices, dead, diseased, weak, dying, or 

leaning trees or limbs, which, in the opinion of Grantee, might fall upon the Easement Area or 

interfere with the safe and reliable operation of the Facilities. 

4. Grantor shall not place, or permit the placement of, any structures, improvements, facilities, or 

obstructions, within or adjacent to the Easement Area, which may interfere with the exercise of 

the rights granted herein to Grantee. Grantee shall have the right to remove any such structure, 

improvement, facility, or obstruction at the expense of Grantor. 

5. Excluding the removal of vegetation, structures, improvements, facilities, and obstructions as 

provided herein, Grantee shall promptly repair or cause to be repaired any physical damage to the 

surface area of the Easement Area and Property resulting from the exercise of the rights granted 

herein to Grantee. Such repair shall be to a condition which is reasonably close to the condition 

prior to the damage, and shall only be to the extent such damage was caused by Grantee or its 

contractors or employees. 

6. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary above, the general location of the Facilities is shown on 

the sketch attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference. The final and 

definitive location of the Easement Area shall become established by and upon the final 

installation and erection of the Facilities by Grantee in substantial compliance with Exhibit A. 

7. All other rights and privileges reasonably necessary, in Grantee’s sole discretion, for the safe, 

reliable, and efficient installation, operation, and maintenance of the Facilities. 

 

The terms Grantor and Grantee shall include the respective heirs, successors, and assigns of 

Grantor and Grantee. The failure of Grantee to exercise or continue to exercise or enforce any of the 

rights herein granted shall not be construed as a waiver or abandonment of the right thereafter at any time, 

or from time to time, to exercise any and all such rights. 

 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD said rights, privilege, and easement unto Grantee, its successors, 

licensees, and assigns, forever. Grantor warrants and covenants that Grantor has the full right and 

authority to convey to Grantee this perpetual Easement, and that Grantee shall have quiet and peaceful 

possession, use and enjoyment of the same. 



For Grantee’s Internal Use:  

Work Order #: 55452496-20  3  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has signed this Easement under seal effective this _____ day 

of ___________________, 20_____. 

 

 CHESTER COUNTY 

Witnesses:  a body politic and corporate under the laws of the  

                                                                                     South Carolina 

 

    (SEAL) 

(Witness #1) By:  _________________________  

                                                                                     Title:_________________________ 

 

____________________________________ 
(Witness #2) 

 

 

STATE OF __________________________ 

 

COUNTY OF ________________________ 

 

 

I, _______________________________, a Notary Public of ____________________ County, State of 

South Carolina, certify that By:  _________________________, as ________________________ of 

CHESTER COUNTY, a body politic and corporate under the laws of the State of South Carolina, personally 

appeared before me this day and acknowledged the due execution of the foregoing EASEMENT. 

 

Witness my hand and notarial seal, this ____ day of _____________________, 20_____. 

 

 Notary Public: _________________________ 

 Commission expires: ____________________ 





      
        
          

   

   

     

       

  
         

         

      

       

     

   

    

          
      

        

      

        
         

         
       

          
         

       

     
   

        
        

     

         

        



   
 

   

  

   

  

    
   

   
   

     

  

               
     

             
 

 

 
    

     
        

 



 
 

   

  

  

  

  

    

   

      

 

   
  

   

 

 

 

 

      

   

   

 



     

   
         

           

   

             

      

       
         

        

  

         

         
        

   

 

 
          
  

   

   

 

    

     

   

  

  

 

   

    



    

     

         

           
   

      

              

      

       
        

        

  

        

         

      
  

   

    
  

    

    

   

    

    

   

  

  

   

    



   
     

  

               
                                                                       

 
          

 

        
            
       
        

       
            

            
       

      

           
             

        
          

     
     

 

       
          

        
       

      
      

   

   
    

 
    

          

               
                        

   
         

  

    

            



   
    

 
     

  
 

 
 

 
  

   

    

   

   

 

 

                                
                                 

                 

               
                         

                            
                             

                
                          
               

                                                                                                                    
                         

                                  
                              
                             
                            

                                
                            

                               
                         

                            
                           
                      

                               
                          

                                 
     

                          
       

  

             
         

                               
                               

       

   

  

  
    

  

   
       
     

    

  
     

   
  

 
    

     
      

 
    
       

   

 
 

    
       

   
  

   
 

   

   



    

     

   

   

   

     

    
              

   

    

     

     

 

  

  

     

 



  
                           

                    
  

                                          
  

      
                

   

 
            

       

          
           

  
           

                               
        

    
 

    
       

          
       

         
      

                        
                                                      

               
     

  
                

                         
         

                   
           

              
  

   
       

 
    

    
          

 
 

   
                

             
      

     
    

          
   

               
  

          
                 

            
               

    

      
          

  
                 

  

 
             

     
        

                   
                      

   
    

             
   

  
 

 
   

 
   

 
 

      
 

   
 

       
     

    
                    

                  

 
     

 

           
   

   
 

                

                    
   

                 
    

   
               

    
  

                   
   

  
           

                     
   

  
                  

    
  

                   
   

  
          

                      

   

       
      

  
 

 
          

  
 

  
       

      
         

  
        
             

          
   

   
  

  
 

              
 

            
 

 
 

         
  

       
       

 
         

   

  
                       

   
   

    
   

    

  
       

   
     

       

      
   

  
   

  
   

     
  

      
       

     
    

    
 

    
  

   
   

   
  

      
                    

  
                                                                     

  

  

       
                  

 

   

      
                                 

                                  
  

                        
                                                  

      
                         

                                         
               

                    
                                                

                                                                                                                                                       
                                                            

                                                                                                         



    
   

              
                    

                         
                    

                      
                 
 

        
       

                             
                                              

 
                

 
       

  
 

    
 

  
           

      
    

                      
    

    
                                      
                                         

                  
    

                                                     
    

 
       

     
          

       
     

     
        

  
  

  
       

   
    

                    
  

 
          

                          
       

      
   

         
                           

          
  

     

                      
   

 
                  

 
      

    
           

                   
                   

    

   

   
     

    

   
              

                     
        

      
 

  
                      

              
  

 
          

 
  

   
    

  
                  

                      
               

  
               

       
    

    
 

                                           
       

   
                

    
                                                                             

                              
       

  
                 

       
  

         
                   

       
        

         
 

     
           

   
  

       
             

 

   
 

 
  

    
 

  
         

      
         

                                         
  

       
                  

          
 

 
              

 
         

 
         

 
                                       

            
    

    
       
  

            
        

                            
    

        
    

    
   

   
        

   
       

         
      
      

  
       

   
         

            
        
    

   
    

       
  

  
  

        
   

      
   

 

       
                         

              
    

    
     

 

                                   

       
                            

                                   
                                

 
                        

                
                                

   
                        

                                   
 

        
            

                     
                                   

           
                                                                                       

                      
                                                       

                                                                                        
      

                                    
                                              





     
         
          

   

       
   

      

     

         

        

    

   

    

           

      

        

        

         

        

      

         

          

          

          

    

         

        

        

         

      

           

   



  

             
              

              
             

               
           

            
           

            

            

             
  

           
 

            
            

             
               

             
 

                
              

       

  



   

    

   

 

   

      
    

   

            
        

     

                
             

          
                 
              

   

               
             
            

                 
              

 

             

 

   

     
  

  

     

 



  

  

  

  

  

    

       

       
    

               
           

         
        
         
      

     
   

   

       
    

     

     
      

 
     

     

      

    

    
   

   

        
     

     

     

      

     

    

     

    



    
  

  

 
  

  
 

 

 
 

  
 

      

    

    

  

  

    

        

   

      

 

     

  

     

    

   

 



    

    
          

          

   

        
      

          

        

        

 

       
       

      
   

  

              

   

            

               

     

    



     

    

           
          

  

             

     

         
        

       
 

        

       

        

   

  

           
  

            

              

     

      



          
                

          
                     

                                                 
                            

                                 
             
      

              
           

         
     

  
                     

        
      

     
     

      
 

   
         

        
        

        

        

                  
       

              
         

               
  

  
             

         
  

      

 



      

            
              

             
              
           

               
             
                

 
            

              

              
    
    

       

       

   

      

          

      
   

     

 

          
    



       
                            

  

             

   
  

  



    
           

        

        

 
 

 

  

  
       

       

       

   
             

      

   
           

       

 
      

    

       



    

     

   

   

   

     

    
        

     
   

     

   

 

      

 

  

    



     

     
    

   

      

  

       

    
        

       
     

  

 
    

  

   
     

 

 
  

  

   

   
   
      
   

   
   

 
  

  
  

  
     

   
   

    

 
        
  
     
      
    

   
    

   
      

    
             

       
           

    

  

    
    
    
    
    

   

 

       
         

    

 





     
         

         

   

    

 

    

     

         

        

    

   

     

   

    

           

      

        

        

         

        

      

         

          

          

          

    

         

        

        

         

      

           

   



  

             
              

              
             

               
           

            
           

            

            

             
  

           
 

            

            

             

               

             
 

                
              

       

 



   

    

   

 

   

      
    

   

            
        

     

                
             

          
                 
              

   

               
             
            

                 
              

 

             

 

   

    
 

  

     

 



  

  

  

  

  

    

       

       
    

               
           

         
        
         
      

     

   
   

       

    

     

     

      
 

     
     

      

    

    

   

        
     

     

      
      
     

    

     

    

 



 

  
 

   

   

 

      

    

    

  

  

    

        

   

      

 
   

  

     

    

   

 

  

 

 



     

     

    

       
          

  

          

      

         

       
        

  

        

         

      

  

  

 
         

   

         

            

   

     



    

   

    
     

         

   

            

     
         
        

        

 

     

       
   

  

   

   

 

  

    

   

  

 
 

  

  

 

   

    



  
 

            
       

                                         
             

 
    
   

   
        

             
      

        
       
          

         
     

  
  

                  
        

      
     

     

      

   
         

        
       

       
       

          
   

 

        
     

    

       
       

 
       

  

  

  

     
   

  
  



      
 

                                                               
              

                                       

              

      

     
    

     

  
   

   

      

      
  

      
   

           

      
    

 



    

     

   

   

   

     

    
        

    

   

     

   

 

        

 

  

    



     

         
   

     
  

    
      

        
 

      
    

  

  

  
   
     

 
 

  
  

  

   
  

     
  
  

   

  
     

     
     
     
     

  
     

    
   
  
  
   

      
   

   
       

    

     

 

  

              
           

            

                
                 

                 

           
     

    
      

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Flock Safety + SC - Chester County SO 
______________ 

 

Flock Group Inc. 

1170 Howell Mill Rd, Suite 210 

Atlanta, GA 30318 

______________ 

 

MAIN CONTACT: 

Taylor Ellison 

taylor.ellison@flocksafety.com 

7049426362 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  





 

  







By executing this Order Form, Customer represents and warrants that it has read and agrees to all of the 

terms and conditions contained in the previously executed agreement.  

 

The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the dates set forth below.  

 
FLOCK GROUP, INC.  Customer: SC - Chester County SO 
 

By: 
 

 By: 
 

Name: 
 

 Name: 
 

Title: 
 

 Title: 
 

Date: 
 

 Date: 
 

 
 

 PO Number: 
 

 

 
 

 




